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We continue to strengthen our

franchise through focusing
on customers, pushing
ahead with digitalisation
and pursuing ESG goals.
These strategic priorities will
enable us to uplift business
performance and enhance
shareholder returns.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
O 0oo

OUR
VISION [ [

To be the trusted and preferred banking
partner in Greater China and beyond.
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OUR
MISSION [ [

To ensure every customer experience is
positive. We achieve this by providing best in
class financial products and services.
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gbooboooooboobooooon

Total Consolidated Assets [ O [ OO [ [

HK$882.8 vilion @

Incorporated in 1918, The Bank of East Asia, Limited
is a leading Hong Kong-based financial services group
with total consolidated assets of HK$882.8 billion
(US$113.1 billion) as of 31st December, 2022.
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Nationwide outlets 0 0 0 0 O 0O

38 cities 0 O

In Mainland China, BEA’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited operates one of the
most extensive networks of any foreign bank in China,
with outlets in 38 cities nationwide.
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BEA Group strives to be a positive, enabling force in the
communities it serves and is committed to long-term
sustainable development. The Group integrates social,
environmental, ethical, employee, and customer concerns
into its business and operations with the aim of aligning
the interests of its stakeholders and the society at large.
For more information on BEA, please visit your nearest
BEA branch or the Bank’s website at www.hkbea.com.

BEA provides a comprehensive range of wholesale
banking, personal banking, wealth management, and
investment services to customers throughout Greater
China and beyond. The Bank maintains one of the largest
retail networks in Hong Kong, with full-service branches;
SupremeGold and SupremeGold Private Centres for
affluent and premium affluent customers respectively;
and innovative, extended-hour i-Financial Centres
conveniently located throughout the city.
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8,000 employees [0 O | ” | {|§§|1
Overseas, the Bank maintains an active presence in
Southeast Asia, the United Kingdom, and the United
States. Worldwide, BEA serves customers through around

130 outlets and offers rewarding and challenging career
opportunities to over 8,000 employees.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
O oo

2022 2021
HK$ Million HK$ Million Change OO
goooo ooooo % 000
Profitability 0 O 0 O
Operating profit before impairment losses
oooooooooooo 8,730 6,962 +25.4
Profit attributable to owners of the parent
ooooopoopoooo 4,359 5,270 -17.3
Balance Sheet StrengthCU O 00 0O
Total loans and advances to customers and trade bills
oooooooooooooo 549,543 559,580 -1.8
Total assets
oooo 882,825 907,470 -2.7
Total customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit issued
ooog 680,755 697,832 -2.4
Total equity
oooooo 106,346 116,050 -8.4
Earnings Per Share and Dividends Per Share
goooooood
Basic earnings
oooo HK$1.32 HK$1.53 -13.7
Dividends
oo HK$0.81 HK$0.70 +15.7
Key Ratios 0 0 0 O
Return on average assets*
ooooooo 0.4% 0.5%
Return on average equity?
ooooopoooo 3.7% 4.4%
Cost-to-income ratio®
ooooooo 51.4% 57.2%
Loan to deposit ratio*
ooooooo 80.6% 78.6%
Impaired loan ratio®
oooooo 2.39% 1.09%
Average liquidity coverage ratio - firstquarter O 0O0O0O 184.2% 189.4%
gooboooogo -second quarter 0 0 OO 187.5% 177.3%
-third quarter OO QOO 179.1% 180.9%
- fourth quarter 0O OO 197.7% 182.4%
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio®
oooooooooo 15.8% 17.0%
Tier 1 capital ratio®
ooooog 17.7% 19.8%
Total capital ratio®
ooooo 20.1% 21.6%
Notes:

T Profits attributable to owners of the parent for the year after deduction of the distributions to Additional Tier 1 issue holders / Monthly average
balance of the total assets for the year including last year-end balance.

2 Profits attributable to owners of the parent for the year after deduction of the distributions to Additional Tier 1 issue holders / Monthly average

balance of the total equity attributable to the owners of the parent for the year including last year-end balance.

Operating expenses / Operating income.

Total gross loans and advances to customers / Total deposits from customers and certificates of deposits issued.

Gross impaired loans and advances to customers / Total gross loans and advances to customers.

It is computed on a consolidated basis in accordance with Banking (Capital) Rules.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY *
so0gogg =

TOTAL EQUITY

ooodoo
HK$ Million
oooog
120,000 105 638 113,796 116,050
110,000 103,575 : 106,346
100,000
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60,000
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40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
0
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS / TOTAL DEPOSITS / TOTAL ASSETS
ooooooo/oooo0/70000
HK$ Million
ooood
1,000,000
884,420 907.470 882,825
900,000 839,451 865,198 . .
800,000
697,832 680,755
700,000 425 604 647,586 650,054
600,000
500,631 509,105 513,929 548,808 549,014
500,000
400,000
300,000
200,000
100,000
0
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Loans and Advances to Customers 0000000 Total Deposits 0 0 00 . Total Assets 1 0 0 0

* Due to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards that came into effect during the financial year, the above summary have not been
prepared on a consistent basis. Changes in accounting policies are set out in Note 3 of the Notes To The Financial Statements.

*Oooooooooooooooooomooosoooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo3oonno
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
500000000

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

goobobooooggd

HK$ Million
ooooag
7,000 €509
6,000
5,270
5,000
4,359
4,000 3,614
3,260
3,000
2,000
1,000
0
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
FIVE-YEAR COMPARISON
5000
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo
Total equity
coonoo 103,575 109,638 113,796 116,050 106,346
EE‘S%’OS'“ 632,604 647,586 650,054 697,832 680,755
Loans and advances to customers
Souoooo 500,631 509,105 513,929 548,808 549,014
TDC’E'D"‘SE“S 839,451 865,198 884,420 907,470 882,825
Loan to deposit ratio o o o o G
onoooon 79% 79% 79% 79% 81%
Profit attributable to
owners of the parent 6,509 3,260 3,614 5,270 4,359
00000000000
EDarD”'ggé per share HK$2.07 HK$0.89 HK$0.97 HK$1.53 HK$1.32
Bi‘gdgngs per share HK$1.18 HK$0.46 HK$0.40 HK$0.70 HK$0.81

106,346

Total equity in 2022
2022000000

HK$0.81

Dividends per share

oooo
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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Growth in Hong Kong and the Mainland slowed

dramatically in 2022, impacted by a range of factors
including strict anti-COVID controls, Mainland regulatory
action to address imbalances in the economy and a sharp
fall-off in exports due to weak consumer demand as
central banks across the globe raised interest rates at the
fastest pace in several decades.

Despite this extremely unfavourable operating
environment, The Bank of East Asia delivered healthy
top-line growth in 2022, with pre-provision operating
profit up by 25.4% year-on-year. Group net interest
income surged by 20.8%, as rising interest rates
contributed to a widening of net interest margins.

Despite the challenging 2022, we
remain upbeat. We expect a rebound
in the Hong Kong and Mainland
economies and in business prospects
in Greater China in the year ahead.

002022000000 0000000
oooooooooobobbbooooogd
ooooooooobobbbooog

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po
Executive Chairman

oooo

FHES

Regulatory action hit the Mainland property sector
particularly hard in 2022. Noting the growing concern of
Mainland regulators in recent years regarding the debt
load across the Mainland property sector, since 2021 we
have reduced our exposure to commercial real estate and
worked closely with our clients in the sector to reduce
risk. Nonetheless, many developers faced liquidity issues
in 2022 and, as a result, we have significantly increased
provisions for loans to this sector. Largely due to this
provisioning, our profit attributable to shareholders fell by
17.3% year-on-year.

Despite this reversal, we remain upbeat, particularly in light
of the dismantling of COVID controls in Hong Kong and on
the Mainland at the end of 2022, recent more supportive
government measures toward the Mainland property
market and the reopening of the Hong Kong-Mainland
boundary in early 2023. We expect a strong rebound in
the Hong Kong and Mainland economies and in business
prospects in the Greater China region in the year ahead.



202200000000000O000O000C00DOO0
oboooooboobobooooboooooooon
oboboobOobooboboooooooooon
oobOooboooOoooooooooDbo

oo0oDOoOO0o0oooobooDboooDbObO0OOezo220
gobooboobooobooboobobooon
254% 0 000000000000000O0O0O0O0O
00000 20.8%0

DIVIDENDS FOR THE LAST 5 YEARS
gosgoogn

HK$ Million
ooooo
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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Throughout the past year, we have continued to pursue
our long-term strategic objectives, focusing on our
customers, pushing ahead with digital transformation,
aligning our business with our ESG goals and proactively
maintaining robust liquidity and balance sheet positions.

Following the sale of our life insurance business to AlA
Group Limited in 2021, we partnered with AIA Group
again in 2022 on the sale of Blue Cross (Asia-Pacific)
Insurance Limited and Blue Care JV (BVI) Holdings Limited.
Through our 15-year exclusive bancassurance partnership
with AIA, we now offer a full range of AIA insurance
products to our clients, generating a strong new revenue
stream for the Bank.

With the completion of the sale, the Bank announced
a special dividend to shareholders, allowing our
shareholders to realise the value that our insurance
businesses had created.

Earlier in the year, we sought and won shareholder
approval for an off-market share buy-back of 8.43% of
the Bank’s issued shares. This meaningful transaction
was beneficial to all shareholders, and we were extremely
gratified to receive strong support for the measure.

As reported last year, we have embarked on a thorough
digital transformation journey, remaking the way that
we deliver our services to enhance both efficiency and
the customer experience. To highlight the benefits
of this transformation journey for our clients, we
launched the One Bank initiative in 2022. With our
growing digital capabilities, we strive to ensure that
our customers have one consistent experience across
BEA’s network worldwide.

At the same time, we are strengthening our customer
relationship team, in order to ensure a personalised
service to affluent clients who are looking for more from
their bank. We expanded the number of relationship
managers during the past year, even as our overall
headcount declined.

With the reopening of the Hong Kong-Mainland
boundary, we will step up our cross-boundary services
across the GBA and beyond in 2023. Although the
boundary was largely closed for the past three years,
we have been preparing for the eventual reopening by
investing in our service platform and training our staff to
offer an optimised cross-boundary service experience.

To address major societal and environmental issues,
including climate change, we have developed and
implemented roadmaps to achieve net zero in our own
operations by 2030, and in our business activities by
2050. Achieving net zero in our financed emissions will
not be easy, and we have proactively addressed this
challenge by adopting green and sustainable finance
policies that now guide our lending.

Our ability to serve our customers well depends on
our ability to attract the best talent and provide an
environment that allows talented individuals to grow
and prosper together with the Bank. It is a fact that
Hong Kong faces a severe shortage of financial and
banking industry talent. We are committed to providing
comprehensive training, ample opportunities and
commensurate rewards to support and motivate our staff
and help them to serve our customers better.
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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

OUTLOOK

While the dismantling of COVID restrictions worldwide
will be positive for the global economy, many challenges
remain, from geopolitical tensions, to the threat of
recession and the restructuring of supply chains.

However, in the Greater China region, there is good
reason to be hopeful that 2023 will be a better year.
Broad policy support for the orderly development of the
property market and the easing of regulatory pressure on
private enterprise including the tech sector will reignite
growth in these sectors. Hong Kong’s economy is likely to
recover with China’s reopening, with expectations of an
inflow of capital and a rebound in tourism and trade.

The current high interest rate environment is expected
to continue throughout 2023 and beyond, and the
Bank is focused on serving our customers well through
responsible lending and proactive risk monitoring. In
parallel, we will continue to enhance our ability to earn
sustainable fee and commission income.

With the rebound of the Hong Kong and Mainland
stock markets at the beginning of 2023, retail investors
are returning after shunning the markets in 2022,
boding well for the sale of investment products. Recent
improvements to the stock connect and bond connect
cross-boundary investment programmes will further
stimulate demand from investors and, with our past
investments in people and technology, we are well
prepared to serve this demand.

As | look back on 2022, | am reminded of the many
macroeconomic and operational challenges that BEA
had to navigate. That we have emerged even-keeled and
on course to achieve our strategic goals is testament to

my colleagues’ perseverance and commitment. Many
team members throughout the Group went through
lengthy travel quarantines, faced lockdowns and had
to do double-duty when their colleagues fell ill. When
the challenges of 2022 threatened delays to our digital
programmes, the teams rose to the challenge and kept
our programmes on course.

| take pleasure in thanking our Bank’s Board of Directors
and the directors of our subsidiaries and associated
companies for their invaluable advice and support during
the past year. | also thank the management and staff
of BEA for their commitment, which is all the more
important now as we carry out our bank transformation
programmes.

BEA’s distinct identity and core strengths are built
on our seamless service capability across Hong Kong
and Mainland China, complimented by a well-honed
international network and close strategic partnerships. |
would in particular like to express my sincere gratitude
and appreciation to Criteria Caixa S.A. and Sumitomo
Mitsui Banking Corporation for the excellent working
relationships that we enjoy with them.

We recognise that we must earn the support and loyalty
of our shareholders, and deliver a sustainable return on
investment as we execute our long-term strategic plans.
We are very grateful to our many shareholders, large and
small, for their confidence in BEA.

We also recognise that we are only successful if our
customers are successful, and we approach each
relationship with this truth firmly in mind. We deeply
appreciate the trust that our customers place in us every
time they choose us as their banking partner, and we
thank them for their business.

David LI Kwok-po

Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th February, 2023
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REPORT OF THE CO-CHIEF EXECUTIVES

In face of external challenges, BEA’s operations were resilient,
with core profitability showing an improvement across the
Bank’s Hong Kong, Mainland China and overseas operations.

goboobooobbbooobbboooobbooooobboogan

gooooobooobobobon

Adrian David LI Man-kiu

Co-Chief Executive

ooooon
ooo

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Performance

In 2022, BEA and its subsidiaries earned a profit
attributable to owners of the parent of HK$4,359 million.

Basic earnings per share were HK$1.32 for the year.
The return on average assets was 0.4%, while return on
average equity was 3.7%.

Profitability declined compared to 2021 as a result of a
deterioration in asset quality. Continued difficulties for
the Mainland property sector resulted in downgrades
being made to sizeable accounts, and the Bank made
appropriate provisions to cover this exposure.

In face of external challenges, BEA’s operations were
resilient. Operating profit before impairment losses stood
at HK$8,730 million, an increase of 25.4% compared to
2021, with core profitability showing an improvement
across the Bank’s Hong Kong, Mainland China and
overseas operations.

Net interest income increased by 20.8% to HK$13,508
million. With interest rates rising in Hong Kong and
overseas, net interest margin widened by 28 basis
points to 1.65%. This more than offset a drop in
non-interest income to HK$4,446 million under weak
market conditions.

Net fee and commission income fell by 10.3% to
HK$2,753 million. Investment sentiment was impacted by
the spread of Omicron and macroeconomic conditions,
resulting in a decrease in net commission income from
sales of investment products and securities brokerage.
This was partially offset by a growing contribution from
bancassurance, which has become a strong revenue
stream for the Bank.

Brian David LI Man-bun
Co-Chief Executive
oooood

ooo

Net insurance profit was impacted by the disposal of BEA
Life Limited (BEA Life”) in September 2021 and Blue
Cross (Asia-Pacific) Insurance Limited (“Blue Cross™) in
August 2022.

Taken together, net trading and hedging results and net
results from other financial instruments amounted to
HK$1,245 million.

Overall, total operating income rose by 10.3% to
HK$17,954 million.

Total operating expenses were reduced by 1.0% to
HK$9,224 million. Expenses were held flat, despite
continued investment in the Bank’s talent, digital and
data analytics capabilities, as a result of efficiency gains.
The cost-to-income ratio for 2022 improved by 5.8
percentage points to 51.4%.

Impairment losses on financial instruments rose from
HK$1,679 million in 2021 to HK$5,923 million in 2022.
The Group’s impaired loan ratio increased from 1.09%
at the end of December 2021 to 2.39% at the end of
December 2022.

Net profit on sale of assets held for sale grew by
HK$403 million to HK$1,445 million, mainly as a result
of the HK$1,446 million gained upon disposal of Blue
Cross and Blue Care JV (BVI) Holdings Limited in 2022,
compared to HK$902 million from the disposal of BEA
Life in 2021.

The Group’s share of after-tax profits less losses
from associates and joint ventures went up by
HK$1,089 million to a profit of HK$855 million, mainly
contributed by associates operating in Malaysia and
Mainland China.
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REPORT OF THE CO-CHIEF EXECUTIVES (CONTINUED)

Financial Position

Total consolidated assets of the Group stood at
HK$882,825 million at the end of December 2022.

Gross advances to customers remained stable at
HK$549,014 million.

Total deposits from customers increased by 2.3% to
HK$648,093 million. Of the total, demand deposits and
current account balances decreased by 17.3%; savings
deposits fell by 26.2%; and time deposits rose by 22.4%.
Total deposit funds, comprising deposits from customers
and all certificates of deposit issued, amounted to
HK$680,755 million.

The loan-to-deposit ratio stood at 80.6% at the end of
December 2022, compared to 78.6% at the end of 2021.

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent was
HK$95,987 million.

The Bank’s strong capital position enabled a series of
corporate actions in 2022 while providing a buffer against
external impacts. During the reporting year, the Bank
completed an off-market share buy-back transaction
with a total consideration of HK$2,904 million in April
2022 and commenced a general buy-back on-market in
October 2022. As at 31st December, 2022, the Bank had
repurchased 15,744,800 Shares on the Stock Exchange
at a total consideration of HK$134 million, representing
0.54% of the Shares in issue.

As at 31st December, 2022, the total capital ratio, tier 1
capital ratio, and common equity tier 1 capital ratio were
20.1%, 17.7%, and 15.8%, respectively. The average
liquidity coverage ratio for the quarter ended 31st
December 2022 was 197.7%, well above the statutory
minimum of 100%.

RATINGS

S&P Global Ratings

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Long-term Counterparty Credit A-
(local and foreign currency)

Short-term Counterparty Credit A-2
(local and foreign currency)

Outlook Stable
Moody’s Investor Service

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Long-term Bank Deposit A3
(local and foreign currency)

Short-term Bank Deposit Prime-2
(local and foreign currency)

Outlook Stable
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Economic Review

2022 was an eventful year. The global economy, in
particular in advanced economies, initially posted
abovetrend growth boosted by post-pandemic
consumption and highly accommodative fiscal and
monetary policies.

However, geopolitical tensions, the Russia-Ukraine
conflict, and spiking energy costs soon pushed inflation
rates in Europe and the United States to multi-decade
highs. This prompted their respective central banks to
raise rates at a rapid pace, triggering a downturn in global
financial and real estate markets.

Against this backdrop, the International Monetary Fund
revised down its 2022 global economic growth forecast
from 4.4% in January 2022 to its most recent estimate of
3.4%, while inflation was revised up from 5.0% to 8.8%.

In Mainland China, the economy was weighed down by
stringent pandemic controls and regulatory clampdowns
on the real estate, internet, and financial sectors.
Mainland authorities introduced a number of targeted
policies to address highly specific challenges throughout
the year. Consequently, after expanding 8.4% in 2021,
the Mainland China economy grew by 3.0% in 2022.

In Hong Kong, although pandemic control measures were
gradually relaxed, quarantine-free and restriction-free
travel for overseas visitors were only allowed in September
and December 2022 respectively. Local interest rates
rose following hikes in the United States in 2022.
Together with the uncertain global economic outlook and
tightened monetary conditions, the Hong Kong economy
recorded another year of contraction in 2022.

Looking forward to 2023, the global economic outlook
is clouded by geopolitical tensions, high inflation and
interest rates. However, regional prospects for growth are
more promising.

Since November 2022, Mainland authorities have taken
an increasingly accommodative and stimulative stance.
They have made substantive changes to loosen pandemic
rules, and introduced sweeping measures to shore up
confidence in the property sector. Early mobility and
sentiment indicators have shown a notable recovery in
economic activity, and an improving outlook. Given that
Mainland China has ample fiscal and monetary policy
room to stimulate the economy, we forecast that GDP
will grow by 5.7% in 2023, with inflation remaining
moderate at around 2.2%.

For Hong Kong, quarantine-free travel with Mainland
China and the rest of the world could herald a massive
flow of people, goods, and capital. A robust catch up
in tourism-related sectors will reinvigorate demand for
services, including financial and professional services.
Alongside the Mainland’s accelerating economic recovery,
this will drive a strong rebound for local consumption
and investment activity. By dovetailing national strategies,
Hong Kong can expect to capture a sizeable share of
the economic resources that are being shepherded into
strategic industries and the Greater Bay Area. As a result,
we have recently upgraded Hong Kong’s GDP growth
forecast to around 5.0% in 2023, with inflation of 1.9%.

Business — Hong Kong

The external headwinds facing the Bank’s Hong Kong
operations began to dissipate in the fourth quarter of
2022. Business picked up as COVID-19 restrictions were
eased both locally and in Mainland China, and the Bank
further benefitted from widened margins under the rising
interest rate environment.

However, performance for the full year was affected by
weak market sentiment, as well as persistent liquidity
issues for clients in the Chinese commercial real estate
sector. Against this backdrop, profit before tax for Hong
Kong operations declined by 19.5% year-on-year.

Repayment difficulties for Mainland property developers
have been particularly acute for offshore lending.
Additional downgrades were made on certain sizeable
accounts in the fourth quarter, and the Bank made
appropriate provisions to cover the related exposure. As
a result, impairment losses rose by HK$2,370 million to
HK$3,495 million.

The Bank maintained a prudent approach to new
business, focusing on risk mitigation and portfolio
diversification. Overall, customer loans in Hong Kong
fell by 2.2% to HK$298,550 million, while total deposits
grew by 2.6% to HK$422,700 million.

Despite the challenging external conditions, pre-provision
operating profit increased by 29.8%, driven by 37.4%
growth in net interest income. Net interest margin
expanded by 37 basis points on the back of a significant
rise in interbank rates.

Wealth management activities were particularly affected
by lingering COVID-19 restrictions as well as a general
downturn in investor sentiment. Net fee and commission
income fell by 9.5%, with strong bancassurance sales
partially offsetting the decline in income from investment
product sales and stock broking.
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In August and December, BEA held media briefings to share its views on
macro-economic outlook.

0000000800120 000000000000000O0O0O0O00O
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Operating expenses were held flat as efficiency gains from
BEA’s digitalisation and transformation programmes were
realised. The Bank made further progress in optimising
its physical presence, reducing the number of branches
while establishing new centralised workspaces that
enable relationship managers to meet customers at their
convenience.

BEA has continued to upgrade capabilities to future-proof
its business and grasp opportunities arising from the
post-COVID recovery. Investments have been made to
digitalise operations, implement advanced data analytics
and develop new service platforms to further enhance
the customer experience. At the same time, additional
frontline sales staff have been hired to handle the
anticipated growth in business from individual, corporate
and high-net-worth clients following the reopening of the
border with Mainland China.

Retail Banking

The Bank’s retail operations recorded significant
year-on-year growth in 2022, with net profit rising by
107.1%. Performance was driven by sustained customer
acquisition in target segments, as well as an improved
spread on deposits.

Net interest income increased by 75.0%. Net interest
on loans was lower due to higher funding costs.
Nevertheless, this was more than offset by higher
income from deposits resulting from balance growth
and widened margins.

With weak market sentiment, non-interest income
recorded a drop of 2.6%. As mentioned above, fees
and commissions from investment product sales and
brokerage activity were lower throughout the year. This
was partially mitigated by strong growth in income from
sales of insurance.

022F THERER

2022 Economic and Marl

The newly launched Mobile RM Hub in Central.
goooooooocoooog

The Bank’s mobile and online platforms assured business
momentum and service continuity, particularly during
temporary branch closures under the fifth wave of
COVID-19. Customer digital adoption has steadily
increased, with financial transactions made via mobile up
by 29%.

Overall, operating income rose by 49.8%. With synergies
arising from the Bank’s cost rationalisation programmes,
operating expenses were 2.0% lower.

Regarding segment performance, new client intake
for BEA’s premium wealth management service,
SupremeGold Private, was strong, bringing in meaningful
assets under management. The SupremeGold all-in-one
account also maintained double-digit growth. Meanwhile,
the uptake of BEA’s new digital account, BEA GOAL,
has exceeded expectations since its launch, successfully
attracting a new generation of customers.

Throughout 2022, the Bank enhanced service levels
in various aspects, covering mobile account opening,
straight-through digital mortgage application, online
buy-now-pay-later and virtual credit cards. More products
and services will be upgraded with the launch of BEA’s
new mobile banking platform in 2023.

Wholesale Banking

The result for Wholesale Banking has been severely
impacted by the problems facing the Mainland
commercial real estate sector, which persisted
throughout the year under review. With some substantial
clients facing continued repayment difficulties, BEA
made sizeable provisions in Hong Kong with regard to
offshore lending.
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In August, BEA refreshed its 100% digital wealth
management platform — BEA GOAL, providing

the young generation an innovative, fully digitalised
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solution.
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As a result, the Bank adopted a more prudent approach,
leading to a mild drop in the corporate loan balance.
Despite this, underlying business was sound. Operating
income increased by 9.8% year-on-year, with net interest
income growing by 12.9% on the back of rising interest
rates. Meanwhile, lower fees from lending and fixed
income activity were countered by higher commissions
from treasury and investment sales.

BEA’s wholesale banking team in Hong Kong have
worked closely with their Mainland counterparts
to ensure a seamless One Bank experience for
cross-border customers. The Bank will further enhance its
Global Relationship Managers service model and digital
channels to capture new business from across the Greater
China region, as well as to serve customers’ needs in
other geographies.

BEA is also committed to the development of green and
sustainable finance. The proportion of green lending and
bond investments in the Bank’s total portfolio rose by
6.5 percentage points year-on-year as BEA worked with
clients to fund sustainability-linked projects and reduce
carbon emissions. The Bank will continue to diversify
its portfolio into new sectors and industries to deliver
sustainable long-term growth.

Wealth Management

For Private Banking, performance was constrained by
market conditions. Amid continued uncertainty over
geopolitical tensions, rising inflation and lingering
COVID-19 restrictions, investor sentiment remained weak
globally in 2022. As a result, investment AUM and loans
declined as asset prices fell and customers sought to de-
risk their portfolios.

Despite these challenges, there were positive signs for
the wealth management business. Increased income
from foreign-exchange related instruments and
structured products largely offset a decline from mutual
funds and brokerage activity. With a higher average
deposit balance and improved margins, net interest
income grew by 11.0%.

The Bank continued to increase its salesforce and improve
customer acquisition. The number of Private Banking
relationship managers and investment consultants
increased by almost 30%, and AUM from new-to-bank
customers rose by more than threefold even as total
balances declined.

Digitalisation has been key to efforts to provide
value-added services and grow the customer base,
particularly amongst the younger generation. An
innovative Fund Portfolio Builder was launched in May,
enabling retail clients to build customised portfolios based
on their preferences. Additional digital services covering
investment trading and more will be launched in 2023.

Business is expected to pick up strongly in the year ahead
as the Mainland optimises anti-pandemic measures and
re-opens its borders. With government policies expected
to support the development of the family office industry
in Hong Kong, BEA is also expanding its capabilities in
family governance, impact management and succession
planning. The Bank will continue to broaden the scope of
its wealth management and investment product offerings
to serve cross-border and professional investors.

Insurance and MPF Services

BEA’s life insurance bancassurance partnership with AIA
celebrated its first anniversary in July 2022. Results to
date have been positive, with a strong performance in
annualised new premiums and value of new business.
The bancassurance model is successfully leveraging the
Bank’s strengths in distribution to generate cross-selling
opportunities and build a sustainable platform for fee
income growth.

In 2022 the scope of BEA’s partnership with AIA was
expanded to include general insurance. The sale of Blue
Cross, as well as the Bank’s 80% stake in healthcare
service provider Blue Care JV (BVI) Holdings Limited, to
AlA was completed in August. Following this transaction,
Blue Cross has become the exclusive provider of non-life
insurance products for BEA’s personal banking customers
in Hong Kong. The Bank has continued to explore new
areas for cooperation with AIA, including a co-branded
credit card which was launched in November.

Total membership of BEA’s MPF schemes grew by 3.3%
to 879,000 at the end of December 2022. AUM declined
by 13.2% as portfolio valuations dropped in the volatile
market environment.

BEA has maintained its position as the leading Industry
Scheme provider. With significant annual expenditure
expected on infrastructure and other construction works
in Hong Kong, the Bank is well-placed to capture new
business from major contractors.

Going forward, the Bank will continue to leverage
its branch and sales networks to manage the
comprehensive retirement needs of individual customers,
and prepare for future industry reforms including full
portability of benefits.
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Business — Mainland China

It was a challenging year for the Mainland economy with
the pandemic, property market downturn, a worsening
global economic outlook, and escalating geopolitical
tensions weighing on economic activity and consumer
sentiment. GDP growth slowed to 3.0% year-on-year, the
lowest since the Global Financial Crisis of 2007-2008.

Recurrent COVID-19 outbreaks also created disturbances
to local branch services of BEA China, although the Bank
remained resilient and provided largely uninterrupted
services.

Despite the complex operating environment, BEA’s
China banking operations generated a strong
pre-provision operating profit of HK$1,538 million in
2022, up 17.5% year-on-year. Factoring in the Renminbi’s
depreciation against the Hong Kong dollar, on a constant
currency basis the rise was 22%. The increase was mainly
contributed by steady growth in the loan book as BEA
China continues its diversification efforts, and a return to
growth for net interest income due to the development
in the wholesale loan and consumer finance portfolio.
Non-interest income also increased year-on-year due to
revaluation gains from US dollar appreciation and growth
in trading income primarily driven by an active foreign
exchange market.

The real estate sector remained under pressure during
the year, with growing defaults from Mainland-based
developers. This led BEA China to downgrade a number
of real estate accounts. The impaired loan ratio increased
to 2.75%, up by 1.21 percentage points from the
end of December 2021 whereas impairment losses on
financial instruments rose by 237.8% year-on-year to
HK$2,088 million. As a result, BEA’s China banking
operations recorded a net loss of HK$424 million for
2022, compared to a profit in the previous year. During
the year, BEA China took a number of proactive steps
to manage its loan portfolio, including continuously
reducing exposure to the property sector, seeking early
repayment, strengthening our lending position by asking
for additional collateral coverage, and stepping up efforts
in problem loan recoveries.

On wholesale banking, BEA China continued to focus
on growing its non-property related loan portfolio,
which accounts for 72.6% of its total wholesale banking
portfolio. Good progress was recorded in growing
credit exposure to selected strategic sectors, including
technology-media-telecom, medicine and health,
fast moving consumer goods, and automobiles and
parts. Moreover, BEA China responded swiftly to new
opportunities arising from green finance. During the year,
BEA China arranged its first dual-structure ESG syndicated

loan in the Mainland and grew its green credit exposure
by over 90% year-on-year. BEA China was also a major
contributor to the Group’s One Bank strategy, managing
60% of the Bank’s top cross-boundary customer groups.

Overall, operating income from wholesale banking
achieved moderate growth compared to the previous
year. Net interest income from wholesale banking grew
by 10% year-on-year, which equates to 14.2% on a
constant currency basis. The impact of thinner margins
due to targeting quality customers was minimised by
efforts in managing down the deposit cost. Non-interest
income from wholesale banking fell as the outbreaks of
COVID-19 suppressed business activities.

On the personal banking side, total operating income
remained flat compared to the previous year as growth
in net interest income offset a decrease in non-interest
income. Net interest income from personal banking grew
by 0.3% year-on-year (4.1% on a constant currency
basis), driven by growth in the high-margin consumer
finance portfolio; this portfolio is now supported by
enhanced risk analytics offered by ecosystem partners. At
the same time, BEA China proactively decreases its credit
card and mortgage portfolio in order to better optimise
the risk-weighted return for its retail loan portfolio.

Non-interest income from personal banking fell as the
risk appetites of investors were limited amid volatile
market conditions, and COVID-19 control measures
hindered face-to-face wealth management services.
During the year, BEA China repositioned its personal
banking business to focus on the affluent segment in
Beijing, Shanghai and the GBA, and has in particular
strengthened its cross-boundary propositions such as
Wealth Management Connect and remote account
opening services.

Despite the inflationary environment, underlying
operating expenses for BEA’s China operations in 2022
were flat year-on-year and the cost-to-income ratio
improved by 420 basis points, demonstrating its strong
discipline in cost control.

BEA China is accelerating its digital transformation by
cultivating a data-driven organisation supported by IT
investments and extensive staff training. In December
2022, BEA China was presented with the “Best Practices
of Data Governance” award by the Data Management
Association China, the first foreign bank in Mainland
China to win this award. Riding on a stronger data and
digital infrastructure, BEA China is implementing various
projects in Robotic Process Automation and customer
journey enhancements to further improve operational
efficiency and customer experience.
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As of 31st December, 2022, BEA China has 30 branches
and 35 sub-branches covering 38 cities on the Mainland.
In the GBA, BEA China operated one of the most
extensive networks among foreign banks, with 20 outlets
covering all the cities in the region. In the third quarter
of 2022, the construction was completed on the BEA
Tower in Qianhai which is where the BEA GBA Office,
BEA China Innovation Lab, BEA China Shenzhen Branch
and East Asia Qianhai Securities Company will reside. This
will facilitate BEA to further its GBA aspiration through
establishing a more substantial presence in the region and
promoting intragroup synergies.

Business — International, Macau and Taiwan

In 2022, the performance of the Bank’s overseas
operations remained resilient, despite the challenging
operating environment stemming from elevated
geopolitical tensions, high inflationary pressures, and
monetary policy tightening by major central banks.

During the period under review, pre-provision operating
profit for overseas branches soared 34.9% year-on-year
to HK$1.65 billion, boosted by higher net interest margins
and customer advances as well as good cost discipline.

Net profit after tax remained flat at HK$1.06 billion,
notwithstanding an increase in impairment losses,
compared to a net release in the prior year. This reflects
the effects of heightened economic uncertainties in
the forward economic outlook, especially in the United
States and United Kingdom, and the deterioration in the
financial metrics of some borrowers.

Despite the increased impairment losses, asset quality
nonetheless remained sound, and the impaired loan ratio
was 0.38% at the end of December 2022. Our overseas
operations continue to be alert to volatile and challenging
market conditions.

The strict cost management and higher revenue both
contributed to reducing the cost-to-income ratio to
29.9% compared with 37.0% a year earlier.

The Bank’s United Kingdom operations posted sustained
growth in pre-provision operating profit, attributable to
loan growth and NIM expansion. BEA United Kingdom
also continued to reduce its exposure to the property
sector and expand its green and sustainability-linked
financing portfolio. BEA’s operations in the United States
also delivered outstanding results on the back of stronger
profitability, driven by loan growth and higher NIM.
In light of the increasing recessionary pressures in the
western markets, both the United Kingdom and United
States operations will manage their portfolios vigilantly
and proactively recycle their risk-weighted assets with
higher quality credits and decent returns.

In Asia (excluding Hong Kong and Mainland China), since
the completion of the strategic repositioning exercise and
network rationalisation initiative in 2021, both Singapore
and Macau branches showed remarkable improvements
in pre-provision operating profits and cost-to-income
ratios for 2022. The two branches will continue to focus
on wholesale banking business and maintain tight cost
control. Meanwhile, branch operations in Taiwan have
been taking a reasonably prudent stance in business
expansion in light of the prevailing economic headwinds
faced by the island.

In pursuit of the “One Bank” strategy, overseas
branches are leveraging their local expertise to enhance
collaboration with other business units to deliver a
seamless banking experience to customers and enhance
the customers’ total value to the Bank.

In addition, BEA’s overseas operations are actively
participating in the Bank’s transformation journey through
increased investment in digital initiatives designed to
improve customer experiences and enhance operational
efficiency. United Kingdom operations have introduced
digital solutions for financial data management and
analytics. Singapore Branch, in line with its business
repositioning strategy, is about to complete the
revitalisation of its corporate Cyberbanking platform with
expanded online functionalities for corporate customers.
Meanwhile, the Taiwan Branch is in the process of
replacing its core banking system to accommodate
advancements in technology and automation to boost
operational efficiency.

Sustainability is also one of the Bank’s key priorities and
overseas branches have been actively exploring green
and sustainable financing opportunities in line with the
Bank’s ESG strategies. As at the end of 2022, green
and sustainability-linked loans accounted for 17.9% of
the total loan portfolio. The respective loan balances
increased by 117.6% from the previous year.

Looking ahead, given the uncertain business landscape,
overseas operations will prioritise asset quality over loan
growth, optimise risk-weighted assets, and increase
returns. Prudent cost management will also remain a
focus. We will invest in new technologies that help to
meet regulatory requirements and further streamline
business processes.
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BEA Union Investment Management
Limited

In 2022, BEA Union Investment Management Limited
(“BEA Union Investment”) remained resilient amidst
turbulent global markets. Assets under management and
advisory as at 31st December, 2022 were US$7.3 billion,
versus US$8.8 billion as at 31st December, 2021.

Despite the challenging market conditions, BEA Union
Investment stayed focused on its core capabilities, putting
the company in a competitive position to tap into future
opportunities as the markets improve. The company’s
efforts and strengths were recognised through a number
of key industry awards in the year.

BEA Union Investment is a signatory of the United
Nations Principles for Responsible Investment. As part
of the Bank’s commitment to sustainability, BEA Union
Investment established a comprehensive ESG policy and
integrated the policy in the investment process across
all funds.

Looking forward, BEA Union Investment will continue
to partner with clients on their journey for the optimal
investment solution through further developing its
investment strategies and products in Asia.

Our People

As of 31st December, 2022, the BEA Group employed
8,453 people:

As of 31st As of 31st
December, 2022 December, 2021

Hong Kong 4,833 5,057
Mainland China 3,060 3,211
Macau and Taiwan 130 130
Overseas 430 426
Total 8,453 8,824

While 2022 posed operational challenges to our Bank,
it also posed personal difficulties to our staff. Whether
through travel quarantines, lockdowns, covering shifts
for sick colleagues or falling ill themselves, our employees
faced a range of hardships. That we came together as
a Bank to meet these challenges is a testament to the
strength and dedication of our employees.

Our people lie at the heart of the Bank’s transformation.
Our orchestrated efforts have helped colleagues acquire
new skills and foster an agile learning culture, creating
a workforce that is change-oriented, digital-ready
and data-literate. This year, both our Growth Mindset
Training and Data Literacy Empowerment programmes
were attended by more than half of bank staff in Hong
Kong, forming a critical mass that can create change
and drive sustainable growth.

As part of our long-term strategy to harness the future
of banking, we selected data champions from different
business units for additional training, while our senior
leaders strengthened their leadership mindset to nurture
a culture of innovation. Further, we have equipped all
staff with essential knowledge of fintech through a brand
new mobile micro-learning programme. Our employees
are also encouraged to pursue continuous professional
development through externally provided courses. This
year, for the first time, the Bank subsidised a group of
employees to attain HKMA’s new Enhanced Competency
Framework (ECF)-Fintech certification.

In another sign of our commitment to building strong
leadership and talent pipelines, we extended our
high-potential executives (“HIPOs”) programme to include
newly identified HIPOs from Hong Kong and overseas
branches in Malaysia, the United Kingdom, and the United
States, and we enhanced our Future Leader Accelerated
Programme to support diversity and engagement of HIPOs
across regions. We also believe in investing in our young
talents and providing our graduate trainees with career
development opportunities. One such example is this year’s
cohort of Personal Banking Relationship Manager Trainees
who were trained and mobilised to run our newly launched
Mobile RM Hub in Central.

During the pandemic, workplace engagement took on
new significance. Our new ““Bright Ideas, Big Impact
Programme”, where winning ideas from two rounds
of submissions will be adopted and implemented as
appropriate, attracted an overwhelming response from
colleagues. Similarly, our full-scale employee survey in
September generated a 95% response rate. We saw a
strong buy-in for our transformation and green agenda,
with 80% and 86% favourable respectively. Employees
also appreciate the enhanced efforts in communications,
a marked 10% increase in favourable responses from
our 2021 pulse survey. Based on the survey results,
the Bank will devise division-specific plans in 2023. In
addition, we will continue to monitor human rights
breaches, which was incorporated into the Bank Culture
Dashboard in 2022.
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At all times, we factor in employee wellbeing. From 1st
January, 2023, staff will have greater flexibility in arranging
their annual leave and their monthly wellbeing leave
will be doubled from 2 hours to 4 hours. To promote a
healthy lifestyle, the Bank’s Staff Sports and Recreation
Club operates a gym for employees and, working within
Government guidelines, organised 78 programmes in 2022,
attracting more than 5,900 participations from employees
and their family members. These included 46 sports,
wellness, and fitness-orientated programmes; 21 recreational
courses; and 7 charitable and fundraising activities.

Aside from wellbeing, the Bank fosters social connections
and promotes a caring community. The “Join Hands,
Reach Further!” programme launched in the second
quarter of 2022 directs volunteer efforts towards the
Bank’s key community service programmes, namely BEA
Upcycles, BEA Golden Adventures and BEA Festival (Beyond
Environmental Arts Festival), as well as other outreach
opportunities. Through 65 programmes, we gave close to
3,700 volunteer hours to the communities we serve.

Health and safety of staff and the public have long been a
focus of BEA, but they came to the fore under the severe
fifth wave of COVID-19 in the first half of 2022. The Bank
quickly distributed Rapid Antigen Test kits to all staff and
provided flexible work arrangements, as well as additional
leave days for employees to get vaccinated. As we move
beyond the pandemic, we are renewing connections
with our Mainland China and overseas employees, and
focusing our efforts to create an agile workforce, improve
business continuity, and increase productivity.

SUSTAINABILITY

Guided by our vision to be the sustainability leader among
financial institutions in Greater China and beyond and
informed by our ESG strategy framework, BEA integrates
sustainability principles into our business and operations
across the Group.

Reflecting our commitment to sustainability, in 2022, BEA
upgraded its sustainability function into a department
and renamed its Human Resources & Corporate
Communications Division to People & Sustainability
Division. On the Mainland, BEA China established its
own 3-tiered ESG governance structure and Sustainability
Section, which drive the subsidiary’s sustainability efforts
and ensure alignment with other Group members.

Growing Our Business Responsibly

The green and sustainable finance (“GSF”) framework
introduced in 2022 will crystalise the Group’s progress
in meeting its net zero targets and better enable its
business and treasury units to identify opportunities for
green lending and ESG bond investment to support the
transition to a low carbon economy.

In February, the Bank strengthened its list of prohibited
lending and ESG checklists for credit approval. To ensure
related units across the Group work towards the same
sustainability objective, extensive training was provided
to over 600 relationship managers and related staff. The
2022 target set for total GSF loans and ESG bonds as a
percentage of total corporate loan and investment assets
was achieved.

In May, BEA was the first bank headquartered in Hong
Kong to become a signatory to the Partnership for Carbon
Accounting Financials, joining like-minded leaders of the
financial industry in promoting effective communication
and cooperation regarding climate action.

Passionate about supporting innovation and the local
fintech ecosystem we introduced BEAST (“BEA +
Startups™), a co-working space that serves as an access
point for startups into the established finance industry
and enables them to develop their innovative products.
To date, the Bank has supported more than 80 ongoing
projects co-developed with local startups, industry players,
and fintech community partners.

Operating Our Business Responsibly

BEA is committed to achieving net zero financed
emissions by 2050. As part of the net zero goal on
the Bank-wide scorecard for 2022, BEA established a
roadmap for reducing the Bank’s operational emissions,
which was approved by the Board ESG Committee in
November. It was also determined that the Group’s
corporate loan and bond investment portfolios account
for over 90% of BEA'’s financed emissions, a significant
component of BEA’s Scope 3 emissions.

In the year under review, we also committed to achieving
net zero operational emissions by 2030. To this end, we
revised the Group’s target for Scopes 1 & 2 set in 2020 in
order to align with the Science Based Targets Initiative and
the Paris Agreement goal of limiting global warming to
1.5 degrees Celsius compared to pre-industrial levels.
Going forward, BEA plans to establish a Sustainable
Building Policy and deployment plan to facilitate
implementation. The Group also aims to reduce paper
consumption by 70% over a 3-year period.

In September, BEA introduced
BEAST - a fintech initiative that
strives to inspire innovation and
collaboration between the Bank,
local startups with demonstrated
potential, and industry partners.

900000000 BEASTO
goooooooooooo
000000o00ooooo
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In June, BEA and Chevalier International Holdings Limited
entered into a HK$50 million green loan facility.
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To foster a greater understanding of sustainability topics
that are material to the Group, BEA is set to publish a
Sustainable Procurement Policy in the first quarter of
2023 to guide all relevant departments and encourage
suppliers to adopt best practices and operate sustainably
and responsibly. All staff also received a sustainability
refresher course for the second consecutive year in
2022. It was encouraging to see in the Employee Survey
conducted in September that 85% of our staff believe
that their division or branch can have a clear impact on
the Group’s ESG performance while 90% believe that
BEA is dedicated to improving its ESG performance.

Serving Our Community Responsibly

BEA’s community investment programme is built on
the three pillars of education, social welfare, and
environmental protection. In March, The Bank of East Asia
Charitable Foundation donated anti-epidemic supplies
worth HK$3 million to over 43,000 people and created
short-term packing jobs for the unemployed. Then in
May, BEA launched the “Join Hands, Reach Further!”
volunteer campaign through which some 800 staff
contributed close to 3,700 hours across 65 activities and
served more than 8,700 beneficiaries.

2022 was also the year we launched a new flagship
programme — Beyond Environmental Arts Festival (BEA
Festival) — in partnership with Hong Kong Youth Arts
Foundation to provide environmental education through
a series of interactive events. Activities this year included
an original theatrical performance, creative art workshops
and installation art exhibitions, which enlisted the help
of young local artists and volunteers. Continuing efforts
to raise awareness of green living, BEA joined hands
with St. James’ Settlement to organise “BEA Upcycles™.
Persons with disabilities took part as workshop instructors
at Cityplaza, teaching the public ways to integrate
sustainability into daily routines.

Caring for the elderly has long been a focus of BEA’s
social welfare efforts. Through the “BEA Golden
Adventures” campaign, 175 volunteers conducted
home-improvement projects and short exercise sessions
for elderlies. A mural painted by BEA volunteers, youths,
elderly residents, and people with disabilities also
brightened up the community with messages of the
importance of social inclusion.

On the Mainland, BEA China donated over HK$230,000
to the Shanghai Children’s Medical Centre to establish
the Mental Health for Medical Professionals Project. The
programme was designed to help promote the physical
and mental wellbeing of medical workers, especially those
in the paediatric field, who have stood on the frontline in
the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic since 2020.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Approach to Risk

The Group recognises that a sound risk culture is
the very foundation of its strength. To this end,
the Group maintains a prudent and proactive risk
management framework that supports risk awareness,
proper behaviour, and sound judgement in relation
to risk-taking. All employees are responsible for the
management of risk.

The following principles guide the Group’s risk appetite
and determine how its business and risks are managed.
Further details on the Group’s management of principal
risks are set out in Note 43 of “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Risk and Return

The Group’s risk appetite is used to guide its business
plan. The level of return generated through business
activities is in line with the risk taken and in alignment
with strategic plans, business outlooks, and risk
management policies, with an aim to generate sustainable
earnings.

Capital Adequacy

The Group is committed to maintaining a sound capital
position defined by regulatory and internal capital ratios
after taking into account the Bank’s dividend policy and
the need to meet capital requirements. The Group, and
each of its members, expect to maintain a robust capital
adequacy position that supports the growth of business
activities.

Liquidity & Funding Management

The Group is committed to having sufficient funds to
continue business and operations under crisis scenarios
on a Group basis, with the ability to meet all obligations
as they come due.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group strives to deliver fair treatment to customers
and ensures that operations are conducted with integrity
and in compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements. The Group will not tolerate negative
conduct risk outcomes that go against the spirit of the
law and regulatory requirements, and is committed to
developing and promoting a sound corporate culture and
incentivising proper staff behaviour.
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In July, BEA together with Hong Kong Youth Arts Foundation
organised BEA Festival, which aims to raise public awareness
of environmental protection, promote sustainable living to the
next generation, and demonstrate how small changes to our
everyday lives can make a huge difference to our planet.
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Cyber Security

The Group strives to adapt to the rapid pace of
technological change to improve the Bank’s services
for clients and enhance customer experience and is
committed to continually strengthening cyber security
capabilities including identification, prevention, detection,
and response to address the ever-evolving cyber threat
landscape, and protect our critical information assets and
systems from external malicious attacks.

Reputation

The Group does not tolerate any controllable activity
that could cause material damage to its reputation, and
protects its reputation with an established process of
managing reputation risk and by dealing with potential
threats to its reputation proactively and minimising the
effects of reputation risk events.

ESG Risks Including Climate Risk

The Group recognises the importance of sustainability
to long-term business success, and therefore considers
environmental and social concerns when extending
financing to customers, making investments and
conducting operations. This strategic direction guides
the Group towards supporting companies and projects
that positively impact the environment and society,
while complying with local regulations and standards of
governance. The Group is committed to managing and
mitigating environmental, social, and governance risks,
including climate risk, in a manner that is strategically
aligned with its Sustainability Vision and Mission
Statements, and reducing carbon emissions in its business
and operations.

Risk Management Framework

The Group has established a robust risk governance
and management framework that ensures appropriate
oversight of, and accountability for, the effective
management of risk.

This framework enables the Board and Senior
Management to administer risk management-related
responsibilities with appropriate delegation, checks
and balances.

The key aspects of the framework, principal risks and
principal uncertainties are outlined below.

Enterprise Risk Management

The Group manages risk on a Group-wide basis within
an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”’) framework. The
ERM framework spans multiple risk types and focuses on
optimising the balance and interaction of the different
types of risk, and the balance between risk and return.

The ERM framework provides an effective and efficient
approach to governance and oversight within the
organisation, and helps the Group monitor and
mitigate risk during the course of carrying out the
Group’s strategies.

Further, the ERM framework promotes risk awareness
throughout the organisation and facilitates better
operational and strategic decision-making, promoting
a strong risk culture and ensuring that operations
are compatible with the nature and level of risk that
stakeholders are willing to take.

Risk Governance

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for the
effective management of risk. It approves risk appetite,
risk policies that govern the execution of strategies,
procedures, and limits.

The Risk Committee stands at the highest level of the
Group’s risk governance structure under the Board.
It provides direct oversight of the formulation of the
Group’s risk appetite and ensures that the Group’s risk
appetite is reflected in the policies and procedures that
Senior Management adopts to execute business functions.

Risk management committees have been established
throughout the Group, and with the assistance of these
committees the Risk Committee regularly reviews the
Group’s ERM framework and ensures that all important
risk-related tasks are performed according to established
policies and with appropriate resources.
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Three Lines of Defence

The Group has adopted the “Three Lines of Defence” risk management structure to ensure that roles and responsibilities
with regard to risk management within the Group are clearly defined. The “Three Lines of Defence” model is
summarised below.

The First Line of Defence Comprises the Risk Owners, who are heads of business units or support units of the
Bank Group, together with staff under their purview.

They are responsible for the day-to-day management of risk within their units,
including establishing and executing specific risk-control mechanisms and detailed
procedures.

The Second Line of Defence Conisists of the Risk Controllers, who are designated staff responsible for setting out
a risk management governance framework, monitoring risks independently, and
supporting the management committees in their oversight of risk management for
the Bank Group.

The Third Line of Defence Internal Audit Division, which is responsible for providing assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management framework, including risk-governance
arrangements.

The Group Chief Risk Officer leads and coordinates all the Group’s risk management-related matters, works closely
with the Risk Controllers on the formulation of risk management policies, and exercises risk oversight at the Group level
through a functional working relationship with all Risk Controllers and Risk Owners.

Principal Risks

The Group faces a variety of risks that could affect its franchise, operations, and financial health. The principal risks that
have been identified under the ERM framework and how they are managed are set out in the following table.

Principal risk type How it is managed

Credit Risk The Group has established control limits, delegated lending authorities, underwriting
criteria, monitoring processes, internal rating structures, recovery procedures and
provisioning policies, and these are set out in the Group’s policies, guidelines and
manuals in line with regulatory requirements.

Interest Rate Risk The Group has established control limits and assesses the gap risk, basis risk and
options risk primarily through the monitoring of repricing mismatches and the
impact of changes in interest rates on earnings and economic value.

Market Risk The Group measures and monitors potential loss due to adverse price movements
and market volatility in accordance with the control limits set out in the Group’s
policies, guidelines and manuals.

Liquidity Risk The Group conducts cash-flow analysis to monitor funding needs and has a
contingency funding plan in place that clearly stipulates the procedures and
mitigating actions required to meet liquidity needs in crisis situations.

Operational Risk The Group has established and implemented a framework that defines the
standards, processes and internal controls for managing operational risks against risk
appetite through various tools and systems in a cost-effective manner.
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Principal risk type

How it is managed

Reputation Risk

The Group identifies, assesses, monitors, mitigates and controls reputation risk
systematically. Specific procedures and guidelines are in place to facilitate timely and
effective communication with various stakeholders in order to defuse any potential
reputation-risk incidents.

Strategic Risk

The Group formulates and updates its strategic plan (covering a period of five
years) annually to set strategic goals and objectives, evaluate strategic positions and
develop appropriate strategies according to the changing external environment and
internal capabilities.

Legal Risk

The Group has adopted comprehensive policies, guidelines and manuals. Qualified
internal personnel and/or external professionals are engaged to provide advice and
training courses.

Compliance Risk

The Group has established various policies, guidelines and manuals to ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. A risk-based approach is in place
to complement the management of compliance risk.

Technology Risk

The Group strengthens cyber-security awareness of all staff through comprehensive
training programmes and further mitigates technology risk by implementing a range
of control measures.

Risk Appetite

Risk Profile

Risk Appetite is set by the Board, and defines the
accepted and tolerated levels of risk and return from an
enterprise-wide perspective. The Risk Appetite Statement
consists of qualitative statements and quantitative
metrics, covering income-generating risks and non-
income-generating risks.

Key Developments

The Risk Profile report provides both a point-in-time view
and a forward-looking assessment of the suite of risk
categories, as well as an assessment of their potential
impact on the Group’s financial results, reputation and
business sustainability.

In 2022, the business environment of the Group faced multiple headwinds and challenges including troubled property
developers amid the struggling real estate sector in Mainland China, prolonged negative impact attributable to COVID-19,
and the impasse Russia-Ukraine conflict, all against the backdrop of global economic uncertainties under hiking interest

rates and inflationary pressures.

To this end, the Group has actively managed the associated risks. Specifically, the Group has enhanced its risk

management in the following areas in 2022:

< Additional resources have been allocated for management of special assets and credit monitoring so as to proactively
identify risk in the loan book and mitigate risks in a timely manner. In addition to enhanced credit control,
thematic reviews are regularly conducted on high-risk sectors and loan exposures that are most susceptible to the
current challenges, including the COVID-19 pandemic, citywide lockdowns in Mainland China, the Russia-Ukraine

conflict, and interest rate hikes.

« The Group continues to constantly review the operational risk management framework to keep abreast of regulatory
and industry developments. Major enhancements include refining the Incident and Issue Management framework
to manage material risks proactively and to assure sustainability; sharpening of anti-fraud control measures; and
updating the third-party risk management framework to align with regulatory expectations. The Group is also
committed to further investing and strengthening the Operational Resilience Framework to reinforce the agility of the

business and safeguard business stability.
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The Group recognises the importance of sustainability for the environment, society, and for the long-term business
success of the Group, and the risk appetite statement on ESG risks aligns strategically with the Group’s Sustainability
Vision and Mission Statements. In order to incorporate sustainable practices into all business and operational
initiatives, the Group launched the Green and Sustainable Finance Framework and enhanced the ESG risk-rating
mechanism and tool that enables systematic assessment of customers’ ESG performance and vulnerability to
climate-related risk. Furthermore, the Group has upgraded the risk management infrastructure by developing sector
policies for several high carbon-emitting industries, an internal green and brown taxonomy, an internal green
and sustainable finance certification standard, and key ESG risk indicators to support customers’ transition to a
low-carbon economy. The Group has also developed green finance, incorporated climate risk considerations into
strategy formulation, and controlled risk exposure to extreme climate events.

The Group is also aware of the benefits of automation and digitalisation. The Bank implemented a new workflow
system and has adopted the latest technologies to improve the daily risk management processes, data capture

capabilities and accuracies, and manpower allocation efficiencies.

Principal Uncertainties

The key uncertainties currently facing the Group and the mitigating measures implemented are set out below.

Principal Uncertainties

Mitigating Measures

Macro-economy

The global economy is still reeling from the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic and Russia-Ukraine conflict, and is
facing an increasingly murky and uncertain outlook.

Heightened geopolitical tensions have impeded global
trade and caused a global slowdown, while inflation
remains stubbornly high due to rising energy and
food prices, as well as supply-demand imbalances.
Higher-than-expected inflation, especially in the United
States and European economies, led to rapid monetary
tightening unseen in the past few decades. Considering
the multiple headwinds and challenges, the world may
soon be teetering on the edge of a global recession.

In particular, Mainland China’s growth has been
suppressed by the evolving pandemic conditions and
credit crunch in the property sector. The path to a full
economic rebound may be bumpy despite the relaxation
of COVID-19 control measures and stimulus measures to
support the crisis-stricken sectors.

In Hong Kong, the economy showed a widened
contraction amid deteriorating external and swiftly
tightening monetary environments, which have posed
immense pressure on its export performance and raised
the risk of property and stock market consolidation.

The Group will continue to monitor the market situation
and its portfolios closely in order to manage risk exposure.

From a credit risk perspective, the Bank continues to
identify potential adverse events and devise ways to
mitigate any impact on its capital adequacy and asset
quality. Such measures include enhanced credit control
on loan exposures most susceptible to the COVID-19
pandemic and the Russia-Ukraine conflict, thematic
reviews on high-risk sectors, and stress testing on capital
adequacy and loan-loss allowances. In response to the
uncertainties arising from the liquidity and refinancing
risk of the Mainland property sector, the Group is taking
a conservative approach, with accounts being monitored
closely. Overall credit exposure to the sector is being
reduced amidst the Group’s broader diversification
strategy. The Bank remains alert to the development of
the Mainland property market, and lending appetite has
become highly selective, with prudent and proactive credit
risk management adopted to control loan asset quality.

From a market and interest rate risk perspective, the
Bank continues to assess trends, manage exposures,
review its risk-taking strategy, and formulate mitigation
actions as necessary.

From a compliance risk perspective, the Bank continues
to track the development of relevant sanctioned regimes
and mitigate risk exposure where appropriate.




oooDooooDo 202200 41

godooooooooogao

- D0O0OO0OO0OOOCOOOOODOODOOOOOOOOCOOCOOOOOOOOOOOODOODOODOODOOn
oooooooooooooooooooooooobOobOobOobOOobOobOOobOobOOobOobOoDbOooO
tboooooooooooooooooooboobobOobobOoboobOoboobooboooboooboooboooo
obooboooocooooboooooooooooooooOoboobOOooOOobOoboobOoboobOobooOooon
oooooobooooooooooobooobOooobOobOoOoobOooobDOoOoobDboOoboooon
ooooooooooobooooooooooobooboobOooboooooooobOobOooboOobOoobogn
ooboobooboooboooooooooooboooon

- DO0OO0OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOODOOOOOOOOOOOODOOODOOOOOOOOOO

gbobooobooboboboooobaobgobodg

gogoooon

ooboobooobooobooooboooboobboobooooog

gboooooo

googo

oooo

gobooobobooboboooboooooon
oobooboooo

oboobooboooboooooboboooooon
ooodoooooooobobooooooooooon
oobooooboobobooboboooooooon
obooooooboboooboooooooooon
obobobobobooooooboobooon
ooboooboooon

obooooo0ooboobobooOooooooooon
ooooooooooooobooooooooon
obooooobobooooooooooooon
oobooobooboooboogoo

bobooobooboboooooooooon
oboooboobobooooooooooooon
oobD0o0obo0ooO0oooOooooooDo

gobbooobobooboboooboobooon
gooao

oogoooooboooooboooooooooo
gbooooooooocoooobooboooooo
gbooboobobooboooboooooooooooo
gbooooboboboooooboooboobooooo
gbooooooooocoooobooboobooooo
goobooooooooooocooooooooo
goooboobobooooooooooobooooo
gbooooooooooooooooocooooo
ooooboooobooboobooooooooooo
gooooboboobooooobooboooooooo
gboooooooooobooboobo

gbooooooooooooooobooboooboo
gboooobobooooooocooooooooo
oooooooooooo

goboboooboobobooobboooboooonn
goooooooooboogo




42 The Bank of East Asia, Limited | Annual Report 2022

REPORT OF THE CO-CHIEF EXECUTIVES (CONTINUED)

Principal Uncertainties

Mitigating Measures

Cyber-Security Risk

Cyber-security risk is a key focus area for regulators
and the banking industry, as these risks evolve rapidly.
Attackers are constantly seeking more sophisticated
and efficient ways to undermine banks’ cyber security
and operations.

The Group takes a multi-pronged approach to tackle
cyber-security risk and improve cyber resilience:

e Engage external consultants to assess the
Group’s cyber-security controls against relevant
information-security standards and emerging risks to
identify and implement necessary improvements

* Analyse different intelligence sources to monitor the
latest worldwide threats and establish industry-wide
collaborations on sharing of cyber threat intelligence

 Maintain a proper incident response management
process including cyber-security insurance policy

 Enhance cyber and information-security training
programmes including periodic phishing e-mail tests
to promote security awareness among staff and
improve security practices

e Cyber and information security risks and controls are
regularly reviewed and reported to directors in Risk
Committee meetings quarterly

ESG

Climate change poses both short and long-term risks
to the banking industry. “Physical risk™ refers to the
impacts of weather and climate-related events, which
could lead to disruptions to the business and operations
of banks and their clients. “Transition risk” refers to
the risk related to the process of adjustment towards a
low-carbon economy, which can be prompted by policy,
legal, technology and market changes as climate-change
mitigation and adaptation measures are adopted.

To manage the potential risks from ESG and cultivate ESG
consciousness throughout the Group, BEA has:

e Developed a Green and Sustainable Finance
Framework and sector policies for several high
carbon-emitting industries to control the Group’s risk
exposure to “brown sectors” and support customers’
transition to a low-carbon economy

 Formulated an Internal Green and Brown Taxonomy,
with reference to the EU Taxonomy for Sustainable
Activities and China’s Green Bond Endorsed Projects
Catalogue, to assist business units in developing and
identifying green and sustainable finance opportunities
and controlling risk exposure to ““brown sectors”

« Designed an Internal Green and Sustainable Finance
Certification Standard and a list of external reviewer
to ensure green and sustainable finance applications
are aligned with international standards and qualified
as green finance

* Incorporated climate risk considerations in the
screening and assessment of credit applications
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Principal Uncertainties

Mitigating Measures

ESG (continued)

« Expanded the prohibited lending list to include wider
business activities that create material negative
environmental or social impacts

e Disclosed the Bank’s ESG / climate risks and
opportunities in the Group’s 2021 ESG Report in
accordance with the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures framework

= Promoted ESG awareness and capacity building
among staff members through external and internal
events including industry webinars, mandatory
training, and internal communications

* Introduced quantitative metrics to complement the
qualitative risk appetite statement on ESG / climate risk

COMPLIANCE

Compliance is an integral part of the Group’s corporate
governance regime, and the Group is committed to
upholding the highest standards in all jurisdictions in
which it operates.

The Compliance Division is responsible for overseeing
the regulatory compliance framework and monitoring
compliance risks for the Group; communicating new
regulatory requirements to relevant units; delivering
compliance advice on the implementation of regulations;
conducting regulatory compliance reviews using a
risk-based approach; and regularly reporting compliance
matters to the Group’s management committees.

By order of the Board
Adrian David LI Man-kiu

Co-Chief Executive

Hong Kong, 16th February, 2023

Any significant compliance issues, including those
related to anti-money laundering (“AML”) and
counter-financing of terrorism (“CFT”), are also reported
to the Risk Committee and the Board of Directors via
the management committees. Through the support
of the risk and compliance function established in the
Bank’s business and support units — which act as the first
line of defence against regulatory non-compliance — a
comprehensive and efficient compliance risk management
framework is maintained.

The Group is fully prepared to meet the demands of the
evolving regulatory environment — including those related
to AML and CFT; international standards and regulatory
changes in jurisdictions where the Group has a presence;
cross-boundary business; investment and insurance
products sales practices; customer protection, particularly
in a digitalised environment; personal data protection;
and all other relevant requirements.

Brian David LI Man-bun

Co-Chief Executive
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DIRECTORS

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po

GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, MA Cantab. (Economics & Law), Hon. LLD
(Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA
(Edinburgh Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon. LLD (Hong
Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt (Macquarie), Hon. DSocSc
(CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITP, Officier
de I'Ordre de la Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of the Star of
Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays with Neck
Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur
Executive Chairman and Member of the Nomination Committee

Sir David, aged 84, joined the Bank in 1969. He was appointed
a Director in 1977, Chief Executive in 1981, Deputy Chairman in
1995 and Chairman in 1997. On 1st July, 2019, Sir David stepped
down as Chief Executive and was re-designated as Executive
Chairman of the Bank. Sir David is also the Chairman of BEA China
and The Bank of East Asia Charitable Foundation Limited.

Sir David is an Independent Non-executive Director of The Hong
Kong and China Gas Company Limited (listed in Hong Kong), The
Hongkong and Shanghai Hotels, Limited (listed in Hong Kong),
San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (listed in Hong Kong). He was
an Independent Non-executive Director of Guangdong Investment
Limited (listed in Hong Kong).

Sir David is a Member of the Council of the Treasury Markets
Association. He is Founding Chairman of The Friends of Cambridge
University in Hong Kong Limited, Chairman of the Advisory Board
of The Salvation Army Hong Kong and Macau Territory, Chairman
of the Executive Committee of St. James’ Settlement and a Fellow
of the Hong Kong Academy of Finance. He was a Member of
the Executive Council of Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008 and the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1985 to 2012.

Sir David is the brother of Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung, the
cousin of Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing and Mr. Stephen Charles LI
Kwok-sze, and the father of Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu and Mr.
Brian David LI Man-bun.
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Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung

GBM, GBS, MA, MD, M.B.B.Chir (Cantab), DSc (Hon), DLitt (Hon),
Hon DSc (Med), LLD (Hon), Hon Doc (Soka), Hon Doc (KNUA), FRCS
(Eng & Edin), FRACS, Hon FACS, Hon FRCS (Glasg & 1), Hon FRSM,
Hon FPCS, Hon FCSHK, Hon FRCP (Lond), JP

Deputy Chairman, Non-executive Director, Member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee

Professor Li, aged 77, was a Director of the Bank (1995 - 2002) and
was re-appointed a Director in 2008 and was appointed a Deputy
Chairman in 2009.

Professor Li is a Member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR (he
was also a Member from 2002 to June 2007 and from July 2012
to June 2017). He also serves as a Member of the Committee for
the Basic Law of the HKSAR under the Standing Committee of
the National People’s Congress. Professor Li was a Member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (1998 - 2018).

Professor Li is an Independent Non-executive Director of Shangri-La
Asia Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and a Non-executive Director
of Greater Bay Airlines Company Limited. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Nature Home Holding Company Limited
(listing in Hong Kong withdrawn on 19th October, 2021).

Professor Li was the Secretary for Education and Manpower of
the Government of HKSAR (2002 - June 2007). Before these
appointments, he was the Vice Chancellor of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong (1996 — 2002) and was the Chairman of Department
of Surgery and the Dean of Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was also the Chairman of the Council
of the University of Hong Kong.

Professor Li had held many important positions in various social
service organisations, medical associations, and educational bodies,
including the Education Commission, Committee on Science
and Technology, the Hospital Authority, the Hong Kong Medical
Council, the University Grants Committee, the College of Surgeons
of Hong Kong, and the United Christian Medical Services Board. He
was a Member of the Board of Directors of the Hong Kong Science
and Technology Parks Corporation and the Hong Kong Applied
Science and Technology Research Institute, and Vice President of
the Association of University Presidents of China. He was a Hong
Kong Affairs Adviser to China.

Professor Li is the brother of Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po,
the cousin of Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing and Mr. Stephen Charles LI
Kwok-sze, and the uncle of Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu and Mr.
Brian David LI Man-bun.
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Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun

GBS, MBE, BSc, MSEE, Hon. DTech, JP

Deputy Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman
of the Nomination Committee, Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee

Dr. Wong, aged 72, was appointed a Director in 1995 and a Deputy
Chairman in 2009. He is the Chairman and Group Chief Executive
Officer of VTech Holdings Limited (listed in Hong Kong). Dr. Wong
is an Independent Non-executive Director of China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Ltd. (listed in Hong Kong). He was an
Independent Non-executive Director of MTR Corporation Limited
(listed in Hong Kong) and Li & Fung Ltd (listing in Hong Kong
withdrawn on 27th May, 2020).

Dr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
degree in electrical and computer engineering from the University
of Wisconsin and an honorary degree of Doctor of Technology from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing

ScB, MBA
Non-executive Director and Member of the Risk Committee

Mr. Li, aged 73, was appointed a Director in 1995. He is Chairman
of IAM Family Office Limited and Chairman of the Advisory
Board of MCL Financial Group Limited, both Hong Kong based
investment firms. Mr. Li possesses extensive experience in the fields
of investment banking, merchant banking and capital markets. He
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of Café de Coral
Holdings Limited (listed in Hong Kong), Kowloon Development
Co. Ltd (listed in Hong Kong) and Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (listed in Hong Kong). He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Kunlun Energy Company Limited (listed
in Hong Kong) and Tai Ping Carpets International Limited (listed in
Hong Kong).

Mr. Li has an ScB in Civil Engineering from Brown University and a
Master of Business Administration from Columbia University.

Mr. Li is the cousin of Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, Professor
Arthur LI Kwok-cheung and Mr. Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze, and
the uncle of Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu and Mr. Brian David LI
Man-bun.
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Mr. Winston LO Yau-lai

SBS, BSc, MSc
Non-executive Director

Mr. Lo, aged 81, was appointed a Director in 2000. He is the
Executive Chairman of Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (listed
in Hong Kong).

Mr. Lo graduated from the University of lllinois with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Food Science and gained his Master of Science
degree in Food Science from Cornell University.

Mr. Lo is the Chairman of Ping Ping Investment Company Ltd. He is
an Honorary Court Member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and a Life Member of Cornell University Council.
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Mr. Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze

BSc (Hons.), ACA
Non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 63, was appointed a Director in 2006. He is a
Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons.) Degree in
Mathematics from King’s College, University of London, U.K. He
has extensive experience in investment banking, having held senior
capital markets positions with international investment banks in
London and Hong Kong and board positions with international
investment funds.

Mr. Li is a member of the Executive Committee and the Honorary
Treasurer of The Keswick Foundation.

Mr. Li is the cousin of Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, Professor
Arthur LI Kwok-cheung and Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing, and the uncle
of Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu and Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun.
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Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu

BBS, MA (Cantab), MBA, LPC, JP
Co-Chief Executive and Member of the Environmental, Social, and
Governance Committee

Mr. Li, aged 49, was appointed an Executive Director in 2014.
He first joined the Bank in 2000 as General Manager & Head
of Corporate Banking Division. He was appointed Deputy Chief
Executive in April 2009 and Co-Chief Executive in July 2019, and is
responsible for overall management and control of the Bank Group
with a particular focus on its Hong Kong business. He serves on the
boards of several Bank Group members as Chairman or Member.

Mr. Li is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of two
listed companies under the Sino Group (Sino Land Company Limited
(listed in Hong Kong) and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (listed
in Hong Kong)), China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited
(listed in Hong Kong). He previously served as a Non-executive
Director of The Berkeley Group Holdings plc (listed in London).
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Mr. Li is a Member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and a Counsellor of
the Hong Kong United Youth Association. He is Chairman of The
Chinese Banks’ Association, Vice President of The Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers’ Council and a Member of the MPF Industry
Schemes Committee of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. He is a Board Member of The Community Chest of
Hong Kong and serves on its Executive Committee, a Member
of the Advisory Board of The Salvation Army Hong Kong and
Macau Territory, and a Trustee of The University of Hong Kong’s
occupational retirement schemes. Furthermore, he serves as a
Member of the Election Committees responsible for electing
the Chief Executive and Legislative Council Members of the
HKSAR as well as deputies of the HKSAR to the 14th National
People’s Congress.

Mr. Li holds a Master of Management Degree from Kellogg School
of Management, Northwestern University in the US, and a Master
of Arts Degree and Bachelor of Arts Degree in Law from the
University of Cambridge in Britain. He is a Member of The Law
Society of England and Wales, and The Law Society of Hong Kong.
He is also a Member of the Hong Kong Academy of Finance and
has been conferred as an Honorary Certified Banker by The Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers. Mr. Li was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star by the Government of the HKSAR in 2022 in recognition of his
contributions to the community.

Mr. Li is the son of Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, the nephew
of Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung, Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing and
Mr. Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze, and the brother of Mr. Brian
David LI Man-bun.
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Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun

JP, MA (Cantab), MBA, FCA
Co-Chief Executive and Member of the Environmental, Social, and
Governance Committee

Mr. Li, aged 48, was appointed an Executive Director in 2014. He
first joined the Bank Group in 2002. He was General Manager
& Head of Wealth Management Division of the Bank from July
2004 to March 2009. He was appointed Deputy Chief Executive in
April 2009 and Co-Chief Executive in July 2019. He is responsible
for the overall management and control of the Bank Group with
a particular focus on its China and international businesses. He
serves on the boards of several Bank Group members as Chairman
or as a Member.

Mr. Li is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of
Towngas Smart Energy Company Limited (listed in Hong Kong),
Shenzhen Investment Holdings Bay Area Development Company
Limited (listed in Hong Kong), China Overseas Land & Investment
Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and Guangdong Investment Limited
(listed in Hong Kong).

Mr. Li holds a number of public and honorary positions, including
being a Member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and a Deputy Director of its
Committee on Social and Legal Affairs, a Council Member of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council, a Director of the Financial
Services Development Council, a Member of the Process Review
Panel for the Securities and Futures Commission, a Member of the
Disaster Relief Fund Advisory Committee, and a Vice Chairman of
the Asian Financial Cooperation Association.

Mr. Li is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. He is also a Member of the Hong Kong Academy of
Finance, an Honorary Certified Banker of The Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers and a Full Member of the Treasury Markets Association.
He holds an MBA degree from Stanford University as well as a BA
degree from the University of Cambridge.

Mr. Li is the son of Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, the nephew
of Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung, Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing and
Mr. Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze, and the brother of Mr. Adrian
David LI Man-kiu.
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Dr. Daryl NG Win-kong

SBS, BA, MSc, DHL, JP
Non-executive Director and Member of the Risk Committee

Dr. Ng, aged 44, was appointed a Director in 2015. He is currently
an Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of Sino Land Company
Limited (listed in Hong Kong), Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (listed
in Hong Kong) and Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited (listed in Hong
Kong). He is also the Chairman, Non-independent & Non-executive
Director of Yeo Hiap Seng Limited (listed in Singapore).

Dr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics, a Master
Degree of Science in Real Estate Development from Columbia
University in New York and an Honorary Doctor of Humane Letters
Degree from Savannah College of Art and Design. He was awarded
an Honorary University Fellowship by Hong Kong Metropolitan
University in 2016 and was conferred Honorary Fellow of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2021.

Dr. Ng is a member of the Global Leadership Council of Columbia
University in the City of New York, a member of the 10th
Sichuan Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”), a member of the Standing Committee of
the 14th Beijing Municipal Committee of the CPPCC, a member of
the 10th and 11th Committees of the All-China Youth Federation
and the Deputy Chairman of the Chongging Youth Federation. He
is the President of Hong Kong United Youth Association, a Council
Member of the Hong Kong Committee for UNICEF, a Council
Member of The Hong Kong Management Association, an Advisor
of Our Hong Kong Foundation, a Council Member of Hong Kong
Chronicles Institute Limited, a Council Member of the Employers’
Federation of Hong Kong, a Member of the Board of Hong Kong
Science and Technology Parks Corporation, the Chairman of
Greater Bay Area Homeland Youth Community Foundation Limited,
a Member of the Board of Mind Mental Health Hong Kong Limited,
a member of the Estate Agents Authority of the Government of
HKSAR, a member of the Council of the University of Hong Kong,
a Member of the Court of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a member of NUS Medicine International Council
at the Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine of National University of
Singapore, a member of International Advisory Council of Singapore
Management University, a member of the Board of M Plus Museum
Limited, a Member of the National Heritage Board, Singapore, a
Director of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong
and a Director of The Community Chest of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Masayuki OKU

LL.B, LL.M, the Order of Industrial Service Merit Silver Tower
Non-executive Director and Member of the Nomination Committee

Mr. Oku, aged 78, was appointed a Director in 2015. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of Chugai Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Rengo Co., Ltd., The Royal Hotel, Limited and TV
TOKYO Holdings Corporation, all of which are companies listed in
Japan. Mr. Oku is also the Honorary Advisor of Sumitomo Mitsui
Financial Group, Inc. (“SMFG™)" (listed in Japan and USA). He
was an Auditor of Nankai Electric Railway Co. Ltd. (listed in Japan)
and an Independent Non-executive Director of Komatsu Ltd. (listed
in Japan).

Mr. Oku began his career in 1968 at The Sumitomo Bank, Limited.
After engaging in the bank’s key acquisitions and investments in
the 1980’s, he was transferred to New York and appointed General
Manager of Chicago Branch in 1991. He returned to Tokyo in
1992, assumed the position of General Manager of the Corporate
Planning Department, and was elected as a member of the Board
of Directors of the bank in 1994. In 1999, Mr. Oku was appointed
Secretary General of the Integration Strategy Committee of the
bank, leading its merger process with The Sakura Bank, Limited,
which culminated in the formation of Sumitomo Mitsui Banking
Corporation (“SMBC™)" in 2001. In 2003, he became Deputy
President of SMBC, heading Corporate Banking and International
Banking Units. In 2005, he was appointed President and CEO of
SMBC and Chairman of the Board of SMFG, the holding company
of SMBC. During his tenure as President and CEO of SMBC, he
also served as Chairman of Japanese Bankers Association in 2007
and 2010. In April 2011, he resigned as President and CEO of
SMBC to devote himself to his duties as Chairman of the Board of
SMFG. Mr. Oku also served as Vice Chairman of Keidanren (Japan
Business Federation) from 2011 to 2015. In April 2017, Mr. Oku
stepped down as Chairman of the Board of SMFG and remained as
a Director until 28th June, 2017.

Mr. Oku received his Bachelor of Law degree from Kyoto
University in 1968 and his Master of Laws (LL.M) degree from
Michigan Law School in 1975. He was awarded the Order of
Industrial Service Merit Silver Tower by the Government of the
Republic of Korea in 2009.

Nete SMFG owns a 100% interest in SMBC. Both SMFG and SMBC are substantial
shareholders of the Bank as defined under the Listing Rules and within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, the details of which are disclosed in the
“Interests of Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons” section of the
Report of the Directors.
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Dr. the Hon. Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai

GBM, GBS, DSocSc, JP
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Member of the Nomination Committee

Dr. Fan, aged 77, was appointed a Director in 2016. She is
currently an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Overseas Land & Investment Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and
COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited (listed in Hong Kong).

Dr. Fan is one of Hong Kong’s best-known public figures and has
an outstanding track record of community service. Dr. Fan was
appointed to the Legislative Council from 1983 to 1992 and was a
Member of the Executive Council from 1989 to 1992. She became
the President of the Provisional Legislative Council in 1997, and
has since been re-elected as the President of the First, Second
and Third Legislative Council until 30th September, 2008. Dr. Fan
served as President of the legislature of the HKSAR for 11 years.

In the lead-up to Hong Kong’s reunification with China, Dr. Fan
played a valuable role as a Member of the Preliminary Working
Committee for the Preparatory Committee for the HKSAR from
1993 to 1995 and of the Preparatory Committee for the HKSAR
from 1995 to 1997. She was elected as a Hong Kong Deputy to
the 9th, 10th, 11th, and 12th sessions of the National People’s
Congress (“NPC”) during 1998 to 2018, and was concurrently a
Member of the Standing Committee of the 11th and 12th sessions
of the NPC from 2008 to 2018. Dr. Fan is a Non-official Member
of the Candidate Eligibility Review Committee of the HKSAR. She
is also serving as the Chairman of Board of Management of the
Endeavour Education Centre Limited and the Endeavour Education
Trust and a Member of Hong Kong Laureate Forum Council.

After graduating from St. Stephen’s Girls’ College, Dr. Fan studied
at the University of Hong Kong, and was awarded a Bachelor
degree in Science and a Master degree in Social Science. She was
awarded Honorary Doctorate degrees in Social Science by the
University of Hong Kong, the City University of Hong Kong, the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and the Education University
of Hong Kong; and an Honorary Doctorate in Law from the China
University of Political Science and Law of the People’s Republic
of China. Her record of public service was acknowledged by the
HKSAR Government through the award of the Gold Bauhinia Star
in 1998 and Hong Kong’s top award, the Grand Bauhinia Medal,
in 2007.
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Mr. Meocre LI Kwok-wing

BCom, CPA
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Member of the Risk Committee

Mr. Li, aged 67, was appointed a Director in 2016. He is the Chief
Executive of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings Limited.

Mr. Li was the Managing Partner of Arthur Andersen, one of the
major international accounting firms, taking charge of its Hong
Kong and China operations from September 1993 to February
1995. He was the Managing Director and Head of Corporate
Finance of NatWest Securities Asia from March 1995 to March
1998. He was the Chief Executive of ICEA Finance Holdings Limited
(from March 1998 to March 2002), an investment banking joint
venture between The Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
and the Bank, prior to the company’s becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Bank, which was subsequently renamed as
Tung Shing Holdings Company Limited and disposed to SinoPac
Securities (Cayman) Holdings Limited on 6th April, 2016. He was an
Independent Non-executive Director of BEA China (from May 2016
to July 2022).

Mr. Li received a Bachelor of Commerce degree, with distinction,
from University of Alberta, Canada. Upon graduation, he was
awarded the Financial Executives Institute Silver Medal for “Highest
Standing in Finance”. He also earned a Postgraduate Management
Diploma from the Harvard Business School, and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen

GBM, GBS, JP

Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Risk
Committee, Member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee

Dr. Tang, aged 70, was appointed a Director in 2017. He was the
Chief Secretary for Administration of the HKSAR Government from
2007 to 2011 and the Financial Secretary of the HKSAR Government
from 2003 to 2007. He served as a member of the Executive Council
of Hong Kong from 1997 to 2011 and was a member of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1991 to 1998.

Dr. Tang is a Standing Committee Member of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference, Chairman of the West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority Board, Chairman of Friends of Hong
Kong Association and the Chairman of Shanghai Tang Junyuan
Education Foundation.

Dr. Tang received a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University
of Michigan. In 1993, Dr. Tang was named Global Leader for
Tomorrow by the World Economic Forum. In 1989, he won the
Young Industrialist of Hong Kong award.

Dr. Tang is the Supervisor of BEA China.

goodd

GBM, GBS, JP
oooooooooooooooooon
ooooooooooooooog

goboogoogvoobOozo170no0O0O0Od
uboboooooooobooboaod
gbogdz2o0700gz0110b00oooOod
gzo0030020070@OOOOoooOOOO
gobi199700 2011000 0000000
019910 0 19980 I

ubobooobooboooobooabobood
oobbooboooobbooooboDbo
ubobooobooboooobooabobood
ogooogd

O 00000 0O 0O 0O0University of
MichiganOO O 00000 0O 0O 19930 O
oooooooooooooooomo
19890 0000000000DOO0O0ODODO

ooboooboobooo



60 The Bank of East Asia, Limited | Annual Report 2022

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Dooooodoododoooooogad

Dr. Delman LEE

BEng, DPhil

Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the
Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee, Member
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Risk Committee

Dr. Lee, aged 55, was appointed a Director in 2017. He is
currently the Vice Chairman of TAL Apparel Limited. He is also a
Non-executive Director of Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(listed in Hong Kong). He was a Non-executive Director of Dairy
Farm International Holdings Limited (listed in London, Bermuda
and Singapore).

Dr. Lee is a Council Member of The Hong Kong Management
Association. Dr. Lee possesses extensive experience in information
technology and management in global operations. He also has a
strong background in research.

Dr. Lee holds a doctorate from the University of Oxford and a
Bachelor’s degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the
Imperial College, London.
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Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO

BA, MA (Oxon), JP

Independent Non-executive Director, Member of the Audit
Committee, the Risk Committee and the Environmental, Social, and
Governance Committee

Mr. Doo, aged 49, was appointed a Director in 2019. He is currently
the Chief Executive Officer and Director of Fungseng Prosperity
Holdings Limited, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director of FSE Holdings Limited, an Executive Director of FSE
Lifestyle Services Limited (listed in Hong Kong) and a Non-executive
Director of NWS Holdings Limited (listed in Hong Kong).

Mr. Doo is a solicitor admitted in Hong Kong and is currently a
non-practising solicitor in England and Wales. He had legal practice
experience in one of the largest global law firms specialising
in finance and corporate transactions. He is a Member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He serves in different committees of the Government
of HKSAR, including a member of the Standing Committee on
Young Offenders of Fight Crime Committee, a member of the
Correctional Services Department Complaints Appeal Board,
a member of the Election Committee and a member of the
Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption.

Mr. Doo graduated from University of Oxford with B.A. and M.A.
degrees in Jurisprudence and he is elected as Foundation Fellow
of Wadham College, University of Oxford and a member of
Chancellor’s Court of Benefactors, University of Oxford. He was
appointed as Justice of the Peace, and was awarded the honour
of Chevalier de I'Ordre National du Mérite by the President of the
French Republic.
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Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung

BScEE, DSocSc, DBA, The Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays with
Neck Ribbon

Independent Non-executive Director, Member of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Environmental,
Social, and Governance Committee

Dr. Mong, aged 60, was appointed a Director in 2021. He is
currently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Shun Hing
Group, which has been the exclusive regional representative of a
famous brand of home appliances, Panasonic (formerly National),
for many decades. He is the President of the Hong Kong & Kowloon
Electrical Appliances Merchants Association Limited and the Vice
Chairman of Occupational Safety and Health Council.

Dr. Mong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering,
University of California, Los Angeles and a Master of Business
Administration, Santa Clara University, California. Dr. Mong was
conferred Doctoral Degrees of Social Sciences, honoris causa from
the University of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Baptist University
and Doctoral Degree of Business Administration, honoris causa
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Mong is an Honorary
Fellow of the University of Hong Kong and the Chinese University
of Hong Kong, as well as a Fellow of The Hong Kong Management
Association. He was awarded the Order of the Rising Sun, Gold
Rays with Neck Ribbon by the Government of Japan.

Dr. Mong was an Independent Non-executive Director of Blue Cross
(Asia-Pacific) Insurance Limited and Blue Care JV (BVI) Holdings
Limited (until disposal of the companies by the Bank Group in
August 2022).
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Dr. Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT
Non-executive Director and Member of the Nomination Committee

Dr. Serrado, aged 64, was appointed a Director in 2021. He
is currently the Asia Regional Manager of Criteria Caixa, S.A.,
Sociedad Unipersonal*°® (“Criteria”). He possesses extensive
knowledge and skills and has more than 35 years of experience in
banking and finance-related industries, including about 30 years of
experience working in Mainland China. His major responsibilities
include overseeing the operations (including establishment) of
banking and finance entities of Criteria in Mainland China and
other regions in Asia. Dr. Serrado was the Asia Regional Manager
of CaixaBank, S.A. (listed in Spain) since 2007 until February 2022.

Among other academic and professional qualifications, Dr. Serrado
holds a PhD degree in Economics from Columbia University; a PhD
in Economics from the University of Philippines Diliman; and an
MBA degree from The London School of Economics and Political
Science. He was awarded the Cross of the Order of Civil Merit (2020)
at the behest of His Majesty King Felipe VI of Spain in recognition
for his achievements in economic cooperation, investment and
trade between the People’s Republic of China and Spain.

Note - Criteria is 100% owned by Fundacion Bancaria Caixa d‘Estalvis i Pensions de
Barcelona, “la Caixa” (“la Caixa”). Both Criteria and “la Caixa” are substantial
shareholders of the Bank as defined under the Listing Rules and within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, the details of which are disclosed in the
“Interests of Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons” section of the
Report of the Directors.
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Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu ooooo

BBS, MA (Cantab), MBA, LPC, JP BBS, MA (Cantab), MBA, LPC, JP
Co-Chief Executive oooooo

(Biographical details are set out on pages 52 and 53) 000000000 s205300

Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun ooooo
JP, MA (Cantab), MBA, FCA JP, MA (Cantab), MBA, FCA
Co-Chief Executive ooo0oon

Bi hical detail t 4
(Biographical details are set out on page 54) 0000000005400
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Mr. Samson LI
Kai-cheong

FCCA, CPA, FCG, HKFCG,
HKSI

Deputy Chief Executive &
Chief Investment Officer

Mr. Li, aged 62, joined
the Bank in 1987 as
Chief Internal Auditor.

+

He was promoted to Deputy Chief Executive & Chief Investment
Officer in April 2009. Mr. Li is primarily responsible for the Bank’s
investment activities and treasury operations. He is also a Director
of various members of the Bank Group and a Member of various
committees appointed by the Board.

Mr. Li is a Fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute, The Chartered Governance Institute, and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. In addition, he is an Associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr.
Li received his Professional Diploma in Accountancy from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. TONG
Hon-shing

BSc, ACIB, FCG, HKFCG,
Fellow CB

Deputy Chief Executive &
Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Tong, aged 63,
!' joined the Bank in
1975. He was promoted
to Assistant General Manager in 1995 and to General Manager
in 2000. He was General Manager & Head of Personal Banking
Division from 2001 to March 2009. He was further promoted
to Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Operating Officer in April
2009. Mr. Tong is primarily responsible for operations support,
compliance, human resources, and corporate communications
of the Bank. He is also a Director of various members of the
Bank Group and a Member of various committees appointed by
the Board. Mr. Tong is a Fellow Certified Banker of The Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers, a Fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute as
well as an Associate of The Chartered Institute of Bankers. He holds
a BSc from the University of Manchester.
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SPECIAL ADVISOR TO THE BOARD

Dr. Isidro FAINE CASAS

BOARD

Executive Directors

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po
(Executive Chairman)

Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu
(Co-Chief Executive)

Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun
(Co-Chief Executive)

Non-executive Directors

Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung
(Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing

Mr. Winston LO Yau-lai

Mr. Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze

Dr. Daryl NG Win-kong

Mr. Masayuki OKU

Dr. Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun
(Deputy Chairman)

Dr. the Hon. Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai
Mr. Meocre LI Kwok-wing

Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen
Dr. Delman LEE

Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO
Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Meocre LI Kwok-wing* (Chairman)
Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun*

Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen*
Dr. Delman LEE*

Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO*

Nomination Committee

Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun* (Chairman)
Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po
Mr. Masayuki OKU

Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen*
Dr. the Hon. Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai*
Dr. Delman LEE*

Dr. Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT
Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung

Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung*

Remuneration Committee

Dr. the Hon. Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai* (Chairman)
Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun*

Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen*
Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung

Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung*

Risk Committee

Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen* (Chairman)
Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun*

Mr. Aubrey LI Kwok-sing

Dr. Daryl NG Win-kong

Mr. Meocre LI Kwok-wing*

Dr. Delman LEE*

Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO*

Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee

Dr. Delman LEE* (Chairman)

Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu

Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun

Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO*
Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung*

* Independent Non-executive Director

googoodad

gogoobbn

googd

oooooxwooo
ooooog»*
ooooo»*
ooooog»*
ooooog»*

googd

oooooxyooo

ooood

oooog

ooooog*

goooooag*

opoooog*

Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPATC O
opoood

opoooog*

googd

ooooooyoog
ooooo»*
ooooog»*
oooog
oopooog»*

googd

ooooovwooo
ooooog»*
ogboood
gooog
gooogx*
ooooog»*
ooooo»*

goodoooooogo

ooobooxyooo
oooog
ooood
ooooo»*
ooooog»*

*Oooooooo



68 The Bank of East Asia, Limited | Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Oo0Oo0ooooo

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po

GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, MA Cantab. (Economics & Law), Hon. LLD
(Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA
(Edinburgh Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon. LLD
(Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt (Macquarie),
Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB,
FBCS, CITP, Officier de I'Ordre de la Couronne, Grand Officer of
the Order of the Star of Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising
Sun, Gold Rays with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I’Ordre

National de la Légion d’Honneur

SENIOR ADVISOR

Mr. CHAN Tze-ching
BBS, JP

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Co-Chief Executives
Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu
BBS, MA (Cantab), MBA, LPC, JP

Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun
JP, MA (Cantab), MBA, FCA

Deputy Chief Executive & Chief Investment Officer

Mr. Samson LI Kai-cheong
FCCA, CPA, FCG, HKFCG, HKSI

Deputy Chief Executive & Chief Operating Officer

Mr. TONG Hon-shing
BSc, ACIB, FCG, HKFCG, Fellow CB

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Alson LAW Chun-tak
FCCA, FCPA, FCG, HKFCG

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

goon

ooooo

GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, MA Cantab. (Economics &
Lawy), Hon. LLD (Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial),
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Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon.
LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan),
Hon. DLitt (Macquarie), Hon. DSocSc (CUHK),
FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS,
CITP, Officier de I'Ordre de la Couronne, Grand
Officer of the Order of the Star of Italian
Solidarity, The Order of the Rising Sun, Gold
Rays with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans
I"Ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur
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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
goooobobbboon

1. Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po
goood

2. Mr. Adrian David LI Man-kiu
ooooo

3. Mr. Brian David LI Man-bun
oooono

4. Mr. Samson LI Kai-cheong
goood

5. Mr. TONG Hon-shing
gooood
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With about 130 outlets worldwide, BEA operates an extensive international network covering Hong Kong and the rest of
Greater China, Southeast Asia, the United Kingdom, and the United States.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and considers such commitment essential
in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers, employees and other relevant stakeholders; and in upholding
accountability and transparency.

The Bank has in place a Corporate Governance Framework which identifies all the key participants of the Group and
their roles in the application of effective governance policies and processes. A Corporate Governance Policy has also been
established to direct and guide the business conducts and affairs of the Group.

This report highlights key corporate governance practices and activities of the Group during the year ended 31st
December, 2022.

Governance Overview

Board Features

* Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate

* 7 out of 17 Directors are INEDs, representing an INED ratio of 41%

e Credible and influential INEDs

« Competent Board consisting of Directors with diverse expertise and experience

Board Practices and Activities at a Glance

e 7 Board and 14 Board Committee meetings in 2022

e 98% attendance rate of Board meetings

« Sound induction and continuous development training programmes with 58 training activities arranged for Directors

« Review of Strategic Plan and Risk Appetite

* Annual review of Corporate Governance Framework

« Annual review of Management Succession Plan

« Annual evaluation of Board performance and Directors’ contribution to the effectiveness of the Board

= Periodic review of the progress of Bank Culture Reform

* Review of the ESG Report

Corporate Governance Practices

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Bank has complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Bank has also followed the modules on CG-1, CG-5, Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs, and the circular on Bank
Culture Reform issued by the HKMA. In supporting prudent risk management and upholding high ethical standards in
the banking industry, the Bank has published, among others, the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Statement; the Slavery
and Human Trafficking Statement; the Whistleblowing Policy; the Statement on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Financing of Terrorism and the Human Rights Policy on the website of the Bank.

The Bank has established its own code of securities transactions to be observed by Directors and Chief Executive, i.e.
Policy on Insider Dealing — Directors and Chief Executive (“Bank’s Policy”) on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Appendix 10 — Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code™)
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry by the Bank, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Bank’s Policy at all the applicable time during the year ended 31st
December, 2022.

Moreover, the Bank has established a Policy on Insider Dealing — Group Personnel to be observed by the employees of the
Bank or directors or employees of the Bank’s subsidiaries, in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Bank.
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BEA's Culture

The Bank strives to foster a positive working culture in which our people are inspired to do their best for BEA, our
customers, and our community. Central to our success is a set of business principles and ethics that defines our vision,
mission and values.

Our Bank Culture Work Group (“BCWG™) monitors and evaluates bank culture status and devises enhancement initiatives
for each division. The BCWG aims to foster a sound Bank-wide culture by promoting BEA’s core values and developing
strategic initiatives in accordance with HKMA's three pillars of governance, incentive systems, and assessment and
feedback mechanisms. The BCWG holds quarterly meetings to review action plans and ensure that initiatives support risk
management and internal controls to effectively promote the desired culture. The BCWG, which reports to the Bank's
Remuneration Committee, is chaired by the Group Head of People & Sustainability Division and overseen by the Bank’s
Executive Committee.

The Bank’s Culture Dashboard is a key tool used by the BCWG to monitor and evaluate Bank-wide performance on
a quarterly basis. Through the dashboard, we collect employee feedback alongside other key bank culture indicators
including customer complaints and compliments, and customer satisfaction level. All the data gathered from the Culture
Dashboard is used to devise enhancement initiatives that effectively promote our desired culture.

Another invaluable tool we use to track and improve our performance is the annual Bank-wide employee survey.
Through this survey we are able to gauge BEA employee experience and perceptions on our core values. Feedback is
shared with respective divisions to develop related action plans to enhance the work environment and bank culture.
If our employees do have concerns, we encourage them to raise them through our Staff Grievance Procedure or our
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure. All complaints are handled in confidence and employees can voice their concerns
without fear of retaliation.

Since 2019, members of Senior Management have led interactive town hall meetings to encourage open
communication on risk management, discuss lessons learned from real cases, and strengthen the Bank’s risk culture.
These town halls are also used as key opportunities to provide updates on business highlights, key focus areas,
transformation initiatives, sharing of employee survey results and other relevant topics. In 2022, we further enhanced
our Staff Grievance Procedure to ensure grievances are handled in a more timely manner and with appropriate
intervention from the Human Resources Department.

OUR VISION OUR MISSION

To be the trusted and preferred To ensure every customer experience is positive.
banking partner in Greater China We achieve this by providing best in class
and beyond. financial products and services.

OUR CORL VALUES

O—-0-O-0—

EXCELLENCE COMMITMENT INTEGRITY CuUsTOMER Focus
BREH REp#GE HWEEER EAE
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A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Structure and Delegation

The Bank is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Bank. The Bank
currently has 6 Board Committees with defined terms of reference of respective Committees. A summary of their key
responsibilities is shown below:

Board

» Shaping and monitoring the Bank’s culture

 Collectively promoting the success of the Bank by directing and supervising the Bank’s affairs

= Providing long-term strategic direction and overseeing effective implementation of pre-determined objectives by the Senior
Management

» Delegating the day-to-day operation and administration of the Bank’s business to Co-Chief Executives and Deputy Chief Executives

= Ensuring effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders and the Bank’s recognition of their interest

Board Committees

Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk ESG Sealing Management
Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committees
Oversight and Oversight and review Oversight and review Oversight and review Oversight and review  Directing the usage  Executive
review of financial  of nomination, of remuneration of risk management-  of the Group’s ESG-  and custody of the =~ Committee
reporting, audit, appointment, policy, remuneration  related issues of the  related issues and Bank’s common « Assisting and
internal control, removal and packages of Group including ESG performance; seal. supporting Co-
and corporate succession planning  Directors, Senior risk appetite, risk monitoring ESG Chief Executives
governance of Directors, Senior ~ Management and management strategies, policies to manage the
functions of the Management and Key Personnel, and  strategies, risk and practices in businesses and
Bank. Division Heads, Bank Culture-related governance, risk compliance with operations of the
More details from Board diversity and ~ matters. management related regulatory Bank Group at a
pages 92 to 96. Evaluation of Board.  nore details from framework, risk requirements. strategic level.
More details from  pages 102 to 104, ~ Management More details from
pages 96 to 102. policies and risk pages 106 to 108.
profiles. Investment
More details on Committee
page 106. * Reviewing and
formulating
investment
strategies as well as
making investment
decisions in respect
of fixed income
instruments, equity
and equity- related
investments for the
Group.
Management Management
Committees under Committee under
the oversight of  the oversight of
Risk Committee ESG Committee
o Crisis * ESG Steering
Management Committee
Committee
* Risk Management
Committee
« Asset and Liability
Management
Committee
* Credit Committee
« Operational Risk
Management

Committee
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Key Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision

The Bank has established a Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision (““Schedule™) to formalise the matters
reserved for the Board’s approval and delegation of power to the Board, the Senior Management, General Managers,
and specialised committees. The Schedule will be reviewed periodically to ensure that it remains appropriate to the Bank’s
needs and relevant regulatory requirements.

The key matters reserved for the Board’s consideration and decision include, but are not limited to:

Corporate strategy: Financial:
 Strategic plan and objectives « Capital plans and management
» Setting corporate values and standards = Financial reports and business plans

e Substantial investment or disposal of the
Group’s assets

Corporate governance: Board / management membership:

e Matters in relation to corporate governance * Appointments, removal and succession planning
functions of Directors, Co-Chief Executives, Deputy Chief

« Risk management and internal controls Executives and Key Personnel of the Bank

* ESG-related issues
» Notifiable and/or Connected Transactions under
the Listing Rules

Board Composition
The Board currently has 17 Directors, including 3 EDs, 7 NEDs and 7 INEDs. 41% of the Directors are INEDs.

The majority of NEDs and INEDs ensure the independence and objectivity of the decisions of the Board, as well as the
thoroughness and impartiality of the Board’s oversight of the Bank’s affairs. They bring a wide range of professional
expertise as well as business and financial experience to the Board.

An updated list of Directors, identifying their roles and functions at the Bank, is available on the websites of HKEX and
the Bank. The compositions of the Board and Board Committees are shown on pages 66 and 67 under the Corporate
Information. The biographical details of Directors are shown from pages 46 to 63 under the Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management and also published on the Bank’s website.
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An analysis of the Board composition and skills matrix during the year is set out below:

Board composition

Independence Age Group Ethnicity
3 A 2
Male ? 7
2
7
4 15
Female Executive Directors 40-50 Chinese
Non-executive Directors 51-60 Non Chinese
Independent 61-70
Non-executive Directors Over 70
Tenure of office Directorship(s) in other listed companies
1-10 years 11 0-1 8
11-20 years 2 2-3 4
21-30 years 3 4-5 5
Over 40 years 1
Board Expertise and Skills
Financial, Accounting and Financial Reporting 14 82%
Risk Managment and Compliance 1" 65%
Banking 10 59%
Investment Management 9 53%
Insurance 4 24%
Industry Expertise 9 53%
Senior Management Role 17 100%
Regulation and Public Policy 8 47%
China Experience 14 82%
Global Business 15 88%
Technology 7 41%
Sustainability / ESG 10 59%

Notes:

Financial, Accounting and Financial Reporting — Expertise and work experience in financial market, financial reporting and auditing

Risk Management and Compliance — Regulatory and Compliance expertise in managing and overseeing risk in public and private companies and
in other contexts.

Banking — Management experience in retail, corporate, and investment banking

Investment Management — Work experience in asset management and portfolio management

Insurance — Work experience in and understanding of the insurance industry

Industry Expertise — Expertise in various industries such as real estate, technology, consumer goods etc.

Senior Management Role — Current or past roles as top or senior executives

Regulation and Public Policy — Former government officials, or the undertaking of consultative roles for government

China Experience — Exposure to Mainland China in the private or public sectors

Global Business — Professional experience dealing with international business operations

Technology — Management or consulting experience in the technology industry

Sustainability / ESG — Expertise and/or experience in developing, promoting or ensuring the effective delivery of an organisation’s sustainability /
ESG strategies, policies and objectives
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Executive Chairman and Co-Chief Executives

Separation of the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive enhances accountability and responsibility of each position as
well as ensures a balance of power and authority. The roles and responsibilities of the Executive Chairman and Co-Chief
Executives are clearly set out in their respective job mandates.

Key Responsibilities

Dr. David Li Kwok-po (Executive Chairman)

Provides leadership to the Board

Manages relationships with stakeholders

Ensures the Board’s overall effectiveness

Ensures all Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate information to enable them to make informed decisions

Encourages all Directors to make full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs

Leads the Board to act in the best interests of the Bank and its shareholders as a whole

Mainly focuses on the Bank Group’s Hong Kong

business

international businesses

Lead day-to-day management of the Bank Group

Set strategic direction and vision of the Group

Mainly focuses on the Bank Group’s China and

Review key risk issues, major branding and marketing campaigns, human resources situation and financial

Board Process

performance of the Group

The Bank is committed to providing timely and quality information to the Directors in order to assist them in making
informed decisions and discharging their duties and responsibilities to the Group effectively.

Schedule of meetings

Dates of regular Board
meetings and most of
the Board Committee
meetings are scheduled
in the prior year

Board meetings are
held at least 5 times a
year and no less than
once in each quarterly
interval

Special Board meetings
are held when
necessary

At least 14 days’ notice
is served before each
regular meeting

Meeting agenda

= Approved by the
Executive Chairman
following consultation
with Directors and the
Senior Management
to include matters
for discussion in the
agenda

Dispatch of
meeting papers

« Agenda and board
papers are dispatched
to Directors at least
7 days prior to the
date of Board / Board
Committee meeting

* Meeting materials are
sent via electrionic
means / paper form
in a secure and timely
manner

Participation in Board /

Board Committee
meetings

Directors make their best
endeavour to participate
in meetings either in
person or through other
electronic means of
communication (e.g.
teleconference or video
conference)

Directors are encouraged
to submit written views
on items to be discussed
ahead of the meeting in
case they are not able to
attend the meeting via
any means

Directors with different
views are welcomed to
voice their independent
views at the meetings
so as to make a full and
active contribution to
the Board's affairs and
act in the best interests
of the Bank

Minutes

Included sufficient
details of the matters
considered / discussed
and the decisions
reached by the Board or
the Board Committees

Included any concerns
raised and dissenting
views expressed by
Directors

Draft and final versions
are circulated to
Directors for comment /
record in a timely
manner

Kept by the Company
Secretary and open for
inspection by Directors
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Meeting with INEDs

The Executive Chairman meets with the INEDs to seek their views on issues relating to the Bank at least
once every year in the absence of the other EDs, NEDs and the Senior Management.

The Board meets with the HKMA regularly to maintain good communication. The HKMA will also meet
with the INEDs separately for exchange of views.

Meeting with Senior Executives of the Bank

The Board meets regularly with senior executives of the Bank who are responsible for internal audit, risk
management and compliance functions of the Bank respectively to review policies and controls in order
to identify improvement areas and address significant risks and issues of the Group.

The Bank has also established written procedures to enable the Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances to assist them in making informed decisions and discharging their duties
to the Group, at the Bank’s expense.

The Bank has arranged an appropriate Directors & Officers Liability and Company Reimbursement Insurance to indemnify
directors and officers of the Group against liabilities incurred by them arising from their discharge of duties and
responsibilities as the Group’s directors or officers. The scope of the insurance is reviewed annually.
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Directors’ Attendance Records

In 2022, 7 Board meetings (including a meeting attended by the HKMA) were held with an attendance rate of 98%.

Attendance records of Directors at IBCM, BMs, ACMs, NCM, RemCoMs, RCMs, ESGCMs, the EGM and the AGM held in
2022 are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/held in 2022
Directors IBCM BM ACM | NCM [RemCoM| RCM |ESGCM| EGM | AGM

Executive Directors:
David LI Kwok-po

(Executive Chairman) - 717 - 1/1 - - - 1/1 1/1
Adrian David LI Man-kiu
(Co-Chief Executive) - 717 - - - - 2/2 1/1 1/1
Brian David LI Man-bun
(Co-Chief Executive) - 717 - - - - 2/2 1/1 1/1

Non-executive Directors:
Arthur LI Kwok-cheung*

(Deputy Chairman) 0/1 717 - 1/1 1/2 - - 1/1 1/1
Aubrey LI Kwok-sing* 1/1 6/7 - - - 4/4 - 1/1 1/1
Winston LO Yau-lai* 0/1 717 - - - - - 1/1 1/1
Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze 1/1 717 - - - - - 1/1 1/1
Daryl NG Win-kong 1/1 717 - - - 4/4 - 1/1 1/1
Masayuki OKU* 1/1 6/7 - 1/1 - - - 0/1 1/1
Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT 1/1 717 - 1/1 - - - 1/1 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Allan WONG Chi-yun*

(Deputy Chairman) 1/1 717 4/4 1/1 212 4/4 - 0/1 1/1
Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai 1/1 717 - 1/1 2/2 - - 1/1 1/1
Meocre LI Kwok-wing 1/1 717 4/4 - - 4/4 - 1/1 1/1
Henry TANG Ying-yen* 0/1 717 4/4 1/1 2/2 4/4 - 1/1 1/1
Delman LEE 1/1 717 4/4 11 - 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
William Junior Guilherme DOO* 1/1 717 3/4 - - 3/4 1/2 1/1 1/1
David MONG Tak-yeung 1/1 717 - 1/1 2/2 - 2/2 1/1 1/1
Average attendance rate 79% | 98% | 95% | 100% | 90% | 96% | 90% | 88% | 100%

*  Fach of Professor Arthur Li, Dr. Allan Wong, Mr. Aubrey Li, Mr. Winston Lo, Mr. Masayuki Oku, Dr. Henry Tang and Mr. William Doo Junior was
unable to attend a scheduled Board / Board Committee / Extraordinary General Meeting due to prior commitment. Nevertheless, each of them
was provided with the meeting materials and discussion on some important issues was arranged ahead of the respective meeting when necessary.

Directors’ Time Commitment

The Board regularly reviews the contributions required from a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Bank,
and whether he/she is spending sufficient time performing his/her role. Directors have disclosed to the Bank the number
and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments and an indication of time involved.

The Bank has given guidelines on Directors’ time commitment and received confirmation from each Director that he/she
has spent sufficient time, attention and efforts to the affairs of the Bank Group during the year ended 31st December,
2022. None of the Directors held directorships in more than six public companies (including the Bank) during the year.
The Bank conducts an annual assessment of, inter alia, Directors’ time commitment to facilitate assessment of the
on-going suitability of each Director.
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Conflicts of Interest

The Bank has adopted the Directors’ Code of Conduct and Policy on Conflicts of Interest (the “Policy™) that:

- provides guidance to Directors to help them recognise and deal with ethical issues including the handling of conflicts
of interest and fair dealing, and help foster a culture of honesty and accountability in the best interests of the Group
as well as the shareholders of the Bank.

- contains a compliance process which requires declaration by a Director in respect of any (existing or proposed)
contract, arrangement, transaction or other proposal in which the Director and/or his/her connected entity (as defined
in section 486 of the Companies Ordinance), is/are directly/indirectly materially interested. A Director shall not vote on
any resolution approving any contract, arrangement or transaction in which he/she and/or his/her connected entity
has/have any material interest.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter shall not be dealt with by way of circulation or by a Committee (except for an appropriate Board
Committee set up for that purpose pursuant to a resolution passed in a Board meeting), and a Board meeting shall be
held to deal with the specific matter.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

A newly appointed Director will receive an Information Package from the Company Secretary upon his/her appointment.
This Information Package, containing, inter alia, materials on the operations and businesses of the Bank, is a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to be observed by a
Director. The Senior Management and the Company Secretary will subsequently conduct a briefing as necessary, to
ensure that the Director has a proper understanding of the operations and businesses of the Bank as well as his/her role
and responsibilities as a Director of the Bank. A reminder on on-going obligations to be observed by a Director of the
Bank is sent to each Director annually.

During the year, all Directors of the Bank participated in continuous professional development covering, among others,
areas of directors’ duties and responsibilities, operations and businesses of the Bank, corporate governance and changes
in regulatory requirements etc. to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All current Directors had provided to
the Bank a record of trainings they received in 2022.
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The following summarises key areas of trainingsM°® received by current Directors of the Bank during 2022:

Directors

Corporate
Governance
and Risk
Management

Regulatory
Update

Bank’s
Business and
Management

Bank Culture

AML/CFT

Fintech /
Cyber
Security

Executive Directors:
David LI Kwok-po
(Executive Chairman)
Adrian David LI Man-kiu
(Co-Chief Executive)
Brian David LI Man-bun
(Co-Chief Executive)

Non-executive Directors:
Arthur LI Kwok-cheung
(Deputy Chairman)
Aubrey LI Kwok-sing
Winston LO Yau-lai
Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze
Daryl NG Win-kong
Masayuki OKU
Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT

Independent Non-executive
Directors:

Allan WONG Chi-yun

(Deputy Chairman)

Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai

Meaocre LI Kwok-wing

Henry TANG Ying-yen

Delman LEE

William Junior Guilherme DOO

David MONG Tak-yeung

AN

A N U N N U N N

AN N N N N NN

<

AN U U U N NN

AN U N U N NN
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SSXXXXKXN

SSXXXXKX«

AN
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<

A N U U U N NN

A U U U N NN

Note: Attending seminars/webinars/conferences; giving speeches, reading articles; and/or reviewing information are considered as part of the

Directors’ training.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated authority to specialised committees as follows to deal with specific matters under defined terms
of reference of respective Committees. The composition and terms of reference of these Committees are reviewed and
updated periodically to align with the regulatory requirements, the Group’s business and changes in governance practices.
All Board Committees adopt the same governance processes as the Board as far as practicable and report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations after each meeting.

Membership
Board
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk ESG Sealing
Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
Mr. Meocre Li* Dr. Allan Wong* Dr. Rita Fan* Dr. Henry Tang* Dr. Delman Lee* All current Directors
(Chairman) (Chairman) (Chairman) (Chairman) (Chairman)
Dr. Allan Wong™* Dr. David Li Dr. Allan Wong* Dr. Allan Wong* Mr. Adrian Li
Dr. Henry Tang* Mr. Masayuki Oku Dr. Henry Tang* Mr. Meocre Li* Mr. Brian Li
Dr. Delman Lee* Dr. Rita Fan* Professor Arthur Li Mr. Aubrey Li Mr. William Doo Jr*
Mr. William Doo Jr* Dr. Henry Tang* Dr. David Mong* Dr. Daryl Ng Dr. David Mong*

Dr. Delman Lee*
Dr. Javier Serrado

Dr. Delman Lee*
Mr. William Doo Jr*

Professor Arthur Li
Dr. David Mong*

* Independent Non-executive Directors

A joint meeting of the Chairmen of the AC and RC shall be held on a need basis to facilitate the exchange of information
and effective coverage of all risks, including emerging risks, and any needed adjustments to the risk governance
arrangements of the Bank.

A joint meeting of the Chairmen of the AC, RemCo and RC shall be held on a need basis to discuss the alignment of risk
and remuneration, and the progress of bank culture reform of the Bank.

B1. Audit Committee

The Bank has established an AC with specific written Terms of Reference (available on the websites of HKEX and the
Bank) which deal clearly with its authorities and duties specified in the CG Code.

The AC is responsible for reviewing corporate governance functions, financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, annual report and accounts, and half-year interim report.

The Board has delegated its corporate governance functions as set out in the CG Code to the AC.

The AC comprises 5 members and all of them are INEDs. Their names and biographies are set out in the Corporate
Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management of the Annual Report 2022. No former partners
of the Bank’s external auditor are acting as a member of the AC before expiry of a period of two years commencing on
the date of his/her ceasing to be a partner of the firm or to have any financial interest in the firm whichever is later.
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AC meetings are held at least 4 times a year. The Executive Chairman, Co-Chief Executives, Deputy Chief Executives,
other senior executives, and the external auditor are invited to attend these meetings. During the year, the external
auditor held meetings with the AC members, without the presence of the Executive Chairman, Co-Chief Executives,
Deputy Chief Executives and the other senior executives.

The number of meetings held by the AC and the attendance of individual members at ACM in 2022 is recorded on page 86.

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the AC for the year 2022 and up to 16th
February, 2023:

Corporate Governance

- Reviewed and endorsed the policies and practices under the Bank’s Corporate Governance Framework, including
the Corporate Governance Policy and made recommendations to the Board, where appropriate;

= Reviewed the training and continuous professional development of Directors and Senior Management;

= Reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

= Reviewed the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

= Reviewed the status of compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

Financial Reporting

= Reviewed the Interim Report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 30th June, 2022;
= Reviewed the audited financial statements and final results announcement for 2022;

External Audit

= Met with the external auditor to discuss their audit work on the Group;

= Reviewed external auditor’s 2022 annual audit plan, management letter and management’s response;

= Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the audit fee proposal for the Group for 2022;

< Recommended to the Board to re-appoint KPMG as the Group’s external auditor for 2022 and 2023;

= Reviewed and approved the appointment of external auditor for providing non-audit services to the Group;

- Reviewed the Auditor’s Independent Assurance Reports in respect of the Bank’s financial disclosures under
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules and Part 6 of the Financial Institutions (Resolution) (Loss-absorbing Capacity
Requirements — Banking Sector) Rules for the six months ended 30th June, 2022 and for 2022;

- Reviewed the Auditor’s Reports regarding the correctness of compilation of certain banking returns and the internal
control systems for 2021 prepared under sections 63(3) and 63(3A) of the Banking Ordinance, respectively;

Internal Controls and Internal Audit

- Reviewed the adequacies of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the Bank’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget; effectiveness of the
Group’s internal audit function;

= Reviewed the on-site examination reports of the HKMA issued in 2022;

= Reviewed the internal audit reports covering the evaluation of risk management and internal control systems of
various operations of the Group; and

= Reviewed and approved Group internal audit plan for 2023.
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Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, the Bank shall at each AGM appoint or re-appoint the external auditor of the
Group, and the external auditor so appointed shall hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Bank.

With reference to the Guidelines for Effective Audit Committees — Selection, Appointment and Reappointment of
Auditors published by the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council on 16th December, 2021, the AC has given
due consideration to the audit quality and audit fees when selecting and making recommendation to the Board on
the appointment/re-appointment of the Group’s external auditor. The Board agreed with the AC’s proposal for the
re-appointment of KPMG as the Group’s external auditor for 2023. The recommendation will be presented for the
approval of shareholders at the 2023 AGM.

The Bank has established the Policy on Appointment of External Auditor for Provision of Non-Audit Services, setting out
the principles by which an external auditor may be appointed to provide non-audit services, with a view to ensuring the
independence of the external auditor.

B2. Nomination Committee

The Bank has established an NC with specific written Terms of Reference (available on the websites of HKEX and the
Bank) which deal clearly with its authorities and duties, including the specific duties set out in the CG Code, with
appropriate modifications where necessary.

The NC is responsible for recommending to the Board on relevant matters relating to:

e appointment, re-appointment, removal and succession planning of Directors, Chief Executive / Co-Chief Executives,
Deputy Chief Executives, Group Chief Compliance Officer, Group Chief Auditor, Group Chief Financial Officer, Group
Chief Risk Officer, and Division Heads;

< defining succession planning and diversity of the Board; and
- performing evaluation of the Board performance and Directors’ contribution to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC comprises 9 members and 5 of them (including the Chairman) are INEDs. Their names and biographies are set out
in the Corporate Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management of the Annual Report 2022.

The number of meetings held by the NC and the attendance of individual members at NCM in 2022 is recorded on page 86.

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the NC for the year 2022 and up to 16th
February, 2023:

Board and Board Committees’ Compositions
= Reviewed the size, structure, composition and diversity of the Board and composition of Board Committees;

= Endorsed the extension of the term of the employment contract of Dr. David LI Kwok-po as Executive Chairman
of the Bank and recommended to the Board for approval;

- Assessed the independence status of current INEDs, in particular that of Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun who has served
on the Board for more than 9 years;

* Considered and recommended to the Board for re-election of Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung, Mr. Meocre
LI Kwok-wing, Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen, Dr. Delman LEE and Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO as
Directors of the Bank to be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the 2023 AGM,;

Change of Division Head

- Endorsed the proposed appointment of General Manager and Group Head of Legal & Secretarial Division and
recommended to the Board for approval;
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Review of Policies and Procedures
= Reviewed the Procedures for Nomination of Directors;
= Reviewed the Board Succession and Diversity Policy including measurable objectives for implementing the said Policy;

= Reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Bank’s mechanism under which independent views and
input are available to the Board;

= Reviewed the Management Succession Policy;
- Reviewed the Management Succession Plans;

« Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the NC;

Board and Board Committees’ Evaluation

- Reviewed and assessed the evaluation of the Board performance and Directors’ contribution to the effectiveness
of the Board; and

- Reviewed the annual self-assessment of time commitment and potential conflicts of interest of the Directors
(including the Co-Chief Executives of the Bank).

Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Succession and Diversity Policy which defines succession planning and diversity of the
Board. Board appointments are based on merit and candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due regard
to the benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not limited to independence, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members in terms of age, gender, tenure of office and ethnicity. The NC
regularly reviews the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and considered that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity that is appropriate to the requirements of the Bank’s business.

During the year, the Board, through endorsement by the NC, reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
various aspects for diversity) of the Board and the Bank’s Diversity Policy to ensure the Board composition contributes
to the Board’s efficiency and effectiveness as well as complies with the Listing Rules with an appropriate mix of
skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to the Bank Group’s strategy, governance and business needs. The
implementation of the Bank’s Diversity Policy during the year 2022 was considered effective.

As of 31st December, 2022, the Bank Group’s gender ratio of the workforce is 41.5%:58.5% (male to female), which
aligns with the demographic characteristics of Hong Kong. The Bank maintains a good and healthy gender ratio of the
workforce. We are committed to fostering a positive working culture and striving to build an inclusive, equitable and
diverse workplace. The workforce is evaluated by performance on its professional contribution, without regard to their
differences or similarities. The Bank has developed policy on human rights and diversity and will continue to comply with
all applicable ordinances in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions where the Bank operates, as well as international standards
regarding equal opportunities and treatment with respect to the workforce.

Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Bank uses a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors and has adopted
Procedures for Nomination of Directors (by the Board of Directors and by Shareholders respectively), which set out the
procedures for the NC to evaluate a proposed candidate to be nominated to the Board for appointment as a Director of
the Bank (as summarised below) or for the shareholders of the Bank to make nomination for election as a Director of the
Bank. The Procedures for Nomination of Directors by Shareholders is available on the website of the Bank.
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For considering the suitability of the proposed candidate for appointment as Director of the Bank, the NC shall perform
a “fit and proper” assessment taking into account, inter alia, the proposed candidate’s accomplishment and experience
in the banking and/or commercial sector, reputation for integrity, professional and education background, time
commitment, potential conflicts of interest, and other relevant factors with regard to the Diversity Policy as determined by
the Board from time to time, pursuant to the requirements of relevant rules and regulations.

A candidate who is to be appointed as an INED should also meet the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules
and the requirements of the Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs. Upon recommendation from the NC, the proposed
appointment will be reviewed and, if thought fit, approved by the Board. According to the requirement of the Banking
Ordinance, prior approval from the HKMA wiill also be obtained for appointment of Directors.

Procedures to evaluate a proposed Director by the NC

NC to review
curriculum
vitae and assess
independence (if
applicable) of the
proposed candidate Obtain HKMA's
. e . Approval by
Recommendation for “fit and proper approval for
} the Board after
from the Chairman assessment and L the proposed
) . considering the .
of the Board or compliance with . appointment
; recommendation
other Directors relevant regulatory of NC pursuant to the
requirements as set Banking Ordinance
out in the Listing
Rules and CG-1
for the Board’s
consideration and
approval

The Bank will issue
an announcement
for the appointment
of the proposed
Director who

will be subject

to re-election by
shareholders at
the next following
AGM after his/her
appointment

A formal letter of appointment, setting out the terms and conditions of the appointment, and including the Director’s
scope of duties and obligations, is provided to every new Director of the Bank and will be updated whenever there are
changes to the Director’s role and responsibilities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors (including NEDs and INEDs) are appointed for a term of not more
than approximately 3 years and on expiration of his/her term he/she shall be deemed a retiring Director and eligible for
re-election. All new Directors appointed by the Board are subject to re-election by shareholders of the Bank at the next
following AGM after their appointments have become effective.

The NC conducts annual review of the independence of INEDs before confirming their independence status to the Board.

Evaluation of the Board and Directors

During the year, the Bank conducted an evaluation of the Board effectiveness as a whole and contributions made by each
Director to the Board effectiveness in the form of a questionnaire to all Directors individually. In addition, as an enhanced
monitoring mechanism, an annual self-assessment of time commitment and potential conflicts of interest of Directors and
Co-Chief Executives was also conducted.

The evaluation covered a diverse range of topics including Board and Board Committee structure and composition;
Board process and effectiveness; responsibilities of the Board; and duties and responsibilities of Directors. The evaluation
report revealed that Board process was effective during the year 2022. All Directors continued to perform effectively
and demonstrate commitment to their roles. The Board Committees were highly regarded in the feedback and viewed
as effective in fulfilling their duties. The results of the evaluation and self-assessment had been reviewed by the NC and
submitted to the Board.

The Bank will continue to undertake an evaluation of the performance of the Board and the Directors and also the
self-assessment of time commitment and potential conflicts of interest of Directors and Co-Chief Executives annually.
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Independence

To ensure independent view and input from Directors are available to the Board, the NC had reviewed and considered
that the following key features or mechanisms under the Board and governance structure of the Bank are effective and
appropriate. The Board can therefore exercise independent judgement and can act in the best interests of the Bank and

its shareholders as a whole.

Board and Board
Committees’
structure

Separation of the role of the Executive Chairman and Co-Chief Executives ensures the
balance of power and authority.

The chairmen and majority of members of Board Committees (except Sealing Committee)
are INEDs.

Only the Chairman of the Board and Co-Chief Executives of the Bank are EDs, and all the
remaining 14 Directors are NEDs (including INEDs) who do not involve in the day-to-day
management of the Bank.

Remuneration of
NEDs (including
INEDs)

NEDs (including INEDs) receive fixed fee(s) for their role as members of the Board and Board
Committee(s) as appropriate, and shall not be granted any equity-based remuneration
(including share options and grants) with performance-related elements. Information about
the Directors’ remuneration is set out on page 110 and in Note 21 to the financial statements.

Appointment of
INEDs

In assessing suitability of candidates for INEDs, the NC will review their background,
potential conflicts of interest and time commitment, taking into account the criteria set
out in the Board Succession and Diversity Policy, the Board composition and relevant
regulatory requirements.

Time commitment
and conflicts

of interest of
Directors and Senior
Management

All Directors are committed to devoting sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Bank Group. Each NED (including INED) is informed of the number of working days per year
expected on performing his/her responsibilities as a Director of the Bank.

Directors’ attendance records in 2022 are disclosed on page 86.

The Bank has put in place the Directors’ Code of Conduct and Policy on Conflicts of Interest
to provide guidance to Directors on recognising and dealing with ethical issues of conflicts
of interest and fair dealing.

The NC reviews time commitment and potential conflicts of interest of the Directors
(including the Co-Chief Executives) annually to ensure they are fit and proper for their roles.

Independence of
INEDs

INEDs’ independence is assessed upon appointment, annually, and at any other time where
the circumstances warrant reconsideration, taking into account the criteria set out in the
Listing Rules and the Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs issued by the HKMA.

The Bank has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation of his/her
independence for the year 2022.

Professional advice

To assist Directors in discharging their duties to the Group, they are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Bank’s expense.

Board evaluation

The NC reviews the results of the Board evaluation annually to ensure, among other
things, the Board continues to benefit from the independent view and input provided by
the Directors.

B3. Remuneration Committee

The Bank has established a RemCo with specific written Terms of Reference (available on the websites of HKEX and
the Bank) which deal clearly with its authority and duties, including the specific duties set out in the CG Code, with
appropriate modifications where necessary.
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The RemCo is responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Bank’s Remuneration Policy, and for
the formulation and review of the remuneration packages of the Directors, Executive Chairman, Co-Chief Executives,
Deputy Chief Executives, General Managers and Key Personnel of the Group.

In determining the Remuneration Policy, the RemCo will take into account the Bank’s business objective, people strategy,
short-term and long-term performance, business and economic conditions, market practices, conduct, compliance and
risk control, to ensure that the remuneration aligns with business and individual performance, promotes effective risk
management, facilitates retention of quality personnel and is competitive in the market.

The emoluments payable by the Bank to its Directors and senior executives are determined taking into account their
roles and responsibilities so as to ensure that the remuneration packages are in accordance with regulatory requirements
and market conditions. The Bank will also take into account various factors in determining the grant of shares/share-link
instruments to senior executives, including but not limited to the Bank Group’s performance, risk profile, market
conditions and total compensation of the employees, where applicable. The Bank will ensure that no Director, Executive
Chairman, Co-Chief Executive or any of their associates will be involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The RemCo comprises 5 members and 4 of them (including the Chairman) are INEDs. Their names and biographies
are set out in the Corporate Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management of the Annual
Report 2022.

The number of RemCo meetings held in 2022 and the attendance records of individual members at RemCoM are shown
on page 86.

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the RemCo during and for the year 2022:

Remuneration-related Matters

= Reviewed the proposal on revised fees for Directors and Board Committee members;

* Reviewed the 2021 Variable Remuneration for members of Senior Management and Key Personnel;
= Reviewed the vesting of Deferred Variable Remuneration for the Awards of the Years 2018 to 2020;
= Reviewed the Usage of Salary Increment Budget for 2021;

= Reviewed Bonus Funding for 2021,

= Reviewed the Audit Result on the Bank’s Remuneration System for 2021;

= Considered the First Offer and Grant of Options under the Staff Share Options Scheme 2021,

- Reviewed the list of Individual Material Risk Takers for 2022 and considered the Salary Review for Senior
Management and Key Personnel for 2022;

= Considered the General Staff Annual Salary Review 2022;
* Reviewed the 2022 Annual Salary Review for Staff of Mainland China, Overseas Branches and Subsidiaries;
= Reviewed BEA’s Performance Scorecard for 2022;

* Reviewed the Performance Scorecards of the Executive Chairman, Co-Chief Executives and Deputy Chief
Executives for 2022;

Culture-related Matters
- Reviewed the progress of Bank Culture Reform;
Review of Policies and Procedures

- Reviewed the Remuneration Policy; and

« Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the RemCo.
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B4. Risk Committee

The Bank has established an RC with specific written Terms of Reference (available on the website of the Bank) which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The RC is responsible for dealing with the Bank’s risk management-related
issues, in particular strategic issues, of the Group.

The RC is assisted by Management Committees namely the Risk Management Committee, Credit Committee, Asset and
Liability Management Committee and Operational Risk Management Committee, to deal with daily management of
risk-related issues; and by the Crisis Management Committee to deal with crisis management.

The RC comprises 7 members and 5 of them (including the Chairman) are INEDs. Their names and biographies are set out
in the Corporate Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management of the Annual Report 2022.

RCMs are held on a quarterly basis, or as required. During the meetings, RC reviews the risk management-related issues
of the Group including risk appetite, risk management strategies, risk governance, risk management framework, risk
management policies and risk profiles. Significant risk management-related issues are reported to the Board via RC.

The number of RC meetings held in 2022 and the attendance records of individual members at RCM are shown on page 86.

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the RC during and for the year 2022:

Risk Management

= Reviewed the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement;

= Reviewed the Group’s risk management strategies;

- Reviewed and monitored the Group’s risk profiles, including the outlook;
= Reviewed the Group’s enterprise risk management framework;

- Reviewed the result of Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process;

= Reviewed the stress-testing results for major risks;

= Reviewed the Group Recovery Plan;

- Reviewed regulatory updates on risk management-related issues and considered their probable material
implications to the Group;

= Reviewed critical regulatory comments on the Group’s risk management-related issues;

Review of Policies and Procedures

= Reviewed the Group’s risk management policies, oversaw their implementation and compliance with respective
statutory rules and regulations; and

* Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the RC, Crisis Management Committee, Risk Management Committee,
Credit Committee, Asset and Liability Management Committee and Operational Risk Management Committee.

B5. Environmental, Socal, and Governance Committee

The Bank has established an ESGC with specific written Terms of Reference (available on the website of the Bank), which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The ESGC is responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG performance. It is
assisted by a Management Committee, namely the ESG Steering Committee.

The ESGC currently comprises 5 members and 3 of them (including the Chairman) are INEDs. Their names and biographies
are set out in the Corporate Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management of the Annual
Report 2022.
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The number of ESGC meetings held in 2022 and the attendance records of individual members at ESGCM are shown on
page 86.

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the ESGC during and for the year 2022:

ESG Goals, Strategy, Performance and Reporting

* Reviewed the Group’s 2021 ESG Report;

= Approved the Bank’s 2022 ESG goals;

« Approved BEA’s net zero roadmaps for operational and financed emissions;

= Reviewed the adequacy of resources allocated to meeting the ESG goals and ESG reporting requirements;

Review of Policies and Procedures

- Reviewed the Group’s Sustainability Policy, Human Rights Policy, Environmental Policy, Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement, and the Group Responsible Investment Policy; and

= Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the ESGC and ESG Steering Committee.

B6. Sealing Committee

Sealing Committee comprises all Directors of the Bank as appointed from time to time. It is responsible for directing the
usage and custody of the Bank’s common seal.

Management Committees

Management Committees are established to deal with matters as sufficiently prescribed in respective Terms of Reference,
each of which has specific roles and responsibilities delegated by the Board or Board Committees:

Executive Committee
= assists and supports Co-Chief Executives to manage the businesses and operations of the Bank Group at a strategic level

Risk Management Committee

- assists the RC in the daily management of issues related to all major risks faced by the Group including risk
appetites, risk profiles, regulatory updates and stress-testing

Credit Committee

- deals with all credit risk-related issues of the Group

Operational Risk Management Committee

- deals with issues related to operational, legal, reputation, compliance and technology risks of the Group
Asset and Liability Management Committee

= deals with all issues related to market, interest rate and liquidity risks of the Group

Crisis Management Committee

= deals with the Group’s management of crisis scenarios which jeopardise or have the potential to jeopardise the
Group in its reputation, liquidity/financial position and business continuity

Investment Committee

= reviews and formulates investment strategies as well as makes investment decisions in respect of fixed income
instruments, equity and equity-related investments for the Bank, and The Bank of East Asia, Limited Employees’
Provident Fund

ESG Steering Committee
= sets direction for BEA’s ESG strategy and drives the ESG performance of the Bank Group

Material matters will be reported to the Board/Board Committees by the Management Committees according to their
respective Terms of Reference.
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C. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

The scales of Directors’ fees, and fees for membership of the AC, NC, RemCo, RC and ESGC are outlined below:

Effective 1st July, 2022 Up to 30th June, 2022
per annum (HK$) per annum (HK$)

Board of Directors:

Chairman 600,000 550,000

Deputy Chairman 475,000 425,000

Other Directors 450,000 400,000
Audit Committee:

Chairman 300,000 250,000

Other members 170,000 140,000
Nomination Committee:

Chairman 110,000 90,000

Other members 70,000 60,000
Remuneration Committee:

Chairman 110,000 90,000

Other members 70,000 60,000
Risk Committee:

Chairman 300,000 250,000

Other members 170,000 140,000
ESG Committee:

Chairman 110,000 90,000

Other members 70,000 60,000

Information relating to the remuneration of each Director for 2022 is set out in Note 21 to the financial statements on
page 236.

Disclosure of Remuneration Policy

In accordance with the latest “Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System” (the “Guideline”) issued by the HKMA in
July 2021, the Bank has reviewed and revised its Remuneration Policy for employees of the Group, including its overseas
branches and subsidiaries. The Remuneration Policy covers all categories of employees, including those described in
paragraph 2.1.1 of the Guideline. The RemCo, Group Chief Risk Officer and Group Chief Compliance Officer annually
reviews the Bank’s Remuneration Policy, including a reassessment of the principles applied in determining remuneration
packages, as well as the structure and amount of compensation ultimately awarded.

The Remuneration Policy was reviewed and endorsed by RemCo in 2022. The major changes included the adherence
to the customer outcome definition stipulated in the Report on Focused Review on Incentive Systems of Front Offices
in Retail Banks issued by the HKMA in August 2022 and the elaboration on the performance-based remuneration with
shares/share-based instruments in accordance with the Listing Rules amendments related to Share Schemes.

General Principles

The Remuneration Policy of the Group promotes effective risk management, and is designed to encourage employee
behaviour that supports the Group’s business objectives, long-term financial soundness, risk tolerance, risk management
framework and corporate values.

Remuneration Structure

Employee remuneration packages may consist of a combination of fixed and variable remuneration. The appropriate
proportion of fixed and variable remuneration shall vary according to an employee’s seniority, role, responsibilities, and
activities within the Group, among other things.
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Fixed remuneration refers to an employee’s annual salary (including year-end pay), while variable remuneration —
comprising cash bonus payments and/or share options — is awarded based on the employee’s performance with a view
to better aligning incentives with risk and longer-term value creation. Variable remuneration, which is awarded in the
form of cash bonus payments and/or share options, is determined taking into account an employee’s seniority, role and
responsibilities, and the actual or potential risks that the employee’s activities may create for the Group and the extent to
which they may affect its overall performance. In general, share options will be granted to staff at General Manager grade
or above only.

Separate bonus schemes apply to risk control personnel, whose awards are not linked to the performances of the business
units that they oversee.

Employees’ Performance Measurements and the Award of Variable Remuneration

The RemCo determines the measures and the corresponding target levels of the Group’s performance with reference to
corporate goals and objectives at the beginning of each financial year and when necessary.

The performance of business units will be assessed by a combination of financial and non-financial factors which are
determined by senior management with reference to the relevant corporate goals and the functional responsibilities of
the business units.

The award of variable remuneration is determined by taking into account a combination of corporate and/or business
results as well as the assessment of individual employee’s performance against the pre-set financial/quantitative measures
and non-financial/qualitative measures for the year which include adherence to risk management policies, compliance
with legal, regulatory and ethical standards, results of internal audit reviews as well as adherence to corporate values.

To ensure that there is balance between financial factors and non-financial factors in the assessment of performance of
both business units and individual employees, the overall weighting on financial factors is limited to avoid over reliance
on financial measures and to align with HKMA'’s expectation on Bank Culture Reform. Performance is therefore judged,
not only on what is achieved over the short and long-term, but also on how it is achieved. Performance in relation
to non-financial factors, including risk, compliance and adherence to corporate values, forms a significant part of the
overall employee performance measurement and promotes proper employee conduct and behaviour, given that poor
performance in these areas can be indicative of significant risks to the Group. Adverse performance in non-financial/
qualitative factors will override outstanding financial/quantitative achievements and be reflected by a reduction to, or
elimination of, any variable remuneration.

To help ensure a balanced evaluation, a series of compliance and risk management factors are also taken into account.
The major types of risks covered are market, credit, interest rate, liquidity and operational risks. Other risks including legal,
reputation, technology, strategic and compliance are closely monitored at Bank level by various Management Committees
and adjustment will be made to an individual’s variable remuneration when appropriate.

To embed a values-led, high performance culture, the variable remuneration plans are designed to recognise and reward
positive behaviours. Meanwhile, the Bank Group carries out regular review to assess instances of non-compliance with
risk control procedures and/or regulatory requirements. Instances of non-compliance are escalated for consideration in
remuneration decision, including adjustment of variable remuneration within the year, malus of the unvested awards
granted in prior year(s) and clawback of vested awards.

In 2022, in accordance with the Accountability Framework Implementation Guidelines of the Bank, regular accountability
review meetings were held by Senior Management, Group Chief Risk Officer, Group Chief Compliance Officer, Group
Chief Auditor, Group Head of People & Sustainability Division, and Group Head of Legal & Secretarial Division to
ensure that risk and compliance performance of department were taken into due consideration in the determination of
variable remuneration funding and individual performance and reward so as to foster proper risk culture and business
conduct. To enhance openness and transparency, if a formal accountability review of a significant incident is required,
the Accountability Work Group will determine whether any staff member should be held accountable individually or
collectively, or any department should be subject to risk and compliance modification on variable remuneration funding
for the incident.
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Senior Executive Compensation

The RemCo annually reviews the remuneration packages of the Senior Management (including the Executive Chairman,
Co-Chief Executives and Deputy Chief Executives of the Bank), and Key Personnel (including 17 General Managers
and the Head of Capital Markets & Liquidity Management Department). In determining the remuneration packages of
the Senior Management and Key Personnel, the RemCo takes into account individual performances, performances of
respective divisions and departments, and the Group’s overall business goals and objectives. The Bank has engaged a
number of external consultants to review and refine the remuneration package of senior management and key personnel
to ensure its competitiveness and alignment with regulatory requirements, as well as the variable remuneration of other
employees respectively.

The aggregate payouts for these senior executives for 2022 are shown in the table below in accordance with the
disclosure requirement 3.3 of the Guideline.

Total value of remuneration in 2022

2022 2021

Total value of remuneration awards for Non-deferred Deferred Non-deferred Deferred
the current financial year (HK$) (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

(i) Senior Management
Number of employees 5 5
Fixed remuneration
» Cash-based 36,605,410 0 35,955,010 0
Variable remuneration
e Cash-based 17,180,600 6,297,400 20,253,200 7,431,800
« Share Options 0 16,725,560 0 19,721,140

(ii) Key Personnel
Number of employees 21 23
Fixed remuneration
e Cash-based 60,728,678 0 64,654,864 0
Variable remuneration
e Cash-based 23,863,147 10,917,853 26,659,992 13,104,008
= Share Options 0 5,207,586 0 4,919,313

Total Remuneration 138,377,835 39,148,399 147,523,066 45,176,261

Remarks:

(i) For indication purpose only, the value of share options is calculated based on the fair value of the Bank’s shares on 26th January, 2023 for
2022 and 31st January, 2022 for 2021.

(i) The remuneration of Key Personnel for 2022 included the remuneration of four Key Personnel who retired from/left the Group on 171th
March, 2022, 21st July, 2022 ,1st October, 2022 and 1st January, 2023 and one Key Personnel who joined the Group on 1st March,
2022. The remuneration of Key Personnel for 2021 included the remuneration of three Key Personnel who retired from/left the Group on
1st March, 2021, 1st October, 2021 and 1st January, 2022 and two Key Personnel who joined the Group on 12th April, 2021 and 27th
September, 2021 respectively.

(iij) The aggregate amount of HK$3,144,890 and HK$4,230,092 sign-on payment was made to four and four Key Personnel of the Group

for 2022 and 2021 respectively. The aggregate amount of HK$1,276,874 severance payment was made to a Key Personnel of the Group
for 2022.
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Total outstanding deferred remuneration in 2022

Outstanding deferred

Vested portion
during the year 2022

Unvested portion
as at the end of 2022

Performance
adjustments to
Vested portion

during the year 2022

Performance
adjustments to
Unvested portion
as at the end of 2022

remuneration (HK$) (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(i) Senior Management
e Cash-based 9,025,508 11,845,286 0 0
« Share Options 10,326,204 31,937,694 874,697 0
(ii) Key Personnel
e Cash-based 9,561,725 21,374,145 0 0
= Share Options 6,476,130 12,949,576 198,494 0

Remarks:
(i) The values of share options are calculated based on the fair value on the respective Grant Dates.

(i) The vested cash bonuses and share options relate to the 2018 variable remuneration award granted in 2019 and vested in 2022, the
2019 variable remuneration award granted in 2020 and vested in 2022 and the 2020 variable remuneration award granted in 2021
and vested in 2022. The total number of share options granted in 2019, 2020 and 2021 are 5,850,000 shares, 5,381,829 shares and
4,336,553 shares respectively.

(iii) The unvested cash bonuses and share options relate to the 2019, 2020 and 2021 variable remunerations.

(iv) The outstanding deferred remuneration of Key Personnel in 2022 included the vested and unvested cash bonuses and share options of eleven
Key Personnel who retired from/left the Group on 1st May, 2018, 1st August, 2019, 1st September, 2019, 1st April, 2020, 1st September,
2020, 1st March, 2021, 1st October, 2021, 1st January, 2022, 11th March, 2022, 21st July, 2022 and 1st October, 2022 respectively.

(v) These performance adjustments reduced the outstanding balance of deferred remuneration.

Total outstanding deferred remuneration in 2021

Performance
adjustments to

Performance
adjustments to

Outstanding deferred

Vested portion
during the year 2021

Unvested portion
as at the end of 2021

Vested portion
during the year 2021

Unvested portion
as at the end of 2021

remuneration (HK$) (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(i) Senior Management
 Cash-based 11,798,499 13,438,994 0 0
« Share Options 12,382,600 22,542,758 3,256,283 874,697
(ii) Key Personnel
» Cash-based 10,119,643 17,373,898 0 0
< Share Options 6,308,678 15,269,667 608,674 198,494

Remarks:
(i) The values of share options are calculated based on the fair value on the respective Grant Dates.

(i) The vested cash bonuses and share options relate to the 2017 variable remuneration award granted in 2018 and vested in 2021, the
2018 variable remuneration award granted in 2019 and vested in 2021 and the 2019 variable remuneration award granted in 2020
and vested in 2021. The total number of share options granted in 2018, 2019 and 2020 are 6,687,500 shares, 5,850,000 shares and
5,381,829 shares respectively.

(iii) The unvested cash bonuses and share options relate to the 2018, 2019 and 2020 variable remunerations.

(iv) The outstanding deferred remuneration of Key Personnel in 2021 included the vested and unvested cash bonuses and share options of seven
Key Personnel who retired from/left the Group on 1st May, 2018, 1st August, 2019, 1st September, 2019, 1st April, 2020, 1st September,
2020, 1st March, 2021 and 1st October, 2021 respectively.

(v) These performance adjustments reduced the outstanding balance of deferred remuneration.

Other relevant remuneration disclosures are set out in Notes 21, 22 and 50 to the financial statements on pages 236, 238
and 359.

The Bank has fully complied with HKMA's disclosure requirements set out in Part 3 of the Guideline.
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Deferral Arrangements

The award of variable remuneration to the Senior Management and Key Personnel is subject to deferment in such a
manner as determined by the RemCo. In general, the proportion of variable remuneration which is subject to deferment
will increase progressively in line with the seniority, scope of responsibilities, and other relevant factors pertinent to the
Senior Management and Key Personnel.

For employees other than Senior Management and Key Personnel, the Bank adopts a materiality-based deferral
arrangement of variable remuneration, where the total amount of variable remuneration, including cash bonus and any
kind of incentive, will be subject to deferment when certain thresholds of total variable remunerations determined by the
Board of Directors are met. The portion of variable remuneration to be deferred will increase by reference to the total
amount of variable remuneration.

The award of deferred remuneration is subject to a minimum vesting period and pre-defined vesting conditions as
determined by the RemCo and communicated to all relevant employees. Deferred remuneration is awarded in such a
manner so as to align employees’ incentive awards with long-term value creation and the time horizons of risk. The future
performance (both financial and non-financial) of the Group, relevant business units, and individual employees, as well as
the creation of value for our shareholders, are taken into consideration when determining vesting conditions. Vesting and
payment of deferred remuneration will be made gradually over a period of 3 years and no faster than on a pro-rata basis.

In circumstances where it is later established that decisions or actions made by an employee and/or business unit in a
particular year had a severe negative impact on the Bank Group’s overall profitability, any unvested portions (i.e. both
cash bonus and/or share option tranche(s) which have yet to be vested) of deferred variable remuneration (relating to that
particular year) should be forgone, either in part or in whole, as determined by the RemCo.

In circumstances where it is later established that any performance measurement for a particular year was based on data
that is later proven to have been manifestly misstated, or it is later established that the relevant employee has committed
fraud, malfeasance, or a violation of internal control policies, any unvested portions (i.e. both cash bonuses and/or share
option tranches that have yet to be vested) of deferred variable remuneration (relating to that particular year in question)
should be forgone, either in part or in whole, as determined by the RemCo. In certain circumstances, clawback of vested
portion of the deferred variable remuneration of that particular year may apply.

Future Review

As a major financial institution in Hong Kong, the Group not only takes extensive measures to ensure that it complies
with all the relevant guidelines, rules, and regulations, but also adopts positive steps to ensure that ethical, social, and
environmental aspects are taken into account when determining remuneration policies and packages.

The Group will keep abreast of the latest development in the labour market, especially in the financial services sector,
and will review and refine its compensation and remuneration policies whenever necessary to enable the provision of
competitive remuneration packages to ensure the retention of talent.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Bank’s performance,
position and prospects.

Management comprising Co-Chief Executives, Deputy Chief Executives and General Managers shall provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other information presented before the Board for approval. It provides the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Bank’s performance, position and prospects to assist the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.
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The Directors are responsible for ensuring maintenance of proper accounting records and preparing accounts of each
financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for
that period. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Directors have:

< consistently applied appropriate accounting policies;
« made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and
e prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.

The Bank has announced its annual and interim results within 2 months after the end of the relevant periods, which is
earlier than the limit of 3 months (for annual results) and within the limit of 2 months (for interim results) as required by
the Listing Rules.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report from
pages 164 to 178.

The Board will present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment to annual and interim reports, other
price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators
as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Directors acknowledged that they are responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. All employees are responsible for identifying and managing risk within the scope
of their roles as part of the three lines of defence model. The second line of defence sets the policy and guidelines
for managing specific risk areas, provides advice and guidance in relation to the risk, and challenges the first line of
defence, the Risk Owners, on effectiveness of risk management. The third line of defence provides an independent
assurance on effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit Division
and Risk Management Division assume the responsibilities of internal audit and risk management functions of the Bank,
respectively. During the financial year ended 31st December, 2022, the Board reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Bank’s strategic objectives and ensuring that the Bank establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the Senior Management and the
other senior executives in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management (including ESG risk) and
internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Bank are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Such systems comprise comprehensive policies and standards under a well-established organisational
structure. Areas of responsibilities of each business and operational unit are clearly defined to ensure effective checks and
balances. Please refer to the Sections “Principal Risk Management” from pages 281 to 331 and “Capital Adequacy” from
pages 370 to 373 of Annual Report 2022 for further details on the processes that the Group uses to identify, evaluate
and manage principal risks.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective internal controls are as follows:
< A distinct organisation structure exists with defined lines of authority and control responsibilities.

« A comprehensive management accounting system is in place to provide financial and operational performance
indicators to the Senior Management and the relevant financial information for reporting and disclosure purpose.

< Policies and procedures are designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining
proper accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the business or for
publication. The procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.
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An enterprise risk management framework is in place for the Group to identify, evaluate, manage, control and
report principal risks including credit, market, operational, liquidity, interest rate, strategic, legal, reputation,
compliance, technology risks. To identify and manage all potential risks in a more holistic and effective manner,
a “Three Lines of Defence™ risk management model is adopted, with Risk Owners, Risk Controllers and Internal
Audit Division acting as the 1st, 2nd and 3rd lines of defence respectively, along with the overall coordination
of the Group Chief Risk Officer. Oversight of risk management is provided by the RC, which is assisted by the
Management Committees including the Risk Management Committee, Credit Committee, Asset and Liability
Management Committee and Operational Risk Management Committee. Policies and procedures are in place to
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Our comprehensive enterprise risk management framework incorporates ESG and climate-related considerations and
includes mechanisms to classify potential risks as current and emerging, to empower the Board and other responsible
parties to prioritise and allocate resources and better manage these issues. The significant climate risk issues will be
reported and escalated to Management Committees and the Board through the existing enterprise risk management
framework structure.

The ESGC oversees the Bank Group’s ESG performance and management of its material ESG impacts. Among its other
duties, it is responsible for reviewing and approving ESG strategies, goals, and targets, and making recommendations
to the Board.

The AC reviews reports (including management letter) submitted by external auditor in connection with the annual
audit and internal audit reports submitted by the Group Chief Auditor.

A Policy on Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information is in place, setting out the guiding principles, procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner.

Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure is in place to encourage stakeholders and employees to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Bank. The Bank treats all information received
confidentially and protects the identity and the interests of all whistleblowers.

The Group conducted an annual review in 2022 on the control mechanisms over various operations and activities to
assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management (including ESG risk) and internal control systems
which cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls. As a result, the Board
concurred with the Senior Management’s confirmation that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are considered effective and adequate.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The fee paid or payable to KPMG, the Bank’s external auditor, for providing audit and audit-related services to the Group
during 2022 is HK$27 million in total.

During 2022, the fees paid or payable to KPMG and its associates for providing non-audit-related services amounted to
approximately HK$13 million, which included the following items:

Review and consultancy services: HK$11 million; and

Taxation services: HK$2 million.

The AC was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2022 did not affect the independence of KPMG.

E.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for, among other things, the following duties:

keeping abreast of the developments in laws, rules and regulations that may affect the Bank’s business, operations
and governance practices;

taking a proactive role in anticipating issues and providing advice to the Board in accordance with the Bank’s Articles
of Association, relevant laws, rules and regulations;
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< implementing and strengthening corporate governance practices and culture upheld by the Bank;

« ensuring efficient information flow within the Board and Board Committees and between Directors and Senior

Management;

= ensuring Directors and Senior Management have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary in the

decision-making process;

« facilitating induction programme of new Directors and the continuous professional development of existing Directors;

< developing agendas for Board and Board Committee meetings and their respective minutes; and

< assisting the Board to formulate and push forward a robust compliance culture to meet both regulatory and investor
expectations, and ensuring these align with the Bank’s culture.

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Bank and reports directly to the Executive Chairman. During the year, the
Company Secretary undertook over 15 hours of professional training.

F. SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Bank’s approach to shareholders communication and engagement is set out below:

Communication with
Shareholders

The Bank’s Shareholders Communication Policy (available on the website of the Bank) sets out
the practices in relation to communication with shareholders and the investment community.

Through various channels, including its website (www.hkbea.com), shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders are provided with fair, timely and simultaneous access to the Bank’s
information such as the Bank’s announcements, financial results, and press releases. The
Bank also holds press and investor conferences to present half-year and full-year financial
results to the media and analysts.

The Bank welcomes shareholders’ and other stakeholders’ views and concerns relating
to the Group’s management and governance. They may at any time send their opinions
or enquiries to the Board by addressing to the Bank’s Company Secretary at the Bank’s
registered address or email at info@hkbea.com.

Investor Relations

The Bank maintains an open and regular dialogue with institutional and individual
shareholders, fund managers, analysts and the media in accordance with its Shareholders
Communication Policy. Apart from AGMs, other communication channels include:

- the Group’s website at www.hkbea.com;

- annual and interim reports, and press releases;

- announcements, notices and circulars;

- press conferences after the announcement of interim and final results for media and
analysts;

- meetings with analysts; and

- roadshows.

The Senior Management conducts briefings with analysts and the press to apprise them of
the Bank’s annual and interim results, business strategies and outlook.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Bank’s
Shareholders Communication Policy, which has been included under the Bank’s Corporate
Governance Framework, and considered that it has remained appropriate and effective.
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General Meetings

The Board uses the AGMs or other general meetings as a useful forum for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman of each of the AC, NC, RemCo, RC and
ESGC, external auditor, Senior Management and legal advisors are also present to answer
shareholders’ questions.

In accordance with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association, any vote of shareholders at a general meeting will be taken by poll. Detailed
procedures for conducting a poll will be explained to the shareholders in the general
meeting so that shareholders are familiar with such voting procedures. A separate resolution
on each substantially separate issue will be proposed by the chairman of a general meeting.
The poll results are available on the websites of HKEX and the Bank on the day of the
general meeting.

The Bank’s 2023 AGM will be held on Thursday, 11th May, 2023 at 10:30 a.m., the notice
of which will be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.
Please refer to the Circular for the details of the 2023 AGM.

Convening of
General Meeting on
Requisition

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, Directors of the Bank shall, on the request of
shareholders of the Bank who represent at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings, convene a general meeting of
the Bank.

Each request must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting,
the name and contact details of the person making the request, must be authenticated by
the person making it and may be sent to the Bank in hard copy form or in electronic form.

Shareholders may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the meeting. The Bank will take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Ordinance
once a valid request is received.

For further details, shareholders may refer to the requirements as set out in the Companies
Ordinance.

Putting Forward
Proposals at General
Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote, or at least 50 shareholders who
have a relevant right to vote, may:

- put forward proposal at general meeting; and
- circulate to other shareholders written statement with respect to matter or other business
to be dealt with at general meeting.

For further details on the shareholder qualifications, procedures and timeline on the
above-mentioned, shareholders are kindly requested to refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the
Companies Ordinance, as amended from time to time, or any section(s) in the Ordinance
substituted thereof.

Proposed
Amendments to
the Articles of
Association

During the year 2022, no amendments were made to the Articles of Association.

The Bank proposes certain amendments to the Articles of Association for consistency
with the Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The proposal also contains some
housekeeping amendments. A special resolution for this purpose will be proposed at the
2023 AGM.

The proposed amendments are set out in full in the Circular.
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Dividend Policy

The Dividend Policy is to formulate the dividend payments of the Bank in a complete and comprehensive manner and to
fulfil the corporate governance requirement. It forms part of the Bank’s Corporate Governance Framework and will be
reviewed annually.

General guidelines

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time pay to shareholders interim dividends, subject to
its discretion. The Board shall take into account prevailing legal and regulatory requirements and the best market practices
when considering the payment of dividends.

The following factors will be considered for determining the payment of dividends:
- Statutory and regulatory restrictions;

e The Group’s financial results;

< Shareholders’ expectation and interests;

« Market conditions and long-term business growth and strategies;

e The capital adequacy ratios, leverage ratios, liquidity coverage ratios and net stable funding ratios after distribution;
and

e Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Dividend pay-out ratio

To strike a balance between the long-term growth of the Bank Group and the interests of shareholders, the total
dividends (other than special dividend, if any) to be distributed yearly to shareholders are to be within the range of 30%
to 70% of the net attributable profits for the year, after deduction of any distribution to holders of Additional Tier 1
capital instruments.

Frequency and form of dividend
Interim dividend may be declared half-yearly for the half-year period ending 30th June and the half-year period ending
31st December.

Scrip in lieu of cash dividend may be offered to shareholders, subject to the approval of the Board.

Special dividend may be considered by the Board.

G. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions are provided under Note 50 to the financial statements. These
transactions were entered into by the Bank in the ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms
and, if constituted connected transaction or continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, they are exempt
from the relevant disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

H. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Bank acknowledged that they are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Bank. During the year, in strict compliance with relevant regulatory requirements, the Bank published
the Annual Report 2021 and the Interim Report 2022 as scheduled.
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SUSTAINABILITY

The BEA Group is committed to making a positive
contribution to the markets we serve by integrating
sustainability principles into our business and operations
and by managing our social and environmental
impacts. Our efforts are guided by our vision to be the
sustainability leader among financial institutions in Greater
China and beyond as well as our ESG strategy framework
which informs our ESG policy and goal formulation.

The following section highlights BEA’s major achievements
in sustainability during the year under review, and
how ESG considerations guide our approach to major
stakeholder relationships. A more comprehensive review
of the Bank Group’s performance is provided in BEA’s
2022 ESG Report. All ESG Reports are available via BEA’s
website at www.hkbea.com (About BEA / Sustainability /
ESG Reports).

To ensure effective implementation and accountability of
ESG policies across the Group, BEA relies on its established
ESG governance regime, comprising a department-level
ESG Work Group, division-level ESG Steering Committee,
and Board-level ESG Committee, which meet throughout
the year to review BEA’s performance against goals. As
a further reflection of its commitment to sustainability,
in 2022, BEA upgraded its sustainability function from
a section to a department, and renamed its Human
Resources & Corporate Communications Division to
People & Sustainability Division. On the Mainland, BEA’s
subsidiary, BEA China established its own 3-tiered ESG
governance structure and Sustainability Section, which
drive BEA China’s sustainability efforts and ensure
alignment with other members of the Group.

Reducing carbon emissions is the pre-eminent climate
challenge facing our world today. This is a shared
responsibility that requires cooperation and accountability
from all sectors. BEA recognises the important role it plays
as a provider of capital in helping businesses transition to
a low carbon economy. In 2022, BEA achieved its Bank-
wide scorecard goal to develop roadmaps for net zero
financed and operational emissions. The operational
emissions roadmap is described in more detail under
“Operating Our Business Responsibly”.

In the year under review, BEA identified financed
emissions as a significant component of BEA’s Scope
3 emissions, which arise indirectly through the Bank’s
value chain. Following an initial screening and subsequent
measurement exercise, we determined that the Group’s
corporate loan and bond investment portfolios account
for over 90% of BEA’s financed emissions. Analysis of
the Group’s measured financed emissions was then used
to inform the development of our net zero roadmap for
financed emissions, which was approved by the ESG

Committee and presented to the Board in November. This
roadmap will serve as the basis of related goal setting for
2023 onwards. BEA is committed to achieving net zero
financed emissions by 2050. As an interim goal, we aim
to complete target setting for all high carbon-emitting
sectors by 2025.

GROWING OUR BUSINESS
RESPONSIBLY

Central to achieving net zero financed emissions is the
establishment of a green and sustainable finance (“GSF”)
framework. In 2022, BEA introduced its GSF framework
to better enable its business and treasury units to identify
opportunities for green lending and ESG bond investment
to support the transition to a low carbon economy. In
February, the Bank strengthened its list of prohibited
lending, enhanced its ESG checklists for credit approval,
and began developing sector policies for high carbon-
emitting sectors. To ensure related units across the Group
worked towards the same sustainability objective, the
Bank set and achieved its goal for total GSF loans and
ESG bonds as a percentage of total corporate loan and
investment assets.

As a first step in the eventual climate-alignment of its
business, BEA prioritised measurement of financed
emissions in the Group’s high carbon-emitting sectors.
In 2022, BEA completed its first round of measurement
of the emissions in its energy and utility sector portfolios.
Going forward, the Bank will measure the financed
emissions in the remaining sectors and complete sector-
specific baselining and target-setting by 2025. The GSF
framework will crystalise the Group’s progress in meeting
its net zero targets, for instance by extending financing
to enable the development of new green technologies in
high carbon-emitting sectors that can reduce or remove
emissions that contribute to global warming.

To support the development of its GSF business, the Bank
focused on building internal capability during the year
under review. Extensive training was provided to more
than 600 relationship managers and other related staff
in Hong Kong and across the Group on sustainability
concepts, green customer identification, and ESG risk
assessment and checklist completion.

In May, BEA was the first bank headquartered in Hong
Kong to become a signatory to the Partnership for Carbon
Accounting Financials (“PCAF”"). PCAF is a collaboration
of global financial institutions working to develop
standardised measurement and disclosure guidelines for
financed emissions. As a PCAF signatory, the Bank joins
like-minded leaders of the financial industry in promoting
effective communication and cooperation regarding
climate action.
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In June, BEA China enhanced its wholesale banking
product offering by launching a Green Deposit programme.
The programme utilises low-cost deposits to fund GSF
commitments and is forecasted to grow by CNY 1 billion
in 2023. In December, BEA launched a Green Deposit
programme for corporate customers in Hong Kong.

Keeping in line with the rapid developments within the
fintech sector, mobile and digital banking services have
become a crucial pillar of the Bank’s retail customer
experience. While the Bank grows its business using the
latest technologies in line with the needs of the planet,
it also has the responsibility to ensure that the needs of
the entire community are met, including those sectors
that may be less adapted to fast-paced technological
change. To promote digital banking services among the
Bank’s retail customers aged 60 or above, BEA launched
a Peer Buddy Programme at selected branches across
Hong Kong. This programme is aimed at empowering
the community’s senior citizens with the knowledge
necessary to take advantage of digital banking services.
By arranging peer customer experience managers to act
as a Peer Buddy, BEA reduces technological challenges
and encourages the use of the Bank’s digital banking
services. As a result, the digital adoption rate among
senior retail customers of participating branches increased
by 3 percentage points in 2022.

The Bank is passionate about supporting innovation and
collaboration within the fintech ecosystem. In 2022, BEA
introduced BEAST (“BEA + Startups”™) to foster closer
cooperation between the Bank and local fintech startups.
BEAST is a co-working space located at BEA Tower in
Kwun Tong and serves as a platform for entrepreneurship
in the vibrant fintech industry. Through this initiative,
to date, the Bank has supported more than 80 ongoing
projects co-developed with local startups, industry players,
and fintech community partners across Hong Kong.
BEAST is mutually beneficial for all stakeholders involved
as the programme provides the Bank with opportunities to
collaborate with industry players to address longstanding
pain points through cutting-edge technologies. In so
doing, BEA enhances the customer banking experience.
For the startups, BEAST serves as an access point into
the established finance industry and enables industry
players to further develop their innovative products and
services. Moreover, BEA waives rental costs and offers up
to HK$300,000 in funding for BEAST partners who are
conducting their proofs-of-concept with BEA, with the
opportunity for project deployment by the Bank.

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS
RESPONSIBLY

Businesses across all industries are required to reduce
their direct emissions arising from energy consumption
to combat the impacts of climate change. As part of
the net zero goal on the Bank-wide scorecard, BEA has
established a net zero roadmap for the Bank’s operational
emissions, which was approved by the ESG Committee
and presented to the Board in November 2022. The
roadmap lays down BEA’s plans to reduce energy
consumption and emissions through proposed hardware
and facility upgrades across the Group’s operations and
the adoption of renewable energy.

At the end of 2020, BEA announced a target to reduce
operational emissions Group-wide by 32% between the
baseline year of 2019 and the end of 2030. As part of
the net zero goal exercise, in 2022, we revisited our 32%
reduction target for Scope 1 & 2 and set a new target
that is aligned with the goal of the Paris Agreement,
which is to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius
compared to pre-industrial levels. To align with the
pathway and the Science Based Targets Initiative, BEA
aims to reduce Scope 1 & 2 carbon emissions produced
by its operations by at least 46% between 2019 and
2030. Going forward, BEA plans to establish a Sustainable
Building Policy and deployment plan to facilitate
implementation. BEA is committed to achieving net zero
operational emissions by 2030.

BEA sponsored The Community Chest BEA Charity Golf Day 2022
held in September 2022, which raised nearly HK$2.5 million in
support of mental health services provided by member agencies
of The Community Chest of Hong Kong.
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The BEA Foundation donated anti-
epidemic supplies to the needy,
and provided short-term packing
and delivery job opportunities for
community members.
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In December, BEA sponsored the Climate Adaptation
and Resilience Conference 2022 organised by The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology, which
brought together over 1,000 online and in-person
participants who discussed Hong Kong’s adaptation and
resilience planning in the face of climate change.
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Apart from energy use, paper is another major resource
that the Bank Group consumes in the course of its
business and operational activities. BEA has set a target
to substantially reduce paper usage over a 3-year period.
From a 2020 baseline, BEA plans to reduce paper
consumption by 70%.

In continuation of the Bank’s efforts to strengthen its
sustainable supply chain management, in 2022, BEA
implemented a system to monitor supplier understanding
of the Group’s Supplier Code of Conduct as well as
the performance of suppliers that have been identified
as higher risk to the Bank Group. BEA plans to issue a
Sustainable Procurement Policy in the first quarter of
2023. This Policy will guide all relevant departments and
encourage suppliers to adopt best practices and operate
sustainably and responsibly.

To foster a greater understanding of sustainability topics
that are material to the Group, for the second consecutive
year, BEA conducted a sustainability refresher course
for all Group staff members. Staff also received training
on anti-bribery and corruption as part of the annual
staff code of conduct e-learning exercise. In addition,
a number of new training courses were introduced in
2022, including an introduction to GSF as well as climate
change and BEA’s net zero journey.

BEA has made efforts to ensure its employees are both
engaged with the company culture and knowledgeable
about BEA’s financial and non-financial objectives. In
September, 95% of staff members across the Group
responded to the 2022 Employee Survey, which revealed
that 85% of our staff believe that their division or branch
can have a clear impact on the Group’s ESG performance
while 90% believe that BEA is dedicated to improving its
ESG performance.

For information about our staff-related efforts in 2022,
please refer to the “Our People section under “Report
of the Co-Chief Executives” on page 28.

In July, BEA’s management and volunteers celebrated the successful completion of the first BEA Festival, together with artists,
performers, and representatives from the Hong Kong Youth Arts Foundation.
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BEA Festival featured installation
artworks co-created by local
artists, BEA volunteers, and youths
using recyclables.
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SERVING OUR COMMUNITY
RESPONSIBLY

BEA’s community investment programme is built on the
three pillars of education, social welfare, and environmental
protection. Through its charitable arm, The Bank of East
Asia Charitable Foundation (“BEA Foundation’) and the
BEA Volunteer Team, BEA supports the community by
mobilising financial and manpower resources.

In March, the BEA Foundation donated anti-epidemic
supplies worth HK$3 million, which benefited over 43,000
people. The supplies were distributed via The Salvation
Army and St. James’ Settlement to underprivileged
groups as well as frontline staff of non-governmental
organisations. The initiative also created short-term
employment opportunities for the unemployed and
underemployed, who packed and delivered items.

In 2022, BEA launched the “Join Hands, Reach Further!”
volunteer campaign to strengthen BEA’s community
investment efforts and foster collaboration and
interaction among staff outside of working hours. Some
800 volunteers contributed close to 3,700 hours across
65 activities and served more than 8,700 beneficiaries.

BEA Upcycles was launched to raise awareness of green and sustainable living
through upcycling projects. It came to a successful conclusion in August when
around 6,000 members of the public visited the exhibition at Cityplaza.

0000000o0o0ooooooooooo0o0o0o0oooooooooOoOom
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In 2022, the BEA Foundation launched the Beyond
Environmental Arts Festival (““BEA Festival”) in partnership
with the Hong Kong Youth Arts Foundation, which
focuses on providing environmental education to youth in
Hong Kong through a series of interactive events. These
activities included an original theatrical performance
“Time4Change”, creative art workshops, and installation
art exhibitions. The BEA Festival also enlisted the help
of the Bank’s staff and young local artists. In keeping
with this year’s theme “Waste Not, Want Not”, BEA
staff contributed over 2,200 articles of old clothing,
plastic, and other materials, which were repurposed
for various art projects, four of which were selected for
public viewing and photo taking. The performance and
the workshop attracted around 1,000 participants, 80%
of whom agreed that their awareness of environmental
issues had increased after joining the activities.

Continuing with the Bank’s efforts to raise public
awareness of sustainable living and environmental
protection, BEA and St. James’ Settlement joined hands
to organise “BEA Upcycles™, an exhibition to promote
sustainability and social inclusion held at Cityplaza.
Through St. James’ Settlement, persons with disabilities
took part in the exhibition as workshop instructors
for various activities aimed at teaching the public
how environmental awareness can be integrated into
everyone’s daily routine. More than 110 volunteers
participated in BEA Upcycles with all proceeds from the
sale of upcycled products donated to charity.
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Caring for the elderly has long been a focus of BEA’s
social welfare efforts. In September, BEA launched the
“BEA Golden Adventures” campaign. As part of the
campaign, 175 volunteers took part in home and elderly
centre visits across Hong Kong and completed several
home-improvement projects which the elderly residents
would have had difficulty completing on their own. Short
exercise sessions were arranged with the volunteers
to keep the residents active and healthy. In addition, a

On the Mainland, BEA China donated over HK$230,000
(CNY200,000) to the Shanghai Children’s Medical Centre
to establish the Mental Health for Medical Professionals
Project. The programme was designed to help promote
the physical and mental wellbeing of medical workers,
especially those in the paediatric field, who have been
standing on the frontline in the fight against COVID. The
wellbeing of these frontline medical workers is crucial in
protecting communities and society at large.

mural painting activity was arranged together with BEA
volunteers, youths, elderly residents, and people with
disabilities to brighten up the community with messages
about the importance of social inclusion.
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Volunteers helped improve the quality of
life of the elderly in the community through
BEA Golden Adventures, which comprises
home visits, senior fitness training, home
enhancement projects, and more.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual
Report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31st December, 2022 (“Annual Report™).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Bank of East Asia, Limited is a licensed bank
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its
registered office and principal place of business at 10 Des
Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Bank and its subsidiaries are engaged in the provision
of banking and related financial services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis
of the performance for the year ended 31st December,
2022 and an indication of likely future development in
the business of the Group are provided in the Executive
Chairman’s Statement and the Report of the Co-Chief
Executives of the Annual Report. Description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be
found throughout the Annual Report, in particular the
Risk Management section. Particulars of important events
affecting the Bank that have occurred (if any) can be
found in the Annual Report and the Notes to the Financial
Statements. An analysis using financial key performance
indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights and the
Report of the Co-Chief Executives. Compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact
on the Group can be found throughout the Annual Report,
in particular, the Corporate Governance Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental
policies and relationships with the key stakeholders that
have a significant impact on the Group are discussed
in the Sustainability section of the Annual Report as
well as in the Group’s 2022 Environmental, Social, and
Governance Report which is available on the Bank’s
website at www.hkbea.com (About BEA — Sustainability —
ESG Reports).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Directors note that the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for less than 30% of the total of
interest income and other operating income of the Group
for the year.

ACCOUNTS

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Group for
the year ended 31st December, 2022 and the state of the
Bank’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out
in the financial statements from pages 180 to 369.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets are set out in
Note 33 to the financial statements.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Group, before
dividends, of HK$4,359 million (2021: HK$5,270 million)
has been transferred to reserves. Other movements in
reserves are set out in Note 42 to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.16 per Share (2021: an
interim dividend of HK$0.35 per Share) was paid on 30th
September, 2022. A special dividend of HK$0.48 per
Share was paid on 13th October, 2022. In addition, the
Directors have declared the payment of a second interim
dividend of HK$0.17 per Share (2021: a second interim
dividend of HK$0.35 per Share) in respect of the financial
year ended 31st December, 2022.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last 5 years is set out in the Annual Report.

ISSUE OF SHARES

During the year, the Bank issued 12,414,677 Shares
at HK$11.708 each and 6,738,020 Shares at HK$9.71
each to shareholders who had elected to receive new
Shares in lieu of cash dividend in respect of the 2021
second interim dividend and the 2022 interim dividend
respectively.

Details about the issue of Shares are also set out in
Note 40 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
BANK'S LISTED SECURITIES

Off-market Share Buy-back

Following the passing of the special resolution at the
EGM, a buy-back Deed was executed between Elliott
International, L.P., The Liverpool Limited Partnership,
Wakeland Securities L.P., Artan Investments Limited,
Frasco Investments Limited, Milton Investments Limited,
Parlan Investments Limited and Trevet Investments Limited
(together, the “Elliott Parties”) and the Bank immediately
after the conclusion of the EGM on 28th March, 2022 in
relation to an off-market share buy-back by the Bank of
a total of 246,510,173 ordinary shares of the Bank (the
“Buy-back Shares™) held by the Elliott Parties (the *““Share
Buy-back’). The Share Buy-back was completed on 11th
April, 2022 and the Buy-back Shares were cancelled on
20th April, 2022.
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The price paid for each Buy-back Share was HK$11.78. (i) the Share Buy-back resulted in an increase in the
The aggregate consideration (before expenses) for the consolidated net asset value per Share attributable to
Share Buy-back was approximately HK$2,904 million. the Bank’s shareholders of approximately 6% based
Details of the Share Buy-back are set out in the Bank’s on the audited consolidated balance sheet of the
announcements dated 28th January, 2022, 9th February, Group as at 31st December, 2021;

2022, 10th February, 2022, 18th February, 2022, 8th
March, 2022, 9th March, 2022, 11th April, 2022 and the (ii) the Share Buy-back facilitated the exit of the Elliott

Bank’s circular to shareholders dated 9th March, 2022, Parties, a sizeable shareholder of the Bank, in an
respectively. orderly fashion; and
Reasons for the Share Buy-back are set out below: (iv) given the stock price of the Bank at the then
prevailing time, the Bank considered the Share
(i) the Share Buy-back is a good opportunity for the Buy-back an efficient use of capital for the Bank.
Bank to enhance its return on equity and its earnings
per Share;

On-market Share Buy-back

During the year, the Bank bought back a total of 15,744,800 Shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
(excluding expenses) of approximately HK$134.47 million. Details of the Shares bought back are set out below:

Purchase price

per Share Aggreggte

consideration

No. of Shares Highest Lowest (excluding expenses)

Month (2022) bought back (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
October 5,829,200 8.93 7.52 48,286,824
November 6,194,200 9.03 7.42 51,537,088
December 3,721,400 9.58 8.91 34,642,632
Total 15,744,800 134,466,544

Out of the 15,744,800 Shares bought back, a total of 15,058,600 Shares were cancelled prior to the end of the year
2022, and the remaining 686,200 Shares were cancelled on 9th January, 2023. The on-market share buy-backs were
carried out pursuant to the general mandate granted by the shareholders at the 2022 AGM held on 6th May, 2022
and were conducted in the interest of the Bank and the shareholders as a whole. The share buy-backs may lead to an
enhancement of the Bank’s return on equity and book value per Share.

Redemption of Capital Securities

On 18th May, 2022, the Bank completed the redemption of a face value of US$500 million of 5.625% Undated
Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities (the “Capital Securities”) on the First Call Date. The
Capital Securities were issued in 2017 under the Bank’s Medium Term Note Programme and listed on the Stock Exchange.

Save for the off-market and on-market share buy-backs and the redemption of the Capital Securities as disclosed herein,
there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Bank or any of its subsidiaries, of the listed securities of the Bank during
the year ended 31st December, 2022.
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ISSUE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the following notes were issued by the Bank under its US$6,000,000,000
Medium Term Note Programme to raise funds for general corporate purposes:

Amount issued Consideration received

Class (HK$ equivalent) (HK$ equivalent)
Subordinated Notes* US$500,000,000 US$498,480,000

(HK$3,919,795,000) (HK$3,910,542,388.50)
Non-Preferred Loss Absorbing Notes™ US$250,000,000 US$249,037,500

(HK$1,961,337,500)

(HK$1,954,807,404.38)

Senior Notes

US$50,000,000
(HK$390,057,500)

US$49,976,600
(HK$390,138,933.53)

Total (HK$ equivalent)

HK$6,271,190,000 HK$6,255,488,726.41

* Listed on the Stock Exchange

DIRECTORS

The present Directors of the Bank are shown on page 66.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the terms
of office of Professor Arthur LI Kwok-cheung, Mr. Meocre
LI Kwok-wing, Dr. the Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen,
Dr. Delman LEE and Mr. William Junior Guilherme DOO
will expire at the 2023 AGM. They, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the 2023 AGM
are set out in the Circular sent to the shareholders.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023
AGM has a service contract that is not determinable
by the Bank or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

The Bank has received an annual confirmation of
independence for the year ended 31st December, 2022
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs from each of the
INEDs, namely: Dr. Allan WONG Chi-yun, Dr. the Hon.
Rita FAN HSU Lai-tai, Mr. Meocre LI Kwok-wing, Dr. the
Hon. Henry TANG Ying-yen, Dr. Delman LEE, Mr. William
Junior Guilherme DOO and Dr. David MONG Tak-yeung,
and considers them to be independent throughout the
applicable period.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the
boards of the subsidiaries of the Bank (included in the
annual consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2022) during the year up to 16th
February, 2023 (being the date of approval of the Bank’s
2022 Annual Report) are available on the Bank’s website
at www.hkbea.com under “About BEA — Corporate
Governance” section on the home page.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of the Directors of the Bank on a named
basis are disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2022.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Bank or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Bank and/or any of his/her
connected entities (as defined under section 486 of
the Companies Ordinance) had, directly or indirectly, a
material interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Bank is interested in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Bank’s business.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts
relating to the management and/or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Bank
were entered into or subsisted during the year.

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po is employed as the
Executive Chairman of the Bank. His existing three-year
term service contract commenced on 1st July, 2022 and
will expire on 30th June, 2025.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director,
Secretary and officer of the Bank shall be indemnified
out of the funds of the Bank against all liabilities (to the
extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance) incurred
by such Director, Secretary or officer in the execution of
his/her duties or otherwise in relation thereto. Directors &
Officers Liability and Company Reimbursement Insurance
has been arranged to indemnify the Directors and officers
of the Group.

I. Long positions in ordinary shares of the Bank:

DIRECTORS' AND CO-CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS

As at 31st December, 2022, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and Co-Chief Executives of the
Bank in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Bank and its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO (the “Register”) were as follows:

% of issued

Name Capacity and nature No. of Shares Total voting Shares®
David LI Kwok-po Beneficial owner 92,558,139

Interest of spouse 2,281,992

Interest of corporation 480,085

Executor of estate 9,585,507 104,905,723* 3.91
Arthur LI Kwok-cheung Beneficial owner 13,347,907

Interest of corporation 17,437,293

Executor of estate 9,585,507 40,370,707? 1.51
Allan WONG Chi-yun Beneficial owner 464,393

Interest of spouse 136

Interest of corporation 7,543,427

Founder and beneficiary of

discretionary trust 17,415,234 25,423,190° 0.95

Aubrey LI Kwok-sing Beneficial owner 908,852

Interest of spouse 27,428

Founder/Settlor of trust 18,196,213 19,132,493* 0.71
Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze Beneficial owner 12,303,359

Administrator of estates 1,844,955 14,148,314° 0.53
Adrian David LI Man-kiu Beneficial owner 1,114,017

Settlor/Founder of

discretionary trust 2,190,347 3,304,364° 0.12

Brian David LI Man-bun Beneficial owner 2,724,060

Interest of corporation 833,798 3,557,8587 0.13
David MONG Tak-yeung Interest of corporations 6,041,926 6,041,9268 0.23

Notes:

1 David LI Kwok-po was the beneficial owner of 92,558,139 Shares and he was deemed to be interested in 2,281,992 Shares through
the interests of his spouse, Penny POON Kam-chui. He was also deemed to be interested in 480,085 Shares held by David Li Kwok-po
Charitable Foundation Limited, a charitable institution of which David LI Kwok-po is a director and the sole member. He was also deemed
to be interested in 9,585,507 Shares held by an estate of which he is one of the executors. Arthur LI Kwok-cheung was also deemed to
be interested in the same block of 9,585,507 Shares as one of the executors of the estate (please refer to Note 2 below).

2 Arthur LI Kwok-cheung was the beneficial owner of 13,347,907 Shares and he was deemed to be interested in 17,437,293 Shares held
by Dapa Company Limited, which is wholly-owned by him. He was also deemed to be interested in 9,585,507 Shares held by an estate of
which he is one of the executors. David LI Kwok-po was also deemed to be interested in the same block of 9,585,507 Shares as one of

the executors of the estate (please refer to Note 1 above).

3 Allan WONG Chi-yun was the beneficial owner of 464,393 Shares and he was deemed to be interested in 136 Shares through the
interests of his spouse, Margaret KWOK Chi-wai (deceased). He was also deemed to be interested in 7,543,427 Shares held by Wong
Chung Man Limited, which is wholly-owned by him. He was also deemed to be interested in 17,415,234 Shares held by a discretionary
trust, The Allan Wong 2011 Trust, of which Allan WONG Chi-yun is a founder and an eligible beneficiary.
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4 Aubrey LI Kwok-sing was the beneficial owner of 908,852 Shares and he was deemed to be interested in 27,428 Shares through the
interests of his spouse, Elizabeth WOO. He was also deemed to be interested in 18,196,213 Shares held by LEVA Trust of which he is the
founder/settlor.

5 Stephen Charles LI Kwok-sze was the beneficial owner of 12,303,359 Shares. He was also deemed to be interested in 1,844,955 Shares
held by two estates of which he is one of the administrators.

6 Adrian David LI Man-kiu was the beneficial owner of 1,114,017 Shares. He has made a voluntary disclosure of 2,190,347 Shares indirectly
held by a discretionary trust of which he was the settlor/founder but has no influence on how the trustee exercises its discretion.

7 Brian David LI Man-bun was the beneficial owner of 2,724,060 Shares. He was also deemed to be interested in 833,798 Shares held by
Triple Kingdom Limited, which is wholly-owned by him.

8 David MONG Tak-yeung was deemed to be interested in 6,041,926 Shares held by certain corporations, out of which (i) 5,306,771
Shares were held by Shun Hing Electronic Trading Co., Ltd.; and (i) 735,155 Shares were held by Shun Hing Technology Co. Ltd.. He
directly/indirectly controls one-third or more of the voting power at a general meeting of these corporations.

9 The percentages of shareholding in the table were calculated based on the number of total issued Shares as at 31st December, 2022,
being 2,680,219,456 Shares.

Long positions (in respect of equity derivatives) in underlying shares of the Bank:

Shares options, being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives, to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Bank
were granted to David LI Kwok-po, Adrian David LI Man-kiu and Brian David LI Man-bun pursuant to the approved
Staff Share Option Schemes. Information in relation to these share options during the year ended 31st December,
2022 is shown in the section under “Information on Share Options™ of this Report.

Interests in debt securities of the Bank:

Francisco Javier SERRADO TREPAT was the beneficial owner of the following debt securities issued by the Bank:

Type of Debt Securities Amount of Debentures

Additional Tier 1 Undated Capital Securities°t® US$20,500,000

Note: The 5.875% Addlitional Tier 1 Undated Capital Securities with a face value of US$650 million were issued by the Bank under its
US$6,000 million Medium Term Note Programme in 2019 and are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Each of the other Directors, namely Winston LO Yau-lai, Daryl NG Win-kong, Masayuki OKU, Rita FAN HSU Lai-
tai, Meocre LI Kwok-wing, Henry TANG Ying-yen, Delman LEE and William Junior Guilherme DOO did not have
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Bank or any of its associated
corporations as at 31st December, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Bank
or any of its associated corporations were recorded in the Register as at 31st December, 2022.

At no time during the year was the Bank or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or Co-Chief Executives of the Bank or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Bank or any other body corporate with the exception of the Staff
Share Option Schemes, details of which are set out in the following section under “Information on Share Options”,
and Notes 2(y)(iv) and 39 to the financial statements.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTIONS

Information in relation to share options and their movement during the year ended 31st December, 2022 disclosed in

accordance with the Listing Rules is as follows:

Number of Share Options¢

Name (Position)/ Date of Outstanding Outstanding
Description of Grantees Grant at 01/1/2022 Granted Exercised Lapsed at 31/12/2022
Directors
David LI Kwok-po 02/5/20142 668,000 - - 668,000 0
(Executive Chairman) 04/5/20152 666,000 - - 666,000 0
04/5/20152 668,000 - - - 668,000
08/4/20162 666,000 - - - 666,000
08/4/20162 668,000 - - - 668,000
07/4/20172 666,000™ - - - 666,000
07/4/2017? 666,000™ - - - 666,000
07/4/2017? 501,000 - - - 501,000
10/4/20182 666,000™ - - - 666,000
10/4/20182 499,500™ - - - 499,500
10/4/20182 501,000 - - - 501,000
19/7/2019° 499,500™ - - - 499,500
19/7/2019? 499,500 - - - 499,500
19/7/2019° 501,000 - - - 501,000
07/4/2020* 346,115™ - - - 346,115
07/4/2020* 347,802™ - - - 347,802
07/4/2020* 354,090 - - - 354,090
13/4/20212 123,586™ - - - 123,586
13/4/20212 123,602 - - - 123,602
13/4/20212 123,893™ - - - 123,893
12/4/2022° - 692,152™ - - 692,152
12/4/2022° - 691,261™ - - 691,261
12/4/2022° - 701,082 - - 701,082
Adrian David LI Man-kiu 02/5/20142 218,000™ - - 218,000 0
(Co-Chief Executive) 04/5/2015% 216,000 - - 216,000 0
04/5/2015% 218,000 - - - 218,000
08/4/20162 216,000™ - - 216,000 0
08/4/20162 216,000™ - - - 216,000
08/4/2016* 218,000 - - - 218,000
07/4/2017? 216,000™ - - - 216,000
07/4/2017? 216,000™ - - - 216,000
07/4/20172 163,500 - - - 163,500
10/4/20182 216,000™ - - - 216,000
10/4/20182 162,000™ - - - 162,000
10/4/20182 163,500 - - - 163,500
19/7/20192 162,000™ - - - 162,000
19/7/20192 162,000 - - - 162,000
19/7/20192 163,500 - - - 163,500
07/4/20202 268,360™ - - - 268,360
07/4/20202 271,648 - - - 271,648
07/4/20202 282,769™ - - - 282,769
13/4/20212 240,154™ - - - 240,154
13/4/20212 240,186™ - - - 240,186
13/4/20212 240,759™ - - - 240,759
12/4/2022° - 1,345,001™ - - 1,345,001
12/4/2022° - 1,343,274 - - 1,343,274
12/4/2022° - 1,362,297™ - - 1,362,297
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07/4/2020? 271,648™ - - - 271,648
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Number of Share Options¢

Name (Position)/ Date of Outstanding Outstanding
Description of Grantees Grant at 01/1/2022 Granted Exercised Lapsed at 31/12/2022
Brian David LI Man-bun 02/5/20142 218,000™ - - 218,000 0
(Co-Chief Executive) 04/5/2015% 216,000 - - 216,000 0
04/5/20152 218,000 - - - 218,000
08/4/2016* 216,000™ - - 216,000 0
08/4/20162 216,000™ - - - 216,000
08/4/20162 218,000 - - - 218,000
07/4/2017? 216,000™ - - - 216,000
07/4/2017? 216,000™ - - - 216,000
07/4/20177 109,000 - - - 109,000
10/4/20182 216,000™ - - - 216,000
10/4/20182 108,000 - - - 108,000
10/4/20182 109,000™ - - - 109,000
07/4/20202 286,690™ - - - 286,690
07/4/2020% 288,878™ - - - 288,878
07/4/2020% 297,977 - - - 297,977
13/4/20212 240,154™ - - - 240,154
13/4/20212 240,186™ - - - 240,186
13/4/20212 240,759™ - - - 240,759
12/4/2022° - 1,345,001™ - - 1,345,001
12/4/2022° - 1,343,274 - - 1,343,274
12/4/2022° - 1,362,297 - - 1,362,297
Other Participants/Employees
Other Employee 02/5/20142 586,000™ - - 586,000 0
Participants* 04/5/2015% 582,000 - - 582,000 0
04/5/2015% 586,000™ - - - 586,000
08/4/20162 482,000™ - - 482,000 0
08/4/2016* 598,000 - - - 598,000
08/4/20162 642,500™ - - - 642,500
07/4/20177 682,000™ - - - 682,000
07/4/20172 682,000™ - - - 682,000
07/4/2017? 539,500™ - - - 539,500
10/4/20182 727,000™ - - - 727,000
10/4/20182 581,500 - - - 581,500
10/4/20182 587,000™ - - - 587,000
19/7/20192 586,500™ - - - 586,500
19/7/2019° 586,500 - - - 586,500
19/7/2019? 589,500 - - - 589,500
07/4/2020% 615,000™ - - - 615,000
07/4/20202 615,000 - - - 615,000
07/4/2020* 620,000 - - - 620,000
13/4/20212 639,903™ - - - 639,903
13/4/20212 639,9321 - - - 639,932
13/4/20212 643,439™ - - - 643,439
12/4/2022° - 1,921,666™ - - 1,921,666
12/4/2022° - 1,919,844™ - - 1,919,844
12/4/2022° - 1,941,4417 - - 1,941,441
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Number of Share Options¢

Name (Position)/ Date of Outstanding Outstanding

Description of Grantees Grant at 01/1/2022 Granted Exercised Lapsed at 31/12/2022
Former Employees** 02/5/20142 213,500™ - - 213,500 0
04/5/20152 300,000 - - 300,000 0
04/5/20152 265,746™ - - - 265,746
08/4/20162 150,000™ - - 150,000 0
08/4/20162 250,000 - - - 250,000
08/4/20162 300,000™ - - - 300,000
07/4/20172 300,000™ - - - 300,000
07/4/20172 300,0007 - - - 300,000
07/4/20172 250,000 - - - 250,000
10/4/20182 300,000™ - - - 300,000
10/4/20182 262,500 - - - 262,500
10/4/2018? 312,500™ - - 50,000 262,500
19/7/20192 245,500™ - - - 245,500
19/7/20192 295,500 - - 50,000 245,500
19/7/20192 296,500™ - - - 296,500
07/4/20202 262,000™ - - 50,000 212,000
07/4/20202 262,000 - - - 262,000
07/4/20202 263,500 - - - 263,500
13/4/20212 200,000™ - - - 200,000
13/4/20212 200,000 - - - 200,000
13/4/20212 200,000™ - - - 200,000
12/4/2022° - 50,000™ - - 50,000
12/4/2022° - 50,000™ - - 50,000
12/4/2022° - 50,0007 - - 50,000
Total 36,336,128 16,118,590 - 5,097,500 47,357,218

*  Other Employee Participants are “Eligible Persons” as defined in the rules of the 2021 Scheme and relevant expired share option schemes
(of which the scheme period had expired) of the Bank, which include any full-time or part-time employee, as the Directors of the Bank may
determine, in the service of the Bank Group.

** The share options were offered/granted to those former employees who were Employee Participants prior to their cessation as employees of

the Bank Group.

Notes:

a  Particulars of share options granted in years 2014 to 2021:

Exercise Price Per Share

Date of Grant Tranche Vesting Period Exercise Period HK$
02/5/2014 3 02/5/2014 - 01/5/2017 02/5/2017 - 02/5/2022 32.50
04/5/2015 2 04/5/2015 — 03/5/2017 04/5/2017 — 04/5/2022 34.15
04/5/2015 73 04/5/2015 - 03/5/2018 04/5/2018 — 04/5/2023 34.15
08/4/2016 T1 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2017 08/4/2017 — 08/4/2022 28.45
08/4/2016 2 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2018 08/4/2018 — 08/4/2023 28.45
08/4/2016 73 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2019 08/4/2019 — 08/4/2024 28.45
07/4/2017 T1 07/4/2017 — 06/4/2018 07/4/2018 — 07/4/2023 32.25
07/4/2017 2 07/4/2017 — 06/4/2019 07/4/2019 — 07/4/2024 32.25
07/4/2017 73 07/4/2017 — 06/4/2020 07/4/2020 - 07/4/2025 32.25
10/4/2018 T1 10/4/2018 — 09/4/2019 10/4/2019 — 10/4/2024 32.25
10/4/2018 2 10/4/2018 — 09/4/2020 10/4/2020 - 10/4/2025 32.25
10/4/2018 73 10/4/2018 — 09/4/2021 10/4/2021 — 10/4/2026 32.25
19/7/2019 T1 19/7/12019 - 18/7/2020 19/7/2020 - 19/7/2025 22.45
19/7/2019 2 19/7/2019 - 18/7/2021 19/7/2021 - 19/7/2026 22.45
19/7/12019 73 19/7/12019 — 18/7/12022 191712022 - 19/7/12027 2245
07/4/2020 T1 07/4/2020 — 06/4/2021 07/4/2021 - 07/4/2026 16.58
07/4/2020 2 07/4/2020 — 06/4/2022 07/4/2022 — 07/4/2027 16.58
07/4/2020 73 07/4/2020 - 06/4/2023 07/4/2023 - 07/4/2028 16.58
13/4/2021 T1 13/4/2021 - 12/4/2022 13/4/2022 - 13/4/2027 17.08
13/4/2021 2 13/4/2021 — 12/4/2023 13/4/2023 — 13/4/2028 17.08
13/4/2021 73 13/4/2021 — 12/4/2024 13/4/2024 - 13/4/2029 17.08
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02/5/2014 73 02/5/2014 - 01/5/2017 02/5/2017 - 02/5/2022 32.50
04/5/2015 72 04/5/2015 - 03/5/2017 04/5/2017 - 04/5/2022 34.15
04/5/2015 73 04/5/2015 - 03/5/2018 04/5/2018 — 04/5/2023 34.15
08/4/2016 T1 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2017 08/4/2017 - 08/4/2022 28.45
08/4/2016 72 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2018 08/4/2018 - 08/4/2023 28.45
08/4/2016 73 08/4/2016 — 07/4/2019 08/4/2019 — 08/4/2024 28.45
07/4/12017 T1 07/4/2017 - 06/4/2018 07/4/12018 - 07/4/2023 32.25
071412017 T2 07/4/2017 — 06/4/2019 07/4/2019 - 07/4/2024 32.25
07/4/2017 73 07/4/2017 — 06/4/2020 07/4/2020 - 07/4/2025 32.25
10/4/2018 T1 10/4/2018 - 09/4/2019 10/4/2019 - 10/4/2024 32.25
10/4/2018 72 10/4/2018 — 09/4/2020 10/4/2020 - 10/4/2025 32.25
10/4/2018 73 10/4/2018 — 09/4/2021 10/4/2021 - 10/4/2026 32.25
19/7/2019 T1 19/7/12019 - 18/7/2020 19/7/12020 - 19/7/2025 22.45
19/7/2019 72 19/7/2019 - 18/7/2021 19/7/2021 - 19/7/2026 22.45
19/7/2019 73 19/7/2019 - 18/7/2022 19/7/2022 - 19/7/12027 22.45
07/4/2020 T1 071412020 — 06/4/2021 07/4/12021 - 07/4/2026 16.58
0714/2020 T2 07/4/2020 - 06/4/2022 07/4/2022 - 07/4/2027 16.58
07/4/2020 73 07/4/2020 - 06/4/2023 07/4/2023 - 07/4/2028 16.58
13/4/2021 T1 13/4/2021 - 12/4/2022 13/4/2022 - 13/4/2027 17.08
13/4/2021 T2 13/4/2021 - 12/4/2023 13/4/2023 - 13/4/2028 17.08
13/4/2021 73 13/4/2021 - 12/4/2024 13/4/2024 - 13/4/2029 17.08
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b Share options granted in year 2022:

(i) Particulars:

Exercise Price Per Share

Date of Grant Tranche Vesting Period Exercise Period HK$
12/4/2022 T1 12/4/2022 — 11/4/2023 12/4/2023 — 12/4/2028 12.17
12/4/2022 2 12/4/2022 - 11/4/2024 12/4/2024 - 12/4/2029 12.17
12/4/2022 73 12/4/2022 - 11/4/2025 12/4/2025 - 12/4/2030 12.17

(i) Vesting of the share options of each tranche shall be subject to any one or more of the performance thresholds as adopted by the Bank
for the financial year prior to the commencement of the exercise period of that tranche having been met or exceeded.

(iii) The closing price of the shares of the Bank on 11th April, 2022 (being the business day immediately preceding 12th April, 2022 on which
the options were granted) was HK$12.00.

(iv) Fair value of the share options at the date of grant and the assumptions are set out in Note 39 to the financial statements. The
accounting standard and policy adopted for share options is set out in Note 2(y)(iv) to the financial statements.

(v) The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share options granted during the year under the 2021 Scheme, i.e. 16,118,590
Shares, represents approximately 0.58% of the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the year ended 31st December, 2022.
Please refer to Note 20 to the financial statements for the weighted average number of Shares in issue.

¢ No share options were exercised or cancelled during the year ended 31st December, 2022.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2022, none of the Directors or Co-Chief Executives of the Bank or their

spouses or children under 18 years of age were granted or exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Bank or any of its associated corporations.

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the 2021 Scheme disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules:

1. Purpose of the 2021 Scheme:

(@ The 2021 Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that eligible persons had made or may make to the Group.

(b) The 2021 Scheme will provide the eligible persons with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Bank
with the view to motivating the eligible persons to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group.

2. Participants of the 2021 Scheme:

The Board may at its discretion grant options to any employees of the Group including Executive Directors and
Co-Chief Executives of the Bank.

3. Total number of Shares available for issue:

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the 2021
Scheme and any other schemes of the Bank shall not, in aggregate, exceed 5% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2021 Scheme (i.e. 145,949,434 Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Scheme Mandate Limit
may be refreshed by shareholders of the Bank in general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules provided always
that the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed must not exceed 5% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of
such refreshment by the Bank’s shareholders in general meeting.
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Other than the 2021 Scheme, the Bank had no other share scheme (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules) in force during the year ended 31st December, 2022 and up to the date of this Report. The number of Shares
available for issue in respect of all share options available for grant under the 2021 Scheme and subject to the Scheme
Mandate Limit, at the following respective dates, is set out below:

Number of Shares % of total number
available for issue of issued Shares
At 1st January, 2022 145,949,434 4.99%
At 31st December, 2022 129,830,844 4.84%
At the date of this Report 129,830,844 4.85%

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2021 Scheme:

No options may be granted to any eligible person which, if exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options already granted or to be granted to such eligible person
under the 2021 Scheme or any other schemes (which are subject to regulation under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules)
of the Bank (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued Shares as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further
options above this limit shall be subject to certain requirements as stipulated in the rules of the 2021 Scheme.

The period within which the option may be exercised by the grantee under the 2021 Scheme:

Beginning on the vesting date of such option, the date on which such option is vested and becomes exercisable,
and ending on the fifth anniversary of the vesting date thereof, except as provided otherwise in the rules of the
2021 Scheme.

Vesting of options:

Save as provided otherwise in the rules of the 2021 Scheme and subject to the vesting conditions as determined
by the Board, options granted under the 2021 Scheme shall be vested and become exercisable in three tranches
as follows:

(@) not more than one-third of the options shall be vested and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the
date of grant;

(b)  not more than one-third of the options shall be vested and become exercisable on the second anniversary of the
date of grant; and

(c) the remaining balance of the options shall be vested and become exercisable on the third anniversary of the
date of grant.

The vesting period of options is from the date of grant until commencement of the exercise periods of the
respective tranches.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option and the period within which payments or
calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid:

Not applicable.
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8.

9.

The basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:
The exercise price is determined by the Board and being not less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Bank’s ordinary shares in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the relevant options; and

(b) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of the Bank’s ordinary shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant options.

The remaining life of the 2021 Scheme:

The scheme period will end on 5th May, 2026.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS

As at 31st December, 2022, the interests or short positions of substantial shareholders and other persons in the shares
and underlying shares of the Bank as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the
“Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Bank:

% of issued

Name Capacity and nature No. of Shares voting Shares®
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Beneficial owner 574,516,317 21.44
Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. Interest of corporation 574,516,317 21.44
Criteria Caixa, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal Beneficial owner 508,519,684 18.97
Fundacién Bancaria Caixa d'Estalvis i Pensions de Interest of corporation 508,519,6842 18.97

Barcelona, “la Caixa™

Guoco Management Company Limited Beneficial owner 435,691,13734 16.26°
Guoco Group Limited Interest of corporation 435,691,137° 16.26
Guoline Overseas Limited Interest of corporation 435,691,137° 16.26°
GuolLine Capital Assets Limited Interest of corporation 435,691,137° 16.26
QUEK Leng Chan Interest of corporation 435,691,137° 16.26
Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. Interest of corporation 435,691,1374 16.26
Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited Interest of corporation 435,691,1374 16.26
KWEK Leng Kee Interest of corporation 435,691,1374 16.26

Notes:

1

Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. owned a 100% interest in Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation. Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group,
Inc. was deemed to be interested in the 574,516,317 Shares held by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation.

Fundacion Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa” (“la Caixa”) owned a 100% interest in Criteria Caixa, S.A., Sociedad
Unipersonal (“Criteria Caixa”). “la Caixa” was deemed to be interested in the 508,519,684 Shares held by Criteria Caixa.

The references to 435,691,137 Shares in Notes 3 and 4 relate to the same block of Shares. Guoco Management Company Limited was the
beneficial owner of 435,691,137 Shares. GuolLine Overseas Limited held a 71.88% interest in Guoco Group Limited, which in turn owned
a 100% interest in Guoco Management Company Limited. GuoLine Overseas Limited and Guoco Group Limited were both deemed to be
interested in the 435,691,137 Shares held by Guoco Management Company Limited. GuoLine Capital Assets Limited was deemed to be
interested in the 435,691,137 Shares held by Guoco Management Company Limited by virtue of its 100% interest in GuoLine Overseas Limited.

QUEK Leng Chan was deemed to be interested in the 435,691,137 Shares held by Guoco Management Company Limited by virtue of his
49.11% interest in GuoLine Capital Assets Limited.

The references to 435,691,137 Shares in Notes 3 and 4 relate to the same block of Shares. GuolLine Capital Assets Limited was 34.49% held
by Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd., which was in turn 33.59% held by Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited. Hong Leong
Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. and Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited were deemed to be interested in the 435,691,137 Shares held
by Guoco Management Company Limited by virtue of their interests in GuoLine Capital Assets Limited.

KWEK Leng Kee was deemed to be interested in the 435,691,137 Shares held by Guoco Management Company Limited by virtue of his
41.92% interest in Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited.
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Criteria Caixa, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal goooag 508,519,6842 18.97

Fundacion Bancaria Caixa d'Estalvis i Pensions de ooooo 508,519,6842 18.97

Barcelona, “la Caixa”

oooooooo gooog 435,691,1373%* 16.26°
oooooooo ooooo 435,691,137° 16.26

Guoline Overseas Limited ooooo 435,691,137° 16.26°
GuolLine Capital Assets Limited goood 435,691,137° 16.26

ooo goooo 435,691,137° 16.26

Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. ooooo 435,691,1374 16.26

Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited oooono 435,691,1374 16.26

KWEK Leng Kee goooo 435,691,1374 16.26
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000000 Guoline Capital Assets Limited 0 49.11% 000 0000000000000 000 435,691,1370 0000

00304000 435691,1370 0 0 0O O 0 00 Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited [J [J Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte.
Ltd. [0 33.59% [0 [0 0 [0 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. [0 [0 [J Guoline Capital Assets Limited [] 34.49% [] [J [0 Hong Leong
Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. [] Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited [] [] [1 GuoLine Capital Assets Limited ] 0 0000000000
oooooooon435691,1370 0000

KWEK Leng Kee [ [J [J Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited 0 41.92% 00 0000000000000 000010 435,691,1370 00
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5 GuolLine Overseas Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GuoLine Capital Assets Limited and Guoco Management Company Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Guoco Group Limited. With the filing of the substantial shareholder notices by GuoLine Capital Assets Limited and
Guoco Group Limited, GuolLine Overseas Limited and Guoco Management Company Limited do not need to file their respective substantial
shareholder notices under the “wholly-owned group exemption” as provided in the SFO.

6  The percentages of shareholding in the table were calculated based on the number of total issued Shares as at 31st December, 2022, being
2,680,219,456 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank were recorded
in the Register as at 31st December, 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year, other than the Staff Share Option Schemes as set out in the above section under “Information
on Share Options” and Notes 2(y)(iv) and 39 to the financial statements, the Bank has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this Report, the Bank has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Bank and within the knowledge of the Directors.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year for charitable and community purposes amounted to approximately
HK$12 million (2021: HK$12 million).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Bank is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Bank is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANKING (DISCLOSURE) RULES AND THE DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS IN PART 6 OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (RESOLUTION) (LOSS-ABSORBING
CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS — BANKING SECTOR) RULES

The Annual Report for the financial year ended 31st December, 2022 complies with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules and the disclosure requirements in Part 6 of Financial Institutions (Resolution)
(Loss-absorbing Capacity Requirements — Banking Sector) Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Bank is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
David LI Kwok-po

Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th February, 2023
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GLOSSARY

0 O

2021 Scheme

02021000

2022 AGM

020220000000

2023 AGM

020230000000

AC
ooooooo

ACM
ooooooooo

AGM
oooooooo

Article of Association

oooooooo

AUM
oooooo

Bank or BEA
o0ooooopooooo

Bank Culture Reform
goooooooono

Bank Group or BEA Group or Group

o0o0oooooooo

Banking Ordinance
Mmooooom

BEA China
oooooo

BM
ooooooo

Board
goooo

BVI
oooooooo

Capital Rules
moooom

CAR
ooooooo

CG Code
Mmoo0oooom

CG-1
0cG-10

CG-5
0 CG-50

CHF
000000

Staff Share Option Scheme approved by the shareholders of the Bank on 6th May, 2021 and adopted
on 6th May, 2021

020210506000000002021050600000000000

An AGM of the Bank held in the Grand Ballroom, Four Seasons Hotel, 8 Finance Street, Central,
Hong Kong on Friday, 6th May, 2022 at 11:30 a.m.

00020220 50600000000 110300000000008000000000000O0
oooo

An AGM of the Bank to be held in the Grand Ballroom, Four Seasons Hotel, 8 Finance Street, Central,
Hong Kong on Thursday, 11th May, 2023 at 10:30 a.m. or any adjournment thereof

00002023050 110000000010030000000000800000000000
goooooOoOoooOooo

The Audit Committee of the Bank
gooooooo

Audit Committee Meeting
ooooooo

An Annual General Meeting of the Bank
oooOooOoooo

The articles of association of the Bank (as amended, modified or otherwise supplemented from time
to time)

00000000000 00000O000C0O0O00O000

Assets under management
good

The Bank of East Asia, Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
D0o0oO00o0Oo0Oo0oOoOoOooOooOooOooO

The circular in respect of Bank Culture Reform, issued by the HKMA on 2nd March, 2017
00002017030 20000000000000O

The Bank and its subsidiaries
gooooooooo

The Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Oo0000mOO0OOooO0i1ss00

The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank
00000000000 0O0o0oOooOooooo

Board Meeting
ooooo

Board of Directors of the Bank
oooooo

British Virgin Islands
oooooo

Banking (Capital) Rules issued by the HKMA
DO00DO00o0OooOoooooOoooa

Capital Adequacy Ratio
ooooo

Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

000000001400 0000000000

Supervisory Policy Manual CG-1 on Corporate Governance of Locally Incorporated Authorized
Institutions, issued by the HKMA
go0o0000O000O0o0oDoce100000000DOOo0oooOoOoooDooOg

Supervisory Policy Manual CG-5 on Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System, issued by the HKMA
000D0000O0OO0O0OOoOcG-500000000O0O0O0OOO

Swiss franc, the lawful currency of Switzerland
gooooo



China, Mainland, Mainland China or PRC
ooooooooo

Circular
oooo

CNY or RMB
ooooo

Companies Ordinance
ooooom

Director(s)

oooo

ECL
goooooooo

ED
oooooao

EGM

goooooooo

ESG
oooooooooo

ESGC
ooooooooooooo

ESGCM
goooobOoOoooooooo

EUR
oooo

FVOCI
oo0oooO0o0o000o000oo0

FVTPL
ooooooooooooo

GBA
goooo

GBP
oooo

General Managers
ooooog

Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs

O000o00000000000000

HK$ or HKD
oooag

HK$ Mn
ooooooo

HKEX
goooooo

HKFRS
oooooooooo

HKICPA
ooooooooo

People’s Republic of China
ooooooo
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ooooad

The circular to the shareholders dated 29th March, 2023

00020230 30290000000

Chinese yuan or Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

oooooo

The Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

00000 moOoO00o0e2200

Includes any person who occupies the position of a director, by whatever name called, of the Bank or

otherwise as the context may require

goooooooooooooooooooooomooooooooon

Expected credit loss
gooooo

Executive Director of the Bank
goooooo

The Extraordinary General Meeting of the Bank held at 2/F, The Bank of East Asia Building, 10 Des
Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong on Monday, 28th March, 2022 at 11:30 a.m.

0002022030 28000000001103000000000010000000020000

oooooo

Environmental, social, and governance
gooooooo

The Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee of the Bank

goooooooboooooo

ESG Committee Meeting
pgoooooOOoboOoobooo

Euro, the lawful currency of 20 of the 27 member states of the European Union
O000027000000002000000000000

Fair value through other comprehensive income

ooo0oOO0O0CcoOOoOOoooOn

Fair value through profit or loss
ooDooOooOoooo

Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area

gooooo

Pound sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom

oooooo

All Division Heads of the Bank and Executive Director & Chief Executive of BEA China

go00oO0OO00CcO0O0O0OO0O00OO000cO

The guidance on Empowerment of Independent Non-Executive Directors (INEDs) in the Banking

Industry in Hong Kong, issued by the HKMA

00000000 CO0O0O0O0O0O0OO00COO0OO0O0O000O

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

oooooo

HK$ Million
opooood

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
gooDoOooOobooooo

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
oooooooo

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

ooooooo
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O oo oo

HKMA Hong Kong Monetary Authority
ooooo ooooooo

Hong Kong or HK or HKSAR Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
oooo 00o0oO0ooooooooo

IBCM Independent Board Committee Meeting
ooooooooooo oooOooOoooo

IBOR Interbank Offered Rate
gooobooooo gopoooooo

INED Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank
0oooooooo oooooooooo

JPY Japanese yen, the lawful currency of Japan
oooo oooooo

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate
ooooooOoooooo oooooooooo

Listing Rules The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended, modified or

otherwise supplemented from time to time)

moooom 0000000000 mMOoo0O0oO0ooOooOOooooO
MPF Mandatory Provident Fund
ooooo oooooo

NC The Nomination Committee of the Bank
gooooono gooooooo

NCM Nomination Committee Meeting
0oooooooo ooooooo

NED Non-executive Director of the Bank
ooooooo 0ooooooo

NIM Net interest margin
ooooo ooo

RC The Risk Committee of the Bank
gooooono gooooooo

RCM Risk Committee Meeting
00oooooooo ooooooo

RemCo The Remuneration Committee of the Bank
ooooooo oooooooo

RemCoM Remuneration Committee Meeting
ooooooooo ooooooo

Senior Management The Co-Chief Executives and Deputy Chief Executives of the Bank
oooooooo 0Oo0o0o0oO0oOooOoooo

SFO The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
ooooooom 00000000 mMDbOOoOooos7i00

Share(s) Ordinary share(s) of the Bank
Oooooooo ooooo

SIBOR Singapore Interbank Offered Rate
ooooooooooooo ooo0ooOoooooo

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ooooao ooo0ooOooOoooo

The Salvation Army The Salvation Army Hong Kong and Macau Territory
goooo goooooo

US$ or USD United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America

oooo oooooao
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goon

2022 full year results announced 16th February, 2023

002022000000 20230 20 160

2022 Second Interim Dividend
declared (with scrip option)

16th February, 2023

0000202200000
oooboooboooooo

20230 20 160

Ex-all date for 2022 Second
Interim Dividend

2nd March, 2023

2022000000000
oooo

20230 30 20

From 6th March, 2023
to 8th March, 2023

Closure of register of members
- 2022 Second Interim Dividend

oooooboooooo
—2022000000000

0 20230 30 60
0 20230 30 80

(Both days inclusive) oooooooa
Record date for 2022 Second Interim 8th March, 2023 2022000000000 20230 30 80
Dividend oooo
Despatch of Scrip Dividend Circular 8th March, 2023 oooooooao 20230 30 80
and Form of Election ooooo
Despatch of dividend warrants and (on or about) 00202200 oooo
share certificates for 2022 Second 29th March, 2023 oooooooo 20230 30 290
Interim Dividend ooo

Closure of register of members From 8th May, 2023

ooooooboooooo 0 20230 50 80

* Subject to change

-2023 AGM to 11th May, 2023 —2023000000 02023050 110
(Both days inclusive) oooooooo

2023 AGM 11th May, 2023 2023000000 20230 50 110

2023 interim results to be announced August, 2023* 002023000000 20230 80 *

*oooo

SHARE LISTING
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Standard Limited
Telephone: (852) 2980 1333
Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185

ADR DEPOSITARY BANK

BNY Mellon

Telephone: 1-888-BNY-ADRS

E-mail: shrrelations@cpushareownerservices.com

REGISTERED OFFICE

10 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 3608 3608

Facsimile: (852) 3608 6000

Website: www.hkbea.com

E-mail: info@hkbea.com

oooo
00000000000

agooono
0ooooO0oo
00 : (852) 2980 1333
00 : (852) 2810 8185

O0oooooonon

BNY Mellon

0O : 1-888-BNY-ADRS

O O : shrrelations@cpushareownerservices.com

oOooo
doooooiioo
00O : (852) 3608 3608
00O : (852) 3608 6000
0 0O : www.hkbea.com
0 0O : info@hkbea.com

This Annual Report (both English and Chinese versions) is now available in printed form and on the website of the Bank at www.hkbea.com and HKEX's

website at www.hkexnews. hk.

Notwithstanding any choice of means for the receipt of Corporate Communications (i.e. either receiving a printed copy or by electronic means through
the Bank's website) previously made by Shareholders and communicated to the Bank, Shareholders may at any time change their choice, free of charge,
by giving reasonable notice in writing to the Bank’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong or by fax to (852) 2810 8185 or by email to BEA0023-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com specifying your request together with your full name and contact

telephone number.

ooooooooooooooooooooonooononnwww.hkbea.comdO 00000000000 www.hkexnews.hkOO 0000000
ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooon

oooooooooooooooooOieooooooni7oooooonnno (852) 2810 818500 [ [0 BEA0023-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.comL [1
ooooooooooooooooooooooooon ooooooooooooooooooon







	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Profile
	Financial Highlights
	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Executive Chairman’s Statement
	Report of the Co-Chief Executives
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Information
	List of Outlets
	Corporate Governance Report
	Sustainability
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Financial Statements
	Consolidated Income Statement
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to The Financial Statements

	Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information
	Glossary
	Financial Calendar
	Back Cover



